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                                     DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE
 

Tuesday, October 27, 2015
 

AGENDA
 

The Monroe County Development Review Committee will conduct a meeting on Tuesday, October 27, 2015, beginning at 1:00 PM at
the Marathon Government Center, Media & Conference Room (1st floor, rear hallway), 2798 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida.
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL
 
DRC MEMBERS:
Mayte Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning and Environmental Resources
Mike Roberts, Sr. Administrator, Environmental Resources
Emily Schemper, Comprehensive Planning Manager
Kevin Bond, Planning & Development Review Manager
DOT Representative
Steve Zavalney, Captain, Fire Prevention
Public Works Department Representative
 
STAFF MEMBERS
Steve Williams, Assistant County Attorney
Rey Ortiz, Planning & Biological Plans Examiner Supervisor
Matt Coyle, Principal Planner
Devin Rains, Sr. Planner
Thomas Broadrick, Sr. Planner
Barbara Bauman, Planner
Mitzi Crystal, Transportation Planner
Gail Creech, Sr. Planning Commission Coordinator
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA
 
MINUTES FOR APPROVAL

 
MEETING
 
New Items:
 
1.  AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY
LAND USE DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP FROM SUBURBAN COMMERCIAL (SC) TO MIXED USE (MU), FOR PROPERTY LOCATED
AT 28500 & 28540 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY, LITTLE TORCH KEY, MILE MARKER 28.5 OCEANSIDE, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AS
PARCELS OF LAND IN A PART OF U.S. GOVERNMENT LOT 6, SECTION 28, TOWNSHIP 66 SOUTH, RANGE 29 EAST, LITTLE
TORCH KEY, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBERS 00113570-000000, 00113570-000100, 00113570-
000200, 00113590-000000 AND 00113620-000000, AS PROPOSED BY PATRICK R AND DIANE COLEE, DOLPHIN MARINA
ASSOCIATES LTD AND TORCH KEY PROPERTIES LTD; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF
CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE
SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENT TO THE LAND USE DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP; PROVIDING FOR AN
EFFECTIVE DATE.
(2015-152)
2015-152 SR DRC 10.27.15-Website.pdf
2015-152 FILE.PDF
2015-152 Recvd 08.05.15 Survey Combined.pdf
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2. AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO ADDRESS HEIGHT EXCEPTIONS FOR NON-HABITABLE
ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN THE OCEAN REEF MASTER PLANNED COMMUNITY; AND CREATING
POLICIES 101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT
PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE
SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR
AN EFFECTIVE DATE.
(File 2015-006)
2015-006 SR DRC 10.27.15-Website.pdf
 
3. AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY LAND
DEVELOPMENT CODE AMENDING SECTION 101-1 TO CREATE DEFINITIONS RELATED TO FLOOD PROTECTION HEIGHT
EXCEPTIONS; AND AMENDING SECTION 130-187 TO PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO
PROTECT PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS AND TO ADDRESS HEIGHT EXCEPTIONS
FOR NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN THE OCEAN REEF MASTER PLANNED
COMMUNITY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING
PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE;
PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY CODE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.
(File # 2015-171)
2015-171 SR DRC 10.27.15.PDF
 
4. AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CREATING A DEFINITION OF OFFSHORE ISLAND; AMENDING POLICIES 101.5.8 AND 101.13.5
WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND POLICY 207.1.2 WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL MANAGEMENT
ELEMENT TO FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFFSHORE ISLANDS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING
FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND
THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.
(File 2015-007)
2015-007 SR DRC 10.27.15-Website.pdf
2015-007 Email from J. Dick to DRC 09.25.15.PDF
 
ADA ASSISTANCE: If you are a person with a disability who needs special accommodations in order to participate in this proceeding,
please contact the County Administrator's Office, by phoning (305) 292-4441, between the hours of 8:30 a.m. - 5:00 p.m., no later than
five (5) calendar days prior to the scheduled meeting; if you are hearing or voice impaired, call “711”.
 
ADJOURNMENT 
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MEMORANDUM 

MONROE COUNTY PLANNING & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
 
To: Monroe County Development Review Committee 
 Mayté Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning & Environmental Resources 
 

From:  Kevin Bond, AICP, Planning and Development Review Manager 
 

Date:  October 20, 2015 
 

Subject: AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY LAND USE 
DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP FROM SUBURBAN COMMERCIAL (SC) TO 
MIXED USE (MU), FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 28500 & 28540 
OVERSEAS HIGHWAY, LITTLE TORCH KEY, MILE MARKER 28.5 
OCEANSIDE, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AS PARCELS OF LAND IN A PART 
OF U.S. GOVERNMENT LOT 6, SECTION 28, TOWNSHIP 66 SOUTH, 
RANGE 29 EAST, LITTLE TORCH KEY, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBERS 00113570-000000, 00113570-000100, 
00113570-000200, 00113590-000000 AND 00113620-000000, AS PROPOSED 
BY PATRICK R AND DIANE COLEE, DOLPHIN MARINA ASSOCIATES 
LTD AND TORCH KEY PROPERTIES LTD; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND 
PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING 
FOR AMENDMENT TO THE LAND USE DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Meeting: October 27, 2015
 1 
I REQUEST: 2 

 3 
On August 5, 2015, the property owner submitted an application requesting an amendment to 4 
the Monroe County Land Use District (Zoning) Map from Suburban Commercial (SC) to 5 
Mixed Use (MU) for the property located at 28500 & 28540 Overseas Highway, Little Torch 6 
Key, having Real Estate Nos. 00113570-000000, 00113570-000100, 00113570-000200, 7 
00113590-000000 and 00113620-000000. 8 
 9 
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 1 
Subject Property with Existing Land Use District Map, 2015 Aerial 2 

 3 
II BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 4 

 5 
Site Information: 6 

Location: Little Torch Key, Mile Marker 28.5 Oceanside 7 
Address: 28500 & 28540 Overseas Highway 8 
Description: Part of U.S. Government Lot 6, Section 28, Township 66 South, Range 29 9 
East, Little Torch Key, Monroe County, Florida 10 
Real Estate Numbers: 00113570-000000, 00113570-000100, 00113570-000200, 11 
00113590-000000, 00113620-000000 12 
Property Owner/Applicant: Patrick R & Diane Colee c/o Noble House Hotel and 13 
Resort, Dolphin Marina Associates Ltd and Torch Key Properties Ltd 14 
Agent: Donna Bosold & James T. Hendrick 15 
Size of Site: 171,936 square feet / 3.95 acres of upland according to property appraiser 16 
Land Use Map (Zoning) District: Suburban Commercial (SC) 17 
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation: Mixed Use/Commercial (MC) 18 
Tier Designation: III – Infill Area 19 
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Flood Zone: AE-8 and AE-9 1 
Existing Uses: Mix of uses, including a commercial marina, transient and permanent 2 
residential uses, known as Dolphin Marina and Cottages. 3 
Existing Vegetation / Habitat: Scarified with fringing mangroves, adjacent to open 4 
water shoreline and manmade canals. 5 
Community Character of Immediate Vicinity: Single-family residential to the south 6 
across a canal; undeveloped mangroves and salt marsh land to the west across Pirates 7 
Road; residential, a church and undeveloped mangroves and salt marsh land to the north 8 
across U.S. 1. 9 
Previous Zoning: Prior to 1986, most of the property was located within BU-2 (Medium 10 
Business District) and the southeast portion of the property was located within BU-2A 11 
(Alcoholic Beverage Business District). 12 

 13 
III RELEVANT PRIOR COUNTY ACTIONS: 14 

 15 
 In December 1987, the County approved a Minor Conditional Use (Project # 87030) for the 16 

Beach Club land base building for Little Palm Island. 17 
 18 

 On December 27, 2007, a Letter of Development Rights Determination (LDRD) (File # 19 
27028) was issued concerning the Dolphin Marina property. The LDRD included a lawful 20 
determination that two (2) permanent residential dwelling units, 10 transient residential units, 21 
and 5,551 square feet of nonresidential floor area were lawfully established on the site. 22 

 23 
 On May 2, 2011, a ROGO exemption letter (File # 2011-R009) was issued again concerning 24 

the Dolphin Marina property. One dwelling unit was recognized as lawfully established, 25 
which was one of the units previously recognized in the prior LDRD. 26 
 27 

 On July 28, 2015, a Letter of Understanding (LOU) (File # 2015-105) was issued following a 28 
pre-application conference regarding the redevelopment of the subject property. As part of 29 
the proposed redevelopment, the owner wishes to amend the Land Use District (Zoning) of 30 
the property from SC to MU primarily due to the restrictions of the SC District on detached 31 
market-rate residential development. The LOU is attached as Exhibit 1 to this report. 32 
 33 

IV ANALYSIS OF PROPOSED AMENDMENT: 34 
 35 
Both the existing SC Land Use District and the proposed MU Land Use District correspond 36 
to the existing Mixed Use/Commercial (MC) Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Category.  37 
 38 
A. Analysis of Potential Changes in Development Potential and Permitted Uses 39 
The table below provides an estimation of the potential change in existing and proposed 40 
development potential for residential, transient and nonresidential development in terms of 41 
allocated density and maximum net density. Monroe County Land Development Code 42 
Section 130-156(b) states, “The density and intensity provisions set out in this section are 43 
intended to be applied cumulatively so that no development shall exceed the total density 44 
limits of this article. For example, if a development includes both residential and commercial 45 
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development, the total gross amount of development shall not exceed the cumulated 1 
permitted intensity of the parcel proposed for development. 2 
 3 
The following table is based on a gross upland area of 171,936 square feet or 3.95 acres, 4 
according to property appraiser records. The exact upland area must still be verified by a 5 
boundary and mean high water line survey. 6 
 7 

Existing LUD Type Adopted Standards Development Potential 

Suburban 
Commercial (SC) 

 
3.95 acres 

(171,936 SF) 

Residential Allocated Density 3 DU/acre 11.85 DU 
Residential Maximum Net 

Density (affordable housing) 15 DU/buildable acre 59.25 DU (affordable) 

Transient Allocated Density 10 rooms or spaces/acre 39.5 rooms/spaces 

Transient Maximum Net Density 20 spaces/acre 79 spaces 
Nonresidential Maximum 

Intensity 0.1 - 0.4 FAR 17,194 - 68,774 SF 

Proposed LUD Type Adopted Standards Development Potential 

Mixed Use (MU) 
 

3.95 acres 
(171,936 SF) 

Residential Allocated Density 1 DU/acre 3.95 DU 
Residential Maximum Net 

Density (affordable housing) 18 DU/buildable acre 71.1 DU (affordable) 

Transient Allocated Density 10 rooms or spaces/acre 39.5 rooms/spaces 

Transient Maximum Net Density 20 rooms/acre 79 rooms 
Nonresidential Maximum 

Intensity 0.1 - 0.4 FAR 17,194 - 68,774 SF 

Net Change in 
Development 

Potential 
Total Site 

Permanent Residential Allocated: -7.9 DU 
Residential Maximum Net (affordable): +11.85 DU 
Transient and Institutional Residential Allocated: 0 rooms/spaces 
Transient and Institutional Residential Maximum Net (TDRs): 0 rooms/spaces 
Nonresidential: 0 square feet 

 8 
In terms of allocated density, the table above shows that the proposed amendment would 9 
result in an overall decrease in potential permanent residential development of seven (7) 10 
units, due to the reduction in density from three (3) to one (1) unit per acre. The proposed 11 
amendment would not result in any substantial change in potential transient or institutional 12 
residential development based on allocated density, even though the permitted uses are 13 
slightly different. 14 
 15 
In terms of maximum net density, which is bonus density when utilizing transferrable 16 
development rights (TDRs) or for affordable or employee housing, the table above shows 17 
that the proposed amendment would result in an overall increase in potential permanent 18 
residential development of 12 units, due to the increase in density for all housing types. The 19 
proposed amendment would not result in any substantial change in potential transient or 20 
institutional residential development based on maximum net density, even though the 21 
permitted uses are slightly different. 22 
 23 
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In terms of nonresidential development, the table above shows that the proposed amendment 1 
would not result in any substantial change in potential nonresidential development based on 2 
maximum floor area ratio. The only change would be the addition of commercial fishing as a 3 
permitted use. 4 
 5 
The table below and continuing to the next page shows the potential changes in permitted 6 
uses that would result from the proposed amendment. Any blank cells mean that the use is 7 
prohibited in that district. Accessory uses and institutional uses are permitted as-of-right in 8 
both districts. 9 
 10 
The proposed amendment would result in the potential continuation of many as-of-right and 11 
conditional uses that are currently allowed within the SC Land Use District. The proposed 12 
amendment would open up the possibility of the following uses that are currently prohibited: 13 
New attached and detached residential dwellings (including vacation rentals if special permit 14 
obtained), boat building or repair (in conjunction with a marina or commercial fishing use), 15 
commercial fishing and related uses, broader commercial recreational uses, light industrial 16 
uses on parcels greater than two acres, and wastewater treatment facilities and systems 17 
serving any use. The proposed amendment would also result in the threshold for Major 18 
Conditional Use review of hotels to increase from 25 to 50 rooms, parks would become an 19 
as-of-right use instead of a Minor Conditional Use, and larger satellite earth stations would 20 
now require a Minor Conditional Use permit. 21 
 22 
PERMITTED USES 23 

Permitted Land Uses Existing SC District Proposed MU District 
Permanent Residential Uses   Attached and unattached employee housing, less than 6 units As-of-right As-of-right 
Attached and unattached employee housing, 6 to 18 units Minor Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Attached and unattached employee housing, more than 18 units Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Attached residential dwellings, up to 4 units  Minor Conditional Use 
Attached residential dwellings, more than 4 units  Major Conditional Use 
Commercial apartments, less than 6 units As-of-right As-of-right 
Commercial apartments, 6 to 18 units Minor Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Detached residential dwellings  As-of-right 
Home occupations  As-of-right 
Vacation rentals, nonconforming units only As-of-right  Vacation rentals, detached units only  As-of-right 
Transient Residential Uses   Campgrounds Minor Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Hotels, less than 25 rooms Minor Conditional Use  Hotels, less than 50 rooms  Minor Conditional Use 
Hotels, 25 or more rooms Major Conditional Use  Hotels, 50 or more rooms  Major Conditional Use 
Institutional residential uses, less than 10 dwelling units/rooms As-of-right As-of-right 
Institutional residential uses, 10 to 20 dwelling units/rooms Minor Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Institutional residential uses, 20 or more dwelling units/rooms Major Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Nonresidential Uses   Boat building or repair (with marina or commercial fishing)  Major Conditional Use 
Commercial fishing  As-of-right 
Commercial recreational uses, limited As-of-right As-of-right 
Commercial recreational uses, parcels up to 5 acres  Minor Conditional Use 
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Permitted Land Uses Existing SC District Proposed MU District 
Commercial retail, low/medium-intensity, office, < 2,500 SF As-of-right As-of-right 
Commercial retail, low/medium-intensity, office, 2,500-10,000 SF Minor Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Commercial retail, low/medium-intensity, office, > 10,000 SF Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Commercial retail, high intensity, less than 2,500 SF Minor Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Commercial retail, high intensity, more than 2,500 SF Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Heliports or seaplane ports Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Land use overlays A, E and PF Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Light industrial uses, parcels up to 2 acres Minor Conditional Use Minor Conditional Use 
Light industrial uses, parcels more than 2 acres  Major Conditional Use 
Manufacture, repair, storage of fishing traps, nets & other equipment  As-of-right 
Mariculture Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Marinas Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Parks and community parks Minor Conditional Use As-of-right 
Public buildings and uses As-of-right As-of-right 
Storage areas As-of-right  Wastewater nutrient reduction cluster systems for < 10 residences As-of-right As-of-right 
Wastewater treatment facilities or systems for any uses  Major Conditional Use 
Wireless Communication Uses   Attached wireless communications facilities As-of-right As-of-right 
Collocations on existing antenna-supporting structures As-of-right As-of-right 
New antenna-supporting structures Major Conditional Use Major Conditional Use 
Replacement of an existing antenna-supporting structure As-of-right As-of-right 
Satellite earth stations, less than 2 meters in diameter As-of-right As-of-right 
Satellite earth stations, 2 meters or more in diameter As-of-right Minor Conditional Use 
Stealth wireless communications facilities As-of-right As-of-right 

 1 
B. Impact on Community Character 2 

Surrounding properties are located within the Suburban Commercial (SC) District to the 3 
north across U.S. 1, the Improved Subdivision (IS) to the south across a canal and the 4 
Native Area (NA) District to the west across Pirates Road as shown on the map on Page 5 
1. Land uses surrounding the subject property include residential uses to the south, 6 
conservation land to the west and northwest, institutional (church) and residential to the 7 
north and open water to the east. 8 
 9 
Surrounding land east of Pirates Road and Barry Avenue, including the subject property, 10 
is designated as Tier III. The majority of the site is scarified with fringing mangroves 11 
along the open water shoreline. The property is bordered by a manmade canal to the 12 
south and west. 13 
 14 
Comparing the purposes of the two Land Use Districts, as shown in the table below, the 15 
SC District is intended for uses that serve the needs of the immediate area. The MU 16 
District is intended to conserve areas of mixed uses including commercial fishing and 17 
resorts. The subject property is an established resort and marina, and the property 18 
primarily serves tourists. 19 
 20 
 21 
 22 
 23 
 24 
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 Existing SC (Sec. 130-43) Existing MU (Sec. 130-38) 
District 
Purposes 

To establish areas for commercial 
uses designed and intended primarily 
to serve the needs of the immediate 
planning area in which they are 
located. This district should be 
established at locations convenient 
and accessible to residential areas 
without use of U.S. 1. 

To establish or conserve areas of 
mixed uses, including commercial 
fishing, resorts, residential, 
institutional and commercial uses, 
and preserve these as areas 
representative of the character, 
economy and cultural history of the 
Florida Keys. 

 1 
The proposed amendment is not anticipated to have an adverse impact on the community 2 
character of the area. 3 
 4 

C. Effects on Public Facilities 5 
Traffic Circulation (Policy 301.1.2) 6 
The subject property has access to U.S. 1 via its own driveway and through Pirates Road. 7 
Pursuant to Comprehensive Plan Policy 301.1.2, the level of service standard for U.S. 1 is 8 
LOS of "C." The property is located within U.S. 1 Segment #9, which runs from the 9 
Torch-Ramrod Bridge to the North Pine Channel Bridge (MM 27.5 - 29.5). According to 10 
the adopted 2013 U.S. 1 Arterial Travel Time and Delay Study, U.S. 1 overall is 11 
operating at a LOS of "C" and Segment #9 is operating at a LOS of "A." The draft 12 
proposed 2015 U.S. 1 Arterial Travel Time and Delay Study continues to find U.S. 1 13 
operating at an overall LOS of “C” and Segment #9 operating at a LOS of “A.” The 14 
proposed amendment is not anticipated to negatively impact the traffic circulation LOS. 15 
 16 
Potable Water (Policy 701.1.1) 17 
Florida Keys Aqueduct Authority's water treatment facility in Florida City has a 18 
maximum water treatment design capacity of 29.8 million gallons per day (MGD) and is 19 
capable of treating up to 23.8 MGD. There are also two saltwater Reserve Osmosis (RO) 20 
plants, located on Stock Island and Marathon, which are able to produce potable water 21 
under emergency conditions. The RO desalination plants have design capacities of 2.0 22 
and 1.0 MGD of water, respectively. The annual average demand in Monroe County in 23 
2013 was 16.73 MGD and projections indicate a slight increase to an annual average 24 
demand of 17.28 MGD for 2015. 25 
 26 
Pursuant to Policy 701.1.1 of the Comprehensive Plan, the Level of Service standard for 27 
nonresidential potable water is 0.35 gallons per square foot per day. The proposed 28 
amendment would not change the site’s nonresidential development potential, which 29 
would have no effect on potable water demand from this site if developed to its 30 
maximum nonresidential potential. 31 
 32 
Pursuant to Policy 701.1.1 of the Comprehensive Plan, the Level of Service standard for 33 
residential potable water is 66.5 gallons per capita per day. The proposed amendment 34 
would increase the potential residential development by 12 units (2.24 residents per 35 
dwelling unit). Therefore, the proposed amendment could result in a net increase in 36 
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demand from this site of up to 1,788 gallons per day if developed to its maximum 1 
residential potential. Currently, there is sufficient capacity for such an increase. 2 
 3 
Solid Waste (Policy 801.1.1) 4 
Monroe County has a contract with Waste Management through September 30, 2024. 5 
The contract authorizes the use of in-state facilities; thereby, providing the County with 6 
approximately 10 years of guaranteed capacity for the haul-out and disposal of 95,000 7 
tons per year of solid waste not including yard waste. Under the proposed amendment, 8 
the net increase in potential residential units on the site would be 12 dwelling units. 9 
Currently, there is sufficient capacity for such an increase. 10 
 11 
Sanitary Sewer (Policy 901.1.1) 12 
The County has adopted water quality treatment standards for wastewater facilities and, 13 
within the Sanitary Wastewater Treatment Master Plan, the LOS standard for residential 14 
and nonresidential flow is 145 gallons per day per equivalent dwelling unit (EDU). Under 15 
the proposed amendment, the net increase in potential residential units on the site is 12 16 
dwelling units, which could result in a net increase in demand from this site of up to 17 
1,740 gallons per day if developed to its maximum residential potential. The subject 18 
property is located within the Cudjoe Regional Sewer District. Any new or existing 19 
development would be required to connect to the sewer system when available. The 20 
Cudjoe Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility is designed and constructed in 21 
accordance with the adopted levels of service treatment standards. 22 
 23 

D. Consistency with the provisions and intent of the Monroe County Year 2010 24 
Comprehensive Plan 25 
The proposed amendment is consistent with the Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 26 
Monroe County Year 2010 Comprehensive Plan. Specifically, the amendment furthers: 27 
 28 
Goal 101: Monroe County shall manage future growth to enhance the quality of life, 29 
ensure the safety of County residents and visitors, and protect valuable natural resources. 30 
 31 
Objective 101.4: Monroe County shall regulate future development and redevelopment to 32 
maintain the character of the community and protect the natural resources by providing 33 
for the compatible distribution of land uses consistent with the designations shown on the 34 
Future Land Use Map. 35 
 36 
Policy 101.4.5: The principal purpose of the Mixed Use/Commercial land use category is 37 
to provide for the establishment of commercial land use (zoning) districts where various 38 
types of commercial retail and office may be permitted at intensities which are consistent 39 
with the community character and the natural environment. Employee housing and 40 
commercial apartments are also permitted. In addition, Mixed Use/Commercial land use 41 
districts are to establish and conserve areas of mixed uses, which may include maritime 42 
industry, light industrial uses, commercial fishing, transient and permanent residential, 43 
institutional, public, and commercial retail uses. 44 
 45 
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This land use category is also intended to allow for the establishment of mixed use 1 
development patterns, where appropriate. Various types of residential and non-residential 2 
uses may be permitted; however, heavy industrial uses and similarly incompatible uses 3 
shall be prohibited. The County shall continue to take a proactive role in encouraging the 4 
maintenance and enhancement of community character and recreational and commercial 5 
working waterfronts. 6 
 7 
Policy 101.4.22: Monroe County hereby adopts the following density and intensity 8 
standards for the future land use categories, which are shown on the Future Land Use 9 
Map and described in Policies 101.4.1 - 101.4.17: 10 
 11 

Future Land Use Densities and Intensities 

Future Land Use Category 
And Corresponding Zoning 

Allocated Density (b) 
(per acre) 

Maximum Net Density 

(b)(i) 
(per buildable acre) 

Maximum Intensity 
(floor area ratio) 

… 

Mixed Use/Commercial (MC)(g) (j) 
(SC, UC, DR, RV, MU and  
MI zoning) 

1-6 du 
5-15 rooms/spaces 
1 du (MI zoning) 

2 -18 du 
10-25 rooms/spaces 

2 du (MI zoning) 

0.10-0.45 
(SC,UC, DR, RV, 
and MU zoning) 
0.30-0.60 (MI 

zoning) 
… 

Notes: 
… 
(b) The allocated densities for submerged lands, salt ponds, freshwater ponds, and mangroves shall be 0 
and the maximum net densities bonuses shall not be available. 
… 
(g) For properties consisting of hammocks, pinelands or disturbed wetlands within the Mixed Use/ 
Commercial and Mixed Use/Commercial Fishing land use categories, the floor area ratio shall be 0.10 and 
the maximum net residential density bonuses not apply. 
… 
(i) The Maximum Net Density is the maximum density allowable with the use of TDRs. 
(j) A mixture of uses shall be maintained for parcels designated as MI zoning district that are within the 
MC future land use category. Working waterfront and water dependent uses, such as marina, fish 
house/market, boat repair, boat building, boat storage, or other similar uses, shall comprise a minimum of 
35% of the upland area of the property, pursuant to Policy 101.4.5. 

 12 
Lower Keys (MM 14.2 – 29.0) Livable CommuniKeys Plan – Goal 1: 13 
Monroe County shall manage future growth to preserve the rural or low density 14 
community character, protect the natural environment of the Lower Keys, and maintain 15 
and encourage commercial revitalization along the U.S. 1 corridor. Community character 16 
includes the cultural/traditional heritage, physical character, and scale of the businesses 17 
that serve the local community in the Lower Keys area. 18 

 19 
 20 
 21 
 22 
 23 



 

File # 2015-152  Page 10 of 11 

E. Consistency with the provisions and intent of the Monroe County Land 1 
Development Code 2 

 3 
In accordance with Monroe County Land Development Code Section 102-158(d)(5), the 4 
Board of County Commissioners (BOCC) may consider the adoption of an ordinance 5 
enacting the proposed change based on one or more of the following factors: 6 
 7 
1. Changed projections (e.g., regarding public service needs) from those on which the text 8 

or boundary was based: 9 
Not applicable. 10 

 11 
2. Changed assumptions (e.g., regarding demographic trends): 12 

The applicant states, “The tourist population in this area is increasingly dominated 13 
by family and affinity groups who demand more commodious lodging (i.e., vacation 14 
rentals) than the motel/hotel rooms allowed in the Suburban Commercial (SC) 15 
district.” 16 
 17 
Staff has not identified any changed assumptions that would necessitate the 18 
proposed amendment. 19 
 20 

3. Data errors, including errors in mapping, vegetative types and natural features described 21 
in Volume 1 of the Year 2010 Comprehensive Plan: 22 
The applicant states, “The permanent residential units that have long existed on the 23 
subject property are inconsistent with the current (SC) zoning.” 24 
 25 
The existing permanent residential units on the property are recognized as lawful 26 
nonconforming uses. However, such lawfully-established dwelling units are not 27 
considered non-conforming to density, pursuant to Comprehensive Plan Policy 28 
101.4.25. Staff does not consider this to be evidence of a data error or an error in 29 
mapping. 30 
 31 

4. New issues: 32 
The applicant states, “Torch Key Subarea Goals, Objectives and Policies as outlined 33 
in the recently-adopted Lower Keys CommuniKeys Plan will be facilitated by the 34 
proposed zoning change from SC to Mixed Use (MU).” 35 
 36 
Staff considered the consistency of the proposed amendment with the Lower Keys 37 
Livable CommuniKeys Plan, adopted in 2012. Staff finds that the proposed 38 
amendment is not inconsistent with the Lower Keys LCP, which is a new issue in 39 
that it was created after the current Comprehensive Plan was adopted in 1993. 40 
 41 

5. Recognition of a need for additional detail or comprehensiveness: 42 
Staff has not identified any recognition of a need for additional detail or 43 
comprehensiveness that would necessitate the proposed amendment. 44 
 45 
 46 
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6. Data updates: 1 
The applicant states, “The Lower Keys CommuniKeys Plan completed in 2012 2 
includes the subarea segment identified as Segment 9, Torch Keys, and quantifies 3 
issues specific to the subarea that were not previously considered when the property 4 
was zoned SC.” 5 
 6 
Staff considered the consistency of the proposed amendment with the Lower Keys 7 
Livable CommuniKeys Plan, adopted in 2012. Staff finds that the proposed 8 
amendment is not inconsistent with the Lower Keys LCP, which provided data 9 
updates in that it was created after the current Comprehensive Plan was adopted in 10 
1993. 11 
 12 

7. For FLUM changes, the principles for guiding development as defined in the Florida 13 
Statutes relating to changes to the comprehensive plan: 14 
Not applicable. 15 

 16 
V RECOMMENDATION: 17 

Staff recommends APPROVAL of the proposed amendment to the Monroe County Land 18 
Use District (Zoning) Map from Suburban Commercial (SC) to Mixed Use (MU) for the 19 
property located at 28500 & 28540 Overseas Highway, Little Torch Key, having Real Estate 20 
Nos. 00113570-000000, 00113570-000100, 00113570-000200, 00113590-000000 and 21 
00113620-000000. 22 
 23 
Staff has found that the proposed map amendment would be consistent with the provisions of 24 
§102-158(d)(5)(b): Specifically, staff has found that the proposed map amendment is 25 
consistent with factors:  4. New issues; and 6. Data updates. 26 
 27 

VI  EXHIBITS: 28 
 29 

1. Letter of Understanding, July 28, 2015 30 
2. Existing Land Use District Map (Craig Map) 31 
3. Proposed Land Use Amendment Maps 32 



creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 1









































creech-gail
Typewritten Text

creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 2



NA

SC

ISISIS

UR

OVERSEAS  HWY

PIR
AT

ES
  R

D
BA

RR
Y  

AV
E

LA FITTE  RD

DIRK  RD

Mo
nro

e C
ou

nty
 La

nd
 U

se
 Am

en
dm

en
t

NA
MU

ISIS

SC

IS

UR

OVERSEAS  HWY

PIR
AT

ES
  R

D
BA

RR
Y  

AV
E

LA FITTE  RD

DIRK  RD

RC
MC

RM

RH

MC

I

I

III

III

IIIIII

III
Scrub Mangrove

Developed Land

Salt Marsh

Mangrove

Buttonwood

Impervious Surface
Undeveloped Land

Water

0 Species

6 Species

3 Species

5 Species

1 Species

4 Species

2 Species

Growth Management Division
We strive to be caring, professional, and fair.

Existing Conditions Proposed Conditions

Future Land Use Tier Designation Number of Protected SpeciesHabitat Type

The Monroe County Land Use District is proposed to 
be amended as indicated above and briefly described as:

This map is for use by the Monroe County Growth Management Division only.  The data contained herein is not a legal representation of
boundaries, parcels, roads right of ways or other geographical data.

Land Use Designations: AD = Airport District; CD = Conservation District; CFA = Commercial Fishing Area; CFSD = Commercial Fishing Special District; DR = Destination Resort; I = Industrial; IS = Improved Subdivision; MF = Military Facilities; MI = Maritime Industries; MN = Mainland Native Area; MU = Mixed Use; NA = Native Area; 
OS = Offshore Island; PR = Park and Refuge; RV = Recreational Vehicle; SC = Suburban Commercial; SR = Suburban Residential; SS = Sparsely Settled; UC = Urban Commercial; UR = Urban Residential; URM = Urban Residential Mobile Home

Key: Mile Marker: Map Amendment #:
Land Use District Map #:

Proposal:

Little Torch Key 28 _______

Land Use change of five parcels from Suburban Commercial (SC) to
Mixed Use (MU).

372

Property Description:
RE Numbers:  00113570-000000,
                       00113570-000100,
                       00113570-000200,
                       00113590-000000 and
                       00113620-000000

Ordinance No.:
Date of Adoption:

_________
__________

Acreage: 6.04

Monroe County LUD
Zone

Resol utoi n 21 7-1 984

ACCC

AD - A irport District

C1 - Comm ercial 1

C2 - Comm ercial 2

CD - C onse rvat ion Distri ct

Comm ercial Fishin g Dist rict

DR - D est inat ion Resort

I - Industrial

INC - Inco rpo ra ted

IS  - Im proved Subdi vi si on

MF  - M il itary Facili tie s

MI  - Marit im e Indust ries

MN - M ainlan d Nat ive A rea

MU - M ixed U se

NA - Nat ive A re a

OS - O ffshore Is land A rea

PR - Park and Refuge

RV - Recreat ional Vehi cl e

Resea rch

SC - Suburban Com mercial

SR - Suburban Resident ial

SR-L - Suburban Resident ial Lim ite d

SS - Sparsl ey Sett led

UC - U rba n Com m erci al

UR - U rba n Reside ntial

URM - Urban Resident ial M obile Hom e

URM-L -  Urban  Residen tial  M obile  Hom e Limi ted

10/19/2015

creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 3

























 
 
Little Torch Map Amendment Application 8.5.15  
Dolphin Marina Entrance 
 



 
Little Palm Transfer Station Entrance from Pirates Road 
 

 
Pirates Road Entrance from US 1 
Little Torch Map Amendment Application 8.5.15 





























































































































































































File 2015-006  Page 1 of 8 
 

 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM  
MONROE COUNTY PLANNING & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 

 
 
To: Monroe County Development Review Committee 
 Mayté Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning & Environmental Resources 
 
From:  Mayté Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning & Environmental Resources 

Emily Schemper, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
 
Date:  October 16, 2015 
 
Subject: AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO ADDRESS HEIGHT EXCEPTIONS FOR NON-
HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN THE OCEAN 
REEF MASTER PLANNED COMMUNITY; AND CREATING POLICIES 101.5.32 
AND 101.5.33 TO PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT IN 
ORDER TO PROTECT PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE FLOOD 
INSURANCE COSTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO 
THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; 
PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. (File # 2015-006) 

 
Meeting: October 27, 2015 - continued from March 24, 2015, May 26, 2015 & August 25, 2015 

 
I. REQUEST 

 
The Monroe County Planning & Environmental Resources is proposing amendments to create 
Policy 101.5.31 to address non-habitable architectural decorative features within the Ocean Reef 
community; and create Policies 101.5.32 and 101.5.33 to provide certain exceptions to the height 
limit in order to protect property from flooding and reduce flood insurance costs. 
 
 

II. BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 

The County has been working on the Comprehensive Plan update and has held numerous public 
hearings on the proposed amendments.  Most recently, the Board of County Commissioners 
(BOCC) held special public meetings on March 21, 2014, April 23, 2014 and May 22, 2014, to 
review proposed amendments to the Comprehensive Plan. A special BOCC public hearing was 
held on July 23, 2014, to consider the transmittal of the proposed amendments (the Monroe County 
2030 Comprehensive Plan) to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) and this 
hearing was continued to October 7, 2014.  
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The Monroe County Board of County Commissioners held a special meeting on October 7, 2014, to 
consider the transmittal of the proposed amendments (the Monroe County 2030 Comprehensive Plan) 
to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) and the hearing was continued to 
December 10, 2014, to discuss the following: 

• Policies 101.5.31 and 101.5.32: BOCC directed staff to work on height policies for addressing 
the replacement of existing buildings which exceed the 35ft height limit, architectural features, 
flood protection purposes and affordable housing. Staff to present drafts during the regular 
December BOCC meeting. 

• BOCC directed staff to work on an inventory/data of privately-owned offshore islands. Staff to 
present draft during the regular December BOCC meeting. 

 
A transcription of the BOCC height discussion, from the October 7, 2014 public hearing, is attached as 
Exhibit 1. 
 
During the regular December 10, 2014 BOCC meeting, a public hearing was held to discuss proposed 
height and offshore island policies and to consider the transmittal of the proposed amendments (the 
Monroe County 2030 Comprehensive Plan) to the DEO.  The BOCC directed staff to maintain the 
existing adopted height and offshore island policies and to extract the proposed changes to the height 
limit policy and process it as a separate amendment.   
 
DRC: At its regularly scheduled meeting on March 24, 2015, the Monroe County Development 
Review Committee reviewed the proposed text amendment and held a workshop format meeting to 
allow for extensive public review and comment. The information provided in the staff report and 
comments from the public were discussed at the meeting.  The text amendment was continued to a 
future DRC meeting to allow for additional public review, input and discussion early in the process.  
The staff report from the March 24, 2015 DRC is attached as Exhibit 2. Minutes from the March 24, 
2015 DRC are attached as Exhibit 3.  
 
DRC: At its regularly scheduled meeting on May 26, 2015, the Monroe County Development Review 
Committee reviewed the proposed text amendment and held a workshop format meeting to allow for 
extensive public review and comment. The information provided in the staff report and comments 
from the public were discussed at the meeting.  The text amendment was continued to a future DRC 
meeting to allow for additional public review, input and discussion early in the process.  The staff 
report from the May 26, 2015 DRC is attached as Exhibit 4. Minutes from the May 26, 2015 DRC are 
attached as Exhibit 5.  
 
DRC: At its regularly scheduled meeting on August 25, 2015, the Monroe County Development 
Review Committee reviewed the proposed text amendment and held a workshop format meeting to 
allow for extensive public review and comment. The information provided in the staff report and 
comments from the public were discussed at the meeting.  The text amendment was continued to a 
future DRC meeting to allow for additional public review, input and discussion early in the process.  
The staff report from the August 25, 2015 DRC is attached as Exhibit 6. Minutes from the August 25, 
2015 DRC are attached as Exhibit 7. 
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III. ANALYSIS OF PROPOSED AMENDMENT 
 
HEIGHT: 
 
In unincorporated Monroe County, height and grade are defined as follows: 
 

HEIGHT is defined as: the vertical distance between grade and the highest part of any 
structure, including mechanical equipment, but excluding chimneys; spires and/or steeples on 
structures used for institutional and/or public uses only; radio and/or television antenna, 
flagpoles; solar apparatus; utility poles and/or transmission towers; and certain antenna 
supporting structures with attached antenna and/or collocations as permitted in chapter 146. 
However, in no event shall any of the exclusions enumerated in this section be construed to 
permit any habitable or usable space to exceed the applicable height limitations. In the case of 
airport districts, the height limitations therein shall be absolute and the exclusions enumerated 
in this section shall not apply. 
 
GRADE means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, prior to construction, 
next to the proposed walls of a structure, or the crown or curb of the nearest road directly 
adjacent to the structure, whichever is higher. To confirm the natural elevation of the ground 
surface, the county shall utilize the Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) dataset for Monroe 
County prepared in 2007. In the event 2007 LiDAR data is not available for a given parcel, the 
county shall use the best available data, including, but not limited to, pre-construction 
boundary surveys with elevations, pre-construction topographic surveys, elevation certificates 
and/or other optical remote sensing data. 

 
Based on the adopted definitions the following is a basic depiction of: height = the vertical distance 
between grade and the highest part of any structure.  In this depiction, the crown of the nearest road directly 
adjacent to the structure is higher than natural elevation of the ground surface (prior to construction, next to 
the proposed walls of a structure).  As such, the crown of the road is the starting point, for this example, in 
measuring the vertical distance of the structure. 
 
 

                   
 
 

Crown of the road 

The vertical distance 
between grade (crown of 
road, based on definition, 
for this example) and the 

highest part of the structure 
= Height 

Height limit 

For this example, a 3 story 
home may be developed 
within the 35 foot height 

limit and the flood zone of 
AE 5ft 

2ft of fill needed to reach 5ft 
flood zone requirement from 
the natural elevation of 3 feet  



File 2015-006  Page 4 of 8 
 

In the Comprehensive Plan update, recommendations to amend and expand the height policy have been 
made to clarify the measurement of height to match the recently amended land development code 
(Ordinance 003-2011) and to address new issues, such as: anticipating new FEMA flood maps and creating 
a mechanism to assist property owners to protect their property from flooding and reduce flood insurance 
costs as well as issues in permitting relative to architectural decorative features.  
 
IV. PROPOSED AMENDMENT (Deletions are stricken through and additions are underlined.) 

 
Land Development Code amendments are being processed separately. 

 
 

Policy 101.45.2630 
In order to preserve the existing community character and natural environment, Monroe County shall 
limit the height of structures including landfills to 35 feet. Height is defined as the vertical distance 
between grade and the highest part of any structure, including mechanical equipment, but excluding 
spires and/or steeples on structures used for institutional and/or public uses only; chimneys; radio and/or 
television antennas; flagpoles; solar apparatus; utility poles and/or transmission towers; and certain 
antenna supporting structures with attached antennas and/or collocations. However, in no event shall any 
of the exclusions enumerated above be construed to permit any habitable or usable space to exceed the 
applicable height limitations, except as specifically permitted in Policies 101.5.32 and 101.5.33. 
Exceptions will be allowed for appurtenances to buildings, transmission towers and other similar 
structures. In the case of airport districts, there shall be no exceptions to the 35-foot height limitation. 

 
 

Policy 101.5.31  
For Ocean Reef, a master planned community which is gated, inaccessible to the surrounding 
community, and has a distinct community character, buildings may include non-habitable architectural 
decorative features (such as finials, railings, widow’s walk, parapets) that exceed the 35-foot height limit 
in Policy 101.5.30, but such features shall not exceed 5 feet above the building’s roof-line. This 
exception shall not result in a building together with any architectural decorative feature with a height 
that would exceed 40 feet. 

 
As used in this policy, a master planned community means a planned community of 100 or more acres in 
area subject to a master plan or other development order approved by the county where public access is 
restricted and the community is operated and maintained by the community including the provision of 
comprehensive, private utilities and transportation facilities and services within its boundaries and a 
homeowners association or similar entity which regulates development standards and monitors 
development requests by its members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Note, Ocean Reef Club has requested additional amendments, attached as Exhibit 9.  To 
date, sufficient data has not been submitted to evaluate the requested amendments. 
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Policy 101.5.32 
Within in 1 year of the effective date of this policy, Monroe County shall adopt Land Development 
Regulations which provide a Flood Protection Height Exception to Policy 101.5.30 to promote public 
health, safety and general welfare; allow adaptation to coastal flooding, storm surge and other hazards; 
protect property from flooding and minimize damages; minimize public and private losses due to 
flooding; minimize future expenditures of public funds for flood control projects and for recovery from 
flood events; and mitigate rising flood insurance premiums. A Flood Protection Height Exception of up to 
a maximum of five (5) feet above the 35-foot height limit shall be provided to allow buildings to be 
voluntarily elevated up to three (3) feet above FEMA base flood elevation in order to promote flood 
protection, minimize flood damage, reduce flood insurance premiums and minimize future expenditures 
of public funds for recovery from flood events. In no case shall a Flood Protection Height Exception result 
in a building exceeding a maximum height of 40 feet. 
 
 
Policy 101.5.33 
Within in 1 year of the effective date of this policy, Monroe County shall adopt Land Development 
Regulations which provide a Flood Protection Height Exception for lawfully established existing 
buildings, which exceed the 35-foot height limit in Policy 101.5.30, to promote public health, safety and 
general welfare; allow adaptation to coastal flooding, storm surge and other hazards; protect property from 
flooding and minimize damages; minimize public and private losses due to flooding; minimize future 
expenditures of public funds for flood control projects and for recovery from flood events; and mitigate 
rising flood insurance premiums.  A lawfully established existing building may be repaired, improved, 
retrofitted or redeveloped to meet required FEMA base flood elevation (BFE) provided the building does 
not exceed a total maximum building height of 40 feet, and the building is limited to the lawfully 
established existing intensity, floor area, building envelope (floor to floor height), density and type of use. 
For lawfully established existing buildings that are proposed to exceed a total height of 40 feet, a public 
hearing before the Board of County Commissioners shall be required to review and specify the maximum 
approved height prior to issuance of any county permit or development approval. A BOCC resolution 
shall specify the maximum approved height. 
 

 
 
V. CONSISTENCY WITH THE MONROE COUNTY YEAR 2010 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, 

THE FLORIDA STATUTES, AND PRINCIPLES FOR GUIDING DEVELOPMENT 
 

A. The proposed amendment is consistent with the following Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 
Monroe County Year 2010 Comprehensive Plan.  Specifically, the amendment furthers:  
 
Goal 101: Monroe County shall manage future growth to enhance the quality of life, ensure the safety of 
County residents and visitors, and protect valuable natural resources. 
 
Policy 217.1.4 
Monroe County shall continue its policy of reviewing the current Building Code and, as appropriate, adopting 
structural standards and site alteration restrictions that meet or exceed the minimum FEMA requirements. The 
Building Code shall be reviewed and revised at least every five years. The recommendations of the applicable 
interagency hazard mitigation report shall be considered in revisions to the Code. 
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Policy 217.1.5 
Monroe County shall continue to participate in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) Community 
Rating System (CRS) to the maximum extent possible and shall seek to improve its current CRS Class 9 
rating.  
 
Policy 217.1.6 
Monroe County shall continue to enforce federal, state and local setback and elevation requirements to 
promote the protection and safety of life and property. Revisions to the existing setback requirements 
contained in the Land Development Regulations shall be considered as a means of reducing property damage 
caused by storms.  
 
Objective 601.3 
By January 4, 1998, Monroe County shall increase implementation efforts to eliminate substandard housing 
and to preserve, conserve and enhance the existing housing stock, including historic structures and sites.  
 
Policy 601.3.2 
The County Code Enforcement Office and Building Department will enforce building code regulations and 
County ordinances governing the structural condition of the housing stock, to ensure the provision of safe, 
decent and sanitary housing and stabilization of residential neighborhoods.  
 

B. The amendment is consistent with the Principles for Guiding Development for the Florida Keys 
Area, Section 380.0552(7), Florida Statute.  

 
For the purposes of reviewing consistency of the adopted plan or any amendments to that plan with the 
principles for guiding development and any amendments to the principles, the principles shall be construed as 
a whole and no specific provision shall be construed or applied in isolation from the other provisions.  
 
(a) Strengthening local government capabilities for managing land use and development so that local 

government is able to achieve these objectives without continuing the area of critical state concern 
designation. 

(b) Protecting shoreline and marine resources, including mangroves, coral reef formations, seagrass beds, 
wetlands, fish and wildlife, and their habitat. 

(c) Protecting upland resources, tropical biological communities, freshwater wetlands, native tropical 
vegetation (for example, hardwood hammocks and pinelands), dune ridges and beaches, wildlife, and 
their habitat. 

(d) Ensuring the maximum well-being of the Florida Keys and its citizens through sound economic 
development. 

(e) Limiting the adverse impacts of development on the quality of water throughout the Florida Keys. 
(f) Enhancing natural scenic resources, promoting the aesthetic benefits of the natural environment, and 

ensuring that development is compatible with the unique historic character of the Florida Keys. 
(g) Protecting the historical heritage of the Florida Keys. 
(h) Protecting the value, efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and amortized life of existing and proposed major 

public investments, including: 
 

1. The Florida Keys Aqueduct and water supply facilities; 
2. Sewage collection, treatment, and disposal facilities; 
3. Solid waste treatment, collection, and disposal facilities; 
4. Key West Naval Air Station and other military facilities; 
5. Transportation facilities; 
6. Federal parks, wildlife refuges, and marine sanctuaries; 
7. State parks, recreation facilities, aquatic preserves, and other publicly owned properties; 
8. City electric service and the Florida Keys Electric Co-op; and 
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9. Other utilities, as appropriate. 
 
(i) Protecting and improving water quality by providing for the construction, operation, maintenance, and 

replacement of stormwater management facilities; central sewage collection; treatment and disposal 
facilities; and the installation and proper operation and maintenance of onsite sewage treatment and 
disposal systems. 

(j) Ensuring the improvement of nearshore water quality by requiring the construction and operation of 
wastewater management facilities that meet the requirements of ss. 381.0065(4)(l) and 403.086(10), as 
applicable, and by directing growth to areas served by central wastewater treatment facilities through 
permit allocation systems. 

(k) Limiting the adverse impacts of public investments on the environmental resources of the Florida Keys. 
(l) Making available adequate affordable housing for all sectors of the population of the Florida Keys. 
(m) Providing adequate alternatives for the protection of public safety and welfare in the event of a natural or 

manmade disaster and for a post disaster reconstruction plan. 
(n) Protecting the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the Florida Keys and maintaining the 

Florida Keys as a unique Florida resource. 
 
Pursuant to Section 380.0552(7) Florida Statutes, the proposed amendment is consistent with the Principles 
for Guiding Development as a whole and is not inconsistent with any Principle.   

 
C. The proposed amendment is consistent with the Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statute (F.S.). 

Specifically, the amendment furthers: 
 
Section 163.3161(4), F.S. – It is the intent of this act that local governments have the ability to preserve and 
enhance present advantages; encourage the most appropriate use of land, water, and resources, consistent with 
the public interest; overcome present handicaps; and deal effectively with future problems that may result 
from the use and development of land within their jurisdictions. Through the process of comprehensive 
planning, it is intended that units of local government can preserve, promote, protect, and improve the public 
health, safety, comfort, good order, appearance, convenience, law enforcement and fire prevention, and 
general welfare; facilitate the adequate and efficient provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, 
parks, recreational facilities, housing, and other requirements and services; and conserve, develop, utilize, and 
protect natural resources within their jurisdictions 

 
163.3177(1), F.S. - The comprehensive plan shall provide the principles, guidelines, standards, and strategies 
for the orderly and balanced future economic, social, physical, environmental, and fiscal development of the 
area that reflects community commitments to implement the plan and its elements. These principles and 
strategies shall guide future decisions in a consistent manner and shall contain programs and activities to 
ensure comprehensive plans are implemented. The sections of the comprehensive plan containing the 
principles and strategies, generally provided as goals, objectives, and policies, shall describe how the local 
government’s programs, activities, and land development regulations will be initiated, modified, or continued 
to implement the comprehensive plan in a consistent manner. It is not the intent of this part to require the 
inclusion of implementing regulations in the comprehensive plan but rather to require identification of those 
programs, activities, and land development regulations that will be part of the strategy for implementing the 
comprehensive plan and the principles that describe how the programs, activities, and land development 
regulations will be carried out. The plan shall establish meaningful and predictable standards for the use and 
development of land and provide meaningful guidelines for the content of more detailed land development 
and use regulations. 

 
VI. PROCESS 

 
Comprehensive Plan amendments may be proposed by the Board of County Commissioners, the 
Planning Commission, the Director of Planning, or the owner or other person having a contractual 
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interest in property to be affected by a proposed amendment.  The Director of Planning shall review and 
process applications as they are received and pass them onto the Development Review Committee and 
the Planning Commission.  
 
The Planning Commission shall hold at least one public hearing.  The Planning Commission shall 
review the application, the reports and recommendations of the Department of Planning & 
Environmental Resources and the Development Review Committee and the testimony given at the 
public hearing.  The Planning Commission shall submit its recommendations and findings to the Board 
of County Commissioners (BOCC).  The BOCC holds a public hearing to consider the transmittal of the 
proposed comprehensive plan amendment, and considers the staff report, staff recommendation, and the 
testimony given at the public hearing.  The BOCC may or may not recommend transmittal to the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO).  The amendment is transmitted to DEO, which then 
reviews the proposal and issues an Objections, Recommendations and Comments (ORC) Report.  Upon 
receipt of the ORC report, the County has 180 days to adopt the amendments, adopt the amendments 
with changes or not adopt the amendment. 

 
VII. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends APPROVAL of the proposed amendments. 
 

VIII. EXHIBITS 
 

1. Transcription of the BOCC height discussion, from the October 7, 2014 public hearing 
2. March 24, 2015 DRC Staff Report 
3. March 24, 2015 DRC Minutes 
4. May 26, 2015 DRC Staff Report 
5. May 26, 2015 DRC Minutes  
6. August 25, 2015 DRC Staff Report  
7. August 25, 2015 DRC Minutes 
8. Table of FEMA flood zones and number of private, vacant parcels in unincorporated Monroe 

County 
9. Ocean Reef Club request and data. 
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Monroe County Board of County Commissioners Special Meeting 

Tuesday, October 7, 2014 

 
Height Exceptions 

Then the next change is on page 43… 

You have a couple of new policies here, you all directed staff to take a look at how to possibly raise the height 
limit for architectural features that really just apply to Ocean Reef and so we’ve also come up with some criteria 
and you’ll see that on those two policies 5.31 and 5.32 

Mayor Murphy: Do we have a public speaker on this Lindsay? 

Lindsay Ballard:  We do.  Joel Reed. 

Mayor Murphy:  Debbie, are you ready for public speakers? 

Debbie:  Yes mam on this particular topic. 

Joel Reed: Good morning Mayor, Commissioners, Joel Reed.  I’m here today on behalf of Ocean Reef Club and 
Ocean Reef Community Association in regard to this issue.  First of all I want to thank you for the support.  As 
you know Ocean Reef is a distinct community.  It’s a private gated community of about twenty five hundred 
acres, about seventeen hundred units up there.  We have a lot of additional amenities up there, public buildings 
or quasi, kind of public buildings that are for the club purpose as well.  Ocean Reef also has a Community 
Association which has its own architectural board, its architectural committee that kind of makes going through 
DRC and Planning Commission a day at the beach compared to their architectural committee.  They are very 
stringent.  They impose a lot of times additional requirements and regulations on their projects.  Their whole 
community is very involved with the process.  They’re all notified as far as any changes that happen up there.  So 
the five foot, we appreciate the support and the language in there a lot of times, some of the single family 
homes and the commercial buildings as well bump up as far as making them more architecturally attractive to 
need this section to allow for that.  We also have had a lot of discussions the last couple of weeks internally as 
well.  I’m going to pass out, I guess to the clerk and to you guys, additional language we would like you guys to 
consider.  But we have been talking to staff about ….(passes out additional language considerations) So not to 
confuse the issue, there are two specific issues.  First is allowing for some additional architectural features that 
the five foot would do.  As we went through the club, as I said, owns a lot of buildings.  Some of those buildings 
are the hotels that are near Buccaneer Island, if you’ve been up there before.  The Amberjack, The Dolphin, The 
Marlin, these buildings are aging, they’re coming to the end of their life.  We have done quite a few renovations 
to them.  At this point there is not really many more renovations that can be done in order to continue to 
maintain and operate them.  As you know, that function of the club as well is essential to maintaining a Class A 
club up there, continuing to provide for the tax base that comes out of Ocean Reef is by having an attractive club 
where we can continue to attract, to maintain current members and attract new members.  A lot of those 
buildings, I have some data, it’s not all there, The Amberjack for example is three levels of living.  Just to give an 
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example, the couple, I’m not going to go into all of them, but we said look if these things were substantially 
damaged through a hurricane, or they had to come down, or we had to rebuild, we wouldn’t be able to build 
back those units to those heights that are there today.  We have several.  We have The Harbor House which is a 
condominium, its over fifty four feet right now in Ocean Reef Club.  We have The Marlin, which is one of the 
hotel buildings, that’s at forty two feet.  We got the Dolphin Hotel at forty seven feet and The Creek House.  We 
didn’t have the number on it but we know that’s well over forty feet as well.  That’s another condominium 
building up there.  We came up with the boat barn, that’s at thirty seven feet, the boat barn that we have up 
there.  But there is about seven or eight buildings specifically that we thought it would be greatly impacted as 
we try to redevelop these properties or if we have to due to a hurricane or other issues.  Some of the other 
issues we face is that although these are three stories and they are just pushing the height limit right now.  You 
know, if you get three stories up there you’re at thirty feet and then you have an architectural roof element 
you’re at thirty seven feet or something like that.  A lot of these buildings are built below flood right now so if 
we go to build them back, obviously we’re talking about sea level rise, we want to encourage those buildings to 
be brought back up to flood.  What happens is we lose a whole top level that we currently have today.  We 
would lose almost a whole floor there out of those developments and that’s just not possible to happen.  So we 
proposed some additional policy language to put in there to protect these existing buildings that are there to be 
able to be built back.  We haven’t thoroughly vetted with staff yet at this point we have just proposed talking 
about the issue that I just explained.  We would like and hope to support and to continue to work with staff to 
tweak some of this language to get into the Comp Plan to protect us on some of these issues.  And the language, 
it exempts, it doesn’t exempt, it doesn’t include single family homes so this is only for the multi-family and 
commercial structures that are up there, so it doesn’t include any of the single family homes and what it says is, 
“lawfully established structures that exclude single family homes that exceed this height limit may be replaced 
with their existing height plus any additional height required to elevate the first finished floor two feet above 
the FE” so encouraging them to go, you know, those extra two feet as well above that base flood elevation to 
account for future sea level rise as well.  And then also that the height limit applicable to Ocean Reef and this 
would be an exemption for their community center building.  The community center building up there right now 
puts on productions and theater productions and when it was built, they aren’t able to attract and have the top 
of the line theater groups that come in there because a lot of the sets that they have, they change throughout 
the production.  They actually lift that whole set up to lift that whole backdrop up into the ceiling and then they 
drop down the new one and their theater wasn’t able to be designed to that because of the height and so they 
also want that as an exclusion so that they can look to enhance that building at some point to be able to attract 
those types of productions there.  I’m here for any questions.  Thank you for considering. 

Mayor Murphy:  So the proposed additional language, Joel, is what you want, not the existing language? 

Joel Reed:  We support the Club and the Community Association both support that existing policy language 
that’s in there … 

Commissioner Carruthers:  the institutional language … 

Joel Reed: Yeah. This is additional language, as we were talking about that five foot that was in there, that we 
were supportive of.  You know, we started to talk about the hotels and the aging and the issues and if we did try 
and rebuild them back, what that would look like in the loss of rooms and the development that’s there. 
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Mayor Murphy:  Do we have a public speaker on this? 

Lindsay Ballard:  We do.   

Mayor Murphy:  Let’s hear the public speaker.  Another one. 

Lindsay Ballard:  D.A. Aldridge  

D.A. Aldridge:  I’m D.A. Aldridge.  I live on Tavernier which is part of Kay Largo.  Here we are at the last minute, a 
breath away from sending the Comp Plan and all of a sudden we see a very important change being requested 
by our Northern neighbors.  The Federation of Homeowner’s Association has been very adamant about height 
restrictions for many years and we have continually fought for thirty five feet.  We are asking at this time, I am 
asking at this time to have you not vote on this.  We have not had the opportunity to look at the language that 
has been just handed to you and we feel that it needs to be reviewed very closely by the staff and by you 
because this is a huge change that they are requesting.  Thank you.   

Mayor Murphy: … That’s it  

Commissioner Kolhage:  What does the, in the final sentence when they talk about assembly group A1 and so 
forth, what does that mean? 

Christine Hurley:  We don’t know.   

Mayor Murphy: Well they haven’t seen it yet.  This is the problem with this. 

Christine Hurley:  Well we have seen that he emailed it but we asked questions.  We didn’t know what he meant 
by that. 

Commissioner Kolhage:  Well but we’re going to have to be more specific on that.  We’ll have to have language 
that says exactly what it means.  I think anyway.   

Commissioner Rice:  Could we not deal with this today and deal with it in January?  

Christine Hurley:  If you want us to address his comments, I just say get direction from the board at this point.  
We work on some type of language to bring back to you in January.    

Commissioner Rice:  I think that’s what we should do. 

Mayor Murphy:  And what happens if we then want to make changes in January?  Do we hold up the whole 
process? 

Christine Hurley:  I think you can legally make changes on the floor by motion before we transmit. 

Bob Shillinger:  As long as you’re not changing the general substance of it.  The general tone of it. 

Mayor Murphy:  Well that’s what I am worried about.  If we let this go til January and then begin to, ya know, 
flesh it out and the public speaks and we all get confused and then what happens to the rest of Comp Plan 
because we are supposed to vote on that in January.   
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Commissioner Neugent: I would ask on issues like this because I very much agree with what was said that we 
just got this and I think we need some information and my question is, and there may be some more issues very 
similar to this that come up.  Can we have another meeting discussing those particular issues before the January 
transmittal? 

Christine Hurley:  Sure. We could do that. 

Mayor Murphy:  That would be helpful. 

Commissioner Rice:  That may be the way to approach it. 

Christine Hurley:  The problem with holding it in November or December is the calendars are already a mess 
from the holidays. 

Commissioner Neugent: Oh my gosh we might have to do a little work. 

Christine Hurley:  No, that’s not what I meant.  It’s just that even your regular board meetings got all shifted 
around. 

Commissioner Neugent:  Have it at the board meeting.  End of the item discussion for a board meeting. 

Christine Hurley:  Okay.  We can do that.  

Mayor Murphy:  We can do that. 

Commissioner Neugent: Another things that’s in this right here as I read it, for clarification purposes, 
“architectural decorating features that exceed the thirty five foot height limit but such features shall not exceed 
five feet above the structures roof line”  Joel also mentioned that some of these buildings are already, I guess 
they would be legal non-conforming because they are above the height limit, so when you say “features shall 
not exceed five feet above the structures roofline” what roofline are we talking about?  The one that’s already 
non-conforming? Or thirty five feet, shall not exceed five feet above thirty five feet?  That’s not the way I 
necessarily interpret that. 

Mayor Murphy:  Because if it’s the fifty four foot building, we’re now at fifty nine… 

Christine Hurley:  It’s not though.  This is meant for new development that cannot exceed thirty five feet. 

Commissioner Neugent:  Well what happens … 

Christine Hurley:  Joel has added in and what he is really asking you to do, is in simple terms, and I think it could 
be very simplified, is agree that existing, non-conforming buildings that are at a height greater than thirty five 
feet, be allowed to rebuild to that height plus… 

Commissioner Neugent:  I didn’t hear anybody bring that up… 

Christine Hurley: That’s really what he is asking though. 

Commissioner Rice: Well that’s what this really says 
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Mayor Murphy: Plus what? 

Christine Hurley: plus, let him adjust, like we already have a provision in here, for another five feet, if they need 
to raise the elevation for FEMA floodplain issues. 

Mayor Murphy:  Fine, but not for decorative features. 

Christine Hurley:  Well he talked about decorative also, but he definitely spoke about … 

Mayor Murphy:  Well let’s get it down pat. 

Christine Hurley:  Well we will try to but we got his language a couple days ago and… 

Mayor Murphy:  Well his language is kind of going in a figure eight. 

Commissioner Kolhage:  I understand what they are saying.  In other words, he wants to maintain what they 
have now with an adjustment. 

Christine Hurley:  Yes.  I think that’s what he is asking. 

Commissioner Kolhage:  And I think that is reasonable.   

Mayor Murphy:  To replace a building, an older building that was built over thirty five feet, have a problem with 
that anywhere in Monroe County.  It is what it is, we’re all used to it, it’s part of the landscape. 

Commissioner Neugent: Clarification on what you just said 

Mayor Murphy:  I do not object to any of the older buildings that were built above thirty five feet.  We all have 
them in our neighborhoods.  If they need to be replaced or have to be replaced, I don’t have a problem with 
them maintaining the height. 

Commissioner Neugent:  Hold on a minute there.  Is there anything in our code, and I would use this as an 
analogy, FEMA’s description of it, if its damaged by more than fifty percent, it has to be rebuilt, that is there 
anything in our code or Comp Plan that says that it then can be built over thirty five feet? 

Mayor Murphy:   No, No. 

Christine Hurley:  Okay, today, don’t mix apples and oranges.  Today our code does not allow us to approve a 
building permit above thirty five feet.  If the structure is destroyed beyond fifty percent, they then have to 
conform to the new code, which is the thirty five foot height limit.  And if it’s destroyed beyond fifty percent 
under the floodplain rules, they have to raise the elevation and that’s why they added this other position. 

Commissioner Neugent: I understand the apples and oranges thing that I just plugged into it as an analogy but 
what I am saying is, have we had that discussion?  You just said, at least my interpretation, that you can’t build 
what Commissioner Murphy just said … 

Christine Hurley:  You can’t.  That is what Joel is asking you to change. 
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Commissioner Neugent:  So we need to have that discussion. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  And that’s why we have the further thing about flood protection and height 
exceptions.  Go to 105.5.32.  We added that so that we would allow people to exceed the thirty five feet when 
they have to, to create enough free board to comply with FEMA regulations. 

Commissioner Neugent:  I’m not talking about base flood elevation. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  but that is the crunch that you are getting into.  When the Mayor says that you can 
rebuild a building at the height it is today, but we have a thirty five foot limit and FEMA says you gotta raise your 
building five feet, you lose a story.   

Commissioner Neugent:  that addresses one part of it.  The other part that is not being addressed in my opinion, 
is do we have anything, are we proposing that then a fifty four foot high building could be rebuilt to fifty four 
feet. 

Christine Hurley:  Joel is proposing that. 

Commissioner Neugent:  And that’s what I am asking this Commission.  Is that where we want to go with that? 

Commissioner Carruthers:  Well, I mean, if we don’t allow people to do that, isn’t that essentially a taking? I 
mean you would be … think about the real life economic consequences of… 

Bob Shillinger:  There may be some Bert Harris implications but it’s a different analysis. 

Commissioner Kolhage:  What we are considering here is because of the isolated and specific nature of Ocean 
Reef, do we want to make an exception here? 

Commissioner Neugent: And can I tag onto that Commissioner Kolhage?  Municipalities have the right, if I 
misspeak correct me, to go above thirty five feet if they choose to.  Marathon has gone above thirty five feet, I 
think Key West has a height limit above thirty five feet, but based on what Commissioner Kolhage just said, and I 
want to hear some arguments otherwise, Ocean Reef is an isolated area, miles away from anyone else and a 
gated community, albeit in unincorporated Monroe County, they’re very similar to a municipality with a city 
type manager, that do we want to be so parental if they have no objections internally amongst themselves to 
keep them from rebuilding above thirty five feet or changing some things that they have gone through the 
public input locally with their gated community.  Do we want to impose our thoughts on how Ocean Reef should 
be run?   

Commissioner Rice:  I don’t think we are trying to do that. 

Mayor Murphy:  I don’t either. But I will tell you, my feeling is, in many, many instances, what Ocean Reef wants 
to do up there because they are away from everyone, I’ve agreed with.  They’ve had good ideas, no problem and 
they do it.  However when it comes to things like the height limit that everyone in this county is interested in, 
every developer is watching, and a lot of the homeowners are watching.  I can’t do something for them that I 
won’t do for the rest of the county.  And I will go to the extent that these buildings that Joel is talking about, 
were built when there was no height limit actually.  If this comes down either in a hurricane or they want to 
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remodel it, I don’t have a problem with them rebuilding to the height it was.  I don’t think it ruins the landscape 
because we have had thirty/forty years of looking at it.  And therefore, everyone else in the county can also 
rebuild the over thirty five feet structures they have.  Most of them are commercial structures. 

Commissioner Kolhage: Okay can I ask you a question Mayor so I can more or less understand your position?  So 
you’re saying, you don’t have a problem with them rebuilding to the height that they are now but you mean 
without the adjustment for base flood elevation or with it? 

Mayor Murphy:  No, because everyone in the county is going to get that adjustment. 

Commissioner Kolhage:  So you don’t have an objection to it? 

Mayor Murphy:  Not to that.  I have an objection to the decorative features. 

Commissioner Kolhage:  Okay but look, if it’s, if they got a fifty foot building and there is a five foot adjustment 
for base flood elevation, you don’t have a problem with them going to fifty five feet? 

Mayor Murphy:  No. 

Commissioner Kolhage: Okay. 

Mayor Murphy:  They are going to what they were before the remodel … 

Christine Hurley: and you want it county wide not just for Ocean Reef? 

Mayor Murphy:  Yes. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  But only for flood mitigation… 

Mayor Murphy:  That’s it, no decorative stuff.   

Christine Hurley:  Well right now the decorative is in, the flood is in… 

Commissioner Carruthers:  Well the decorative is in for Ocean Reef only, the flood is in for everyone. Right? 

Christine Hurley:  Yeah and the decorative is not so much what Joel is talking about relative to the bigger 
commercial buildings, its more for the single family homes that want the decorative features on top of the roof.  
They are separate issues really.  So right now in the draft policy you have included an extra five feet in Ocean 
Reef for the decorative architectural features, you’ve included for the whole county up to five feet adjustments 
for flood protection, raising your elevations, and Joel is asking you to also include, for Ocean Reef, but it sounds 
like you at least have one Commissioner who wants to do it county wide for grandfathering existing buildings 
that are higher than thirty five feet and allowing them to get the flood adjustment. 

Bob Shillinger:  You’d want to vest them for that height is what I’m hearing. 

Christine Hurley: Yup. But I don’t know the Commissions, I’m not getting… 
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Commissioner Neugent:  Well first of all the staff is supposed to review what the request is and bring it back the 
staff recommendation  

Christine Hurley:  But I’d like to know what the board, county wide or Ocean Reef for this vesting of existing 
buildings at least. 

Commissioner Rice:  Well let me help you out, if we don’t do that, the economic impact, eventually we will 
destroy what we know down here.  I don’t feel that we have any choice. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  I don’t think it’s fair…I don’t think it’s fair to not let somebody rebuild what they got.  
As it is when they do rebuild they have to meet standards that exist today that did not, and codes that exist 
today that did not exist then. 

Christine Hurley:  I understand what you all are asking for so if you want to just move on without voting, we will 
draft language and bring it back for discussion on one of your regular agendas. 

Commissioner Neugent:  Let me point this out, as someone who operated out of an illegal non-conforming 
building, if you think that it is something that is, it was called Porky’s restaurant, and if would have been 
destroyed by a storm, I would have had a very difficult time, if not impossible time to rebuild with the same 
amount of square footage because of setbacks that came into play after Porky’s was built eons ago.  So if you 
think that there is a fairness level here, there is really a lot of situations where you can’t rebuild.  

Commissioner Carruthers:  but wouldn’t you have been able to apply for variances and exceptions to those 
setbacks… 

Christine Hurley:  No. 

Commissioner Neugent:  You still would have had to meet the setback requirements. 

Christine Hurley:  You could apply for variance for a setback but not height.   

Mayor Murphy:  See well all we are talking about is height.  Not their setbacks.  Not anything else.   

Commissioner Kolhage: We’re talking about changing the whole concept of the fifty percent rule. 

Christine Hurley:  No I understand … 

Commissioner Kolhage:  How does it work? For height…we’re saying we’re washing away the fifty percent rule. 

Christine Hurley:  Well other things enter into ….for height you would be washing it away. 

Bob Shillinger: As a trigger for bringing it into compliance with current code 

Christine Hurley:  There are still other things that apply to that but most of those can be remedied by a variance. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  and just to clarify what you are eluding to I think, Commissioner, is that someone 
can elevate their building now.  And that’s not necessarily fifty percent improvement.  Right? 
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Christine Hurley:  I mean if you are elevating a building, you’re usually triggering that price… 

Commissioner Carruthers:  Well it depends on the building and the cost 

Commissioner Kolhage:  and the whole destruction issue and the fifty percent and that’s…. I’m not necessarily 
saying I have a problem with that but that’s what we’re doing  

Christine Hurley:  And I will say the examples that Joel gave of the condominiums, when you, let’s say have eight 
units per floor and now you have a storm that destroys more than fifty percent of that building, you are 
eliminating the possibility of one of those floors, because you are going to have to elevate it and that means 
eight condo owners don’t get a unit and so that’s related to the Bert Jay Harris that Bob referred to  

Commissioner Carruthers:  Everybody gets a smaller unit which is still going to be an issue so … 

Christine Hurley:  That’s under our current rules. 

Commissioner Rice:  And what we’re trying to do is validate, you don’t want to build a fifty year building or sixty 
year building without accommodating expected sea level rise  

Commissioner Carruthers:  I guess my only other comment is that I know that this is going to be controversial 
and people are going to be concerned about character and things like that… 

Mayor Murphy:  But it’s already there. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  Well it is already there… 

Mayor Murphy:  So it’s not changing the landscape… 

Commissioner Carruthers:  It’s not but trust me from dealing with this in Key West people have the perception 
that overnight the character of our communities is going to change and that’s not what we’re talking 
about…Over fifty years it probably will to some extent but it’s going to have to if we want to continue to live 
here.   

Mayor Murphy:  Alright listen we’re going to take a break  

………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Mayor Murphy: And what I realized is we neglected to give Christine a head nod one way or the other on the 
non-habitable architectural decorative features.  My comment was, I will vote for the increase in height but not 
for the decorative features.  Discuss it and let her know which direction you would like her to take when she 
does her staff report. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  Are you talking about within Ocean Reef or County wide? 

Mayor Murphy:  They are the only ones that asked for it. 

Commissioner Carruthers:  I don’t really care. 
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Commissioner Neugent:  We’ll put together something that is going to be in place for twenty years or at least 
supposedly it should be put in place so this is going to be hard and complex so I would say that the data and 
information on it being done county wide. 

Mayor Murphy:  But the point is, what county wide?  I don’t care if its county wide, in fact it has to be.  For me 
to vote for a height limit, it has to be county wide.  Otherwise, I’m not going to vote for it.   

Christine Hurley:  Okay wait a minute, no one has proposed, maybe that’s where you’re going next I don’t know, 
right now what’s in your draft is flood for everybody … 

Mayor Murphy:  Base flood elevation…  

Christine Hurley:  They have talked about it, I am very clear, everyone is okay with that.  Ocean Reef only, 
decorative features, five additional feet.  And I didn’t hear, I heard Murphy say she’s opposed to it but I didn’t 
hear what any of you other Commissioners thought of that.   

Mayor Murphy:  And that’s what I am trying to bring out so that she knows where to go with it.   

Commissioner Neugent:  I thought I heard you ask, you wanted a head nod whether this was going to be 
proposed just for Ocean Reef or all of unincorporated Monroe County.  

Christine Hurley:  I had never heard that the decorative features was proposed for all of Monroe County from 
you all.   

Commissioner Rice and Commissioner Kolhage respond in unison: No, no… 

Commissioner Neugent: Okay but I also heard Commissioner Mayor Murphy say, I’m not going to treat them 
any different than the rest of the County. 

Commissioner Rice:  Well that gives you a slight clue as to how she might vote.  

Christine Hurley:  So what I think I’ve gotten clarity on is everybody’s okay allowing the people to get five of the 
five feet to adjust the floodplain if they are demolished.  The board wants us to draft language to address 
existing structures that are already over thirty five feet to be able to be replaced with the five foot flood 
adjustment.  What I don’t have any clarity on is whether or not the board wants us to keep in Ocean Reef 
allowance for five foot additional architectural decorative features or not.  Or if you want to expand that County 
wide, which I had never heard as an option to this moment.   

Commissioner Kolhage:  Let me just state my position on this and you can go down the line I guess but I really 
don’t care about the architectural features of Ocean Reef.  I’ve tried to care but I just can’t.  But I am a little 
concerned, I’m a little concerned about doing away with our fifty percent rule on the rest of the County and I’m 
not saying that I am going to support that.   

Commissioner Neugent:  I’m not saying that I am going to support anything.  I’m saying I just want the 
information to be able to make the decision, have the discussions with the people who are going to speak for 
and against it.   
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Mayor Murphy:  And my only point with the architectural features, I don’t think they are necessary, but if just 
for Ocean Reef, I don’t want them certainly spread all over Monroe County and if you do that you are 
guaranteeing somebody an extra ten feet.  Five feet for the base flood elevation, up to five feet, and then up to 
another five feet for their decorative stuff, plus what they’ll be rebuilding is something that is you know, fifty 
feet, fifty four feet, whatever.  Its adding ten feet to it instead of five.  I think that’s a bit much.   

Commissioner Neugent:  At what point in time do we bring up what was brought up previously about 
addressing affordable housing, increasing the height limit …This is all about bringing information back to us. 

Christine Hurley:  This is the time to bring that up if you want to.   

Commissioner Neugent:  And I just, looking back in history a little bit here, there were some comments that 
Meridian West could have had another floor which would have increased the housing if they had gone up an 
additional foot or so. So again, more information to discuss that strictly for affordable housing. 

Christine Hurley:  Yes and at the meeting that State Representative Raschein held, you all discussed that.  We do 
not have anything included right now in this policy for increased height for affordable housing.  We have 
discussed it as staff after you had that meeting.  It’s our opinion that if you are going to incentivize affordable 
housing development by giving them a higher height limit that you should restrict that to very low and low 
maybe median, but the moderate income level is something that we do not think should be incentivized with a 
height increase.   

Commissioner Neugent:  One of the biggest problems in dealing with affordable housing is the property to build 
them on.  Another reason why I think the discussion should take place for affordable housing to go up is that if 
you can build more on that specific site as opposed to trying to find other properties to build affordable housing 
on.  It helps resolve that part of the equation.   

Commissioner Kolhage:  So what are you going to do with that Christine? Between now and January? 

Christine Hurley:  Do you want us to include something for you to consider relative to affordable in the next 
version that we bring to you at your regular meeting for discussion? 

Commissioner Rice: I do. 

Commissioner Carruthers: I do. 

Christine Hurley:  Okay. 

Commissioner Kolhage: I remain to be convinced… 

Commissioner Rice:  I’m not sure how I feel about it but I think we do need to have the discussion. 

Christine Hurley:  And I’m going to have some diagrams for you all by the next meeting with each policy so you 
can see what that means.   

Commissioner Carruthers:  Will you also, related to this policy with affordable, that would have to be in very 
specific tiered areas obviously.   
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Christine Hurley: I understand.  I will bring that also. 

Commissioner Kolhage:  It’s all about potential serious community character issues here.   

 



File 2015-006 Page 1 of 20

MEMORANDUM
MONROE COUNTY PLANNING & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES DEPARTMENT

To: Monroe County Development Review Committee
Townsley Schwab, Senior Director of Planning & Environmental Resources 

From: Mayté Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning & Environmental Resources
Emily Schemper, Comprehensive Planning Manager

Date: March 17, 2015

Subject: AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
POLICY 101.4.26 TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT FOR WIND 
TURBINES OWNED AND OPERATED BY A PUBLIC UTILITY; CREATING POLICY 
101.5.31 TO ADDRESS NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE 
FEATURES WITHIN THE OCEAN REEF COMMUNITY; CREATING POLICIES 
101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT 
LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE 
FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; AND CREATING POLICY 101.5.34 TO PROVIDE AN 
EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT EXCLUSIVELY FOR AFFORDABLE OR 
EMPLOYEE/WORKFORCE DWELLING UNITS THAT MEET THE INCOME LIMITS 
FOR THE VERY LOW, LOW AND/OR MEDIAN INCOME CATEGORIES ON 
PROPERTIES DESIGNATED AS TIER 3; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR 
TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE 
SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Meeting: March 24, 2015

I. REQUEST

The Monroe County Planning & Environmental Resources is proposing an amendment to revise the 
height limit policy to provide an exception to the height limit for wind turbines owned and operated by 
a public utility; create Policy 101.5.31 to address non-habitable architectural decorative features 
within the Ocean Reef community; create Policies 101.5.32 and 101.5.33 to provide certain exceptions 
to the height limit in order to protect property from flooding and reduce flood insurance costs; and 
create Policy 101.5.34 to provide an exception to the height limit exclusively for affordable or 
employee/workforce dwelling units that meet the income limits for the very low, low and/or median 
income categories on properties designated as tier 3.

creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 2
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II. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The County has been working on the Comprehensive Plan update and has held numerous public 
hearings on the proposed amendments.  Most recently, the Board of County Commissioners 
(BOCC) held special public meetings on March 21, 2014, April 23, 2014 and May 22, 2014, to 
review proposed amendments to the Comprehensive Plan. A special BOCC public hearing was 
held on July 23, 2014, to consider the transmittal of the proposed amendments (the Monroe County 
2030 Comprehensive Plan) to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) and this 
hearing was continued to October 7, 2014. 

The Monroe County Board of County Commissioners held a special meeting on October 7, 2014, to 
consider the transmittal of the proposed amendments (the Monroe County 2030 Comprehensive Plan) 
to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) and the hearing was continued to 
December 10, 2014, to discuss the following:

• Policies 101.5.31 and 101.5.32: BOCC directed staff to work on height policies for addressing 
the replacement of existing buildings which exceed the 35ft height limit, architectural features, 
flood protection purposes and affordable housing. Staff to present drafts during the regular 
December BOCC meeting.

• BOCC directed staff to work on an inventory/data of privately-owned offshore islands. Staff to 
present draft during the regular December BOCC meeting.

During the regular December 10, 2014 BOCC meeting, a public hearing was held to discuss proposed 
height and offshore island policies and to consider the transmittal of the proposed amendments (the 
Monroe County 2030 Comprehensive Plan) to the DEO.  The BOCC directed staff to maintain the 
existing adopted height and offshore island policies and to extract the proposed changes to the height 
limit policy and process it as a separate amendment.  

III. ANALYSIS OF PROPOSED AMENDMENT

HEIGHT:

In unincorporated Monroe County, height and grade are defined as follows:

HEIGHT is defined as: the vertical distance between grade and the highest part of any 
structure, including mechanical equipment, but excluding chimneys; spires and/or steeples on 
structures used for institutional and/or public uses only; radio and/or television antenna, 
flagpoles; solar apparatus; utility poles and/or transmission towers; and certain antenna 
supporting structures with attached antenna and/or collocations as permitted in chapter 146. 
However, in no event shall any of the exclusions enumerated in this section be construed to 
permit any habitable or usable space to exceed the applicable height limitations. In the case of 
airport districts, the height limitations therein shall be absolute and the exclusions enumerated 
in this section shall not apply.

GRADE means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, prior to construction, 
next to the proposed walls of a structure, or the crown or curb of the nearest road directly 
adjacent to the structure, whichever is higher. To confirm the natural elevation of the ground 
surface, the county shall utilize the Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) dataset for Monroe 
County prepared in 2007. In the event 2007 LiDAR data is not available for a given parcel, the 
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county shall use the best available data, including, but not limited to, pre-construction 
boundary surveys with elevations, pre-construction topographic surveys, elevation certificates 
and/or other optical remote sensing data.

Based on the adopted definitions the following is a basic depiction of: height = the vertical distance 
between grade and the highest part of any structure. In this depiction, the crown of the nearest road directly 
adjacent to the structure is higher than natural elevation of the ground surface (prior to construction, next to 
the proposed walls of a structure).  As such, the crown of the road is the starting point, for this example, in 
measuring the vertical distance of the structure.

In the Comprehensive Plan update, recommendations to amend and expand the height policy have been 
made to clarify the measurement of height to match the recently amended land development code 
(Ordinance 003-2011) and to address new issues, such as: anticipating new FEMA flood maps and creating 
a mechanism to assist property owners to protect their property from flooding and reduce flood insurance 
costs as well as issues in permitting relative to architectural decorative features.

For review convenience, a transcription of the BOCC height discussion, from the October 7, 2014 public 
hearing, is attached (Exhibit 1).

Crown of the road

The vertical distance 
between grade (crown of 
road, based on definition, 
for this example) and the 

highest part of the structure
= Height

Height limit

For this example, a 3 story 
home may be developed 
within the 35 foot height 

limit and the flood zone of 
AE 5ft

2ft of fill needed to reach 5ft 
flood zone requirement from 
the natural elevation of 3 feet 
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OCEAN REEF - architectural decorative features:

Policy 101.5.31 
For Ocean Reef, a gated community which is isolated and inaccessible to the surrounding community, and 
has a distinct community character, structures may include non-habitable architectural decorative features 
(such as finials, rails, widow’s walk) that exceed the 35 foot height limit in Policy 101.5.30, but such 
features shall not exceed 5 feet above the structure’s roof-line. This exception shall not result in a structure 
or any architectural decorative feature with a height that would exceed 40 feet.

Draft Policy 101.5.31 is intended to address non-habitable architectural decorative features which are 
commonly applied for in the Ocean Reef community and the issues this causes in permitting relative to the 
architectural decorative features.

40’ 0”

This type of exemption would be to address items such as balls, finials, or a widow’s walk 

Yellow = 
symbol for a
non-habitable 
architectural 
decorative 
feature
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FLOOD PROTECTION AND INSURANCE DISCOUNTS:
Policy 101.5.32
In order to protect property from flooding and reduce flood insurance costs for property owners, a Flood 
Protection Height Exception shall be provided to the 35 foot height limit in Policy 101.5.30 as follows:

1. For new structures which are voluntarily elevated to exceed the structure’s minimum required 
FEMA base flood elevation (BFE) based on the flood zone, an exception of up to five (5) feet above the 
35-foot height limit may be permitted.  The amount of the exception shall be a maximum of five (5) 
feet, and shall be no greater than the amount of voluntary elevation above BFE; and 
2. For existing structures which do not currently exceed the height limit of 35 feet in Policy 101.5.30 
and are voluntarily elevated to meet and/or exceed the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE 
based on the flood zone, an exception of up to five (5) feet above the 35-foot height limit may be 
permitted. The amount of the exception shall be a maximum of five (5) feet, and shall be no greater 
than the amount of elevation necessary to meet BFE plus the amount of voluntary elevation above 
BFE; and
3. Existing structures which do not currently exceed the height limit of 35 feet in Policy 101.5.30, may 
be permitted a height exception of more than five (5) feet, if necessary, to voluntarily elevate the 
structure to meet the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE based on the flood zone plus 1 (one) 
additional foot above BFE.

Draft Policy 101.5.32 is intended to help protect structures from flood events, mitigate upcoming FEMA 
flood zone height changes, mitigate rising insurance costs for the property owner and assist with flood 
insurance rate discounts in the Community Rating System.  The discussed height exception would allow 
structures to be elevated higher than the required minimum FEMA base flood elevation which could then 
allow property owners to obtain discounts on their insurance and help mitigate potential flooding damage.

See the following example on flood insurance discounts:

EXAMPLE:

PreFIRM
“A” Zone

$250k building coverage
$2k deductible
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For draft Policy 101.5.32 which creates the Flood Protection Height exception, the BOCC expressed 
concerns with a property owner’s ability to either build or elevate their homes without losing living space 
(i.e. reducing the number of stories of the structure) and being squeezed into smaller homes.  To try and
determine if this is an issue with the proposed policy exception, which would allow an additional 5 feet in 
height, County staff has evaluated the number of properties per flood zone [following Flood Zone table] and 
created basic illustrations [following 4 page Flood Zone Height Analysis] to depict how the current height 
limit, per flood zone, may affect proposed development, and examples with the flood protection height 
exception.

Based on the information in the Flood Zone table, it is noted that the majority of parcels within 
unincorporated Monroe County fall within the AE 7 to AE 11 flood zones.  There are 44,910 parcels within 
these flood zones, out of an estimated 56,843 total parcels within unincorporated Monroe County (79% of 
the total parcels are within AE 7 to AE 11).  

Based on the information in the Flood Zone Height Analysis, generally:
In flood zones X through AE 10 or VE 10 [approx. 47,158 parcels], a three (3) story structure may 
be developed.
In flood zones AE 11 (VE 11) through AE 20 (VE 20) [approx. 9,330 parcels], a two (2) story 
structure may be developed.

For flood zones AE 21 (VE 21) and greater [approx. 19 parcels], a one (1) story structure may be 
developed.

The generalized comments are made based upon the provided examples, within the Flood Zone Height 
Analysis, with crown of road at 5ft and used as the starting point (grade) for measuring height.

Land Development Code

HEIGHT is defined as: the vertical distance between grade and the highest part of any 
structure….

GRADE means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, prior to construction, 
next to the proposed walls of a structure, or the crown or curb of the nearest road directly 
adjacent to the structure, whichever is higher….
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FLOOD ZONE TABLE

FEMA Flood Zone Number of Parcels % of total % of total
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X 1,935 3.40%
5.16%0.2 PCT ANNUAL 

CHANCE FLOOD 
HAZARD 999 1.76%
AE 5 1 0.00%

83.48%

AE 6 1,964 3.46%
AE 7 8,996 15.83%
AE 8 14,824 26.08%
AE 9 11,272 19.83%
AE 10 6,835 12.02%
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e AE 11 2,983 5.25%
AE 12 121 0.21%
AE 13 418 0.74%
AE 14 36 0.06%
AE 15 3 0.01%
AE 16 1 0.00%

3 story 
VE 9 5 0.01%

10.76%

VE 10 327 0.58%
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VE 11 1,019 1.79%
VE 12 1,443 2.54%
VE 13 1,069 1.88%
VE 14 1,815 3.19%
VE 15 352 0.62%
VE 16 31 0.05%
VE 17 33 0.06%
VE 19 5 0.01%
VE 20 1 0.00%
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e VE 21 8 0.01%

VE 22 7 0.01%
VE 23 1 0.00%
VE 24 1 0.00%
VE 26 2 0.00%
OPEN WATER 10 0.02%

  
  total parcels 56,843

Note: As of October 2014 there are approximately 56,843 parcels in unincorporated Monroe County.
The total from the spreadsheet will be different as some of the submerged parcels do not fall within the FEMA Zones. 
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Flood Zone
Height Analysis
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Height Analysis
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EXISTING STRUCTURES:
Policy 101.5.33
A lawfully established existing structure which currently exceeds the height limit of 35 feet in Policy 
101.5.30 may be repaired, improved or reconstructed to its existing height, provided the structure is limited 
to the lawfully established existing intensity, floor area, density and type of use. A Flood Protection Height 
Exception for a lawfully established existing structure exceeding the 35 foot height limit shall be provided 
as follows:

1. For lawfully established existing structures which currently exceed the height limit of 35 feet in 
Policy 101.5.30 and are voluntarily elevated to meet and/or exceed the structure’s minimum required 
FEMA BFE based on the flood zone, an exception of up to five (5) feet may be permitted. The amount 
of the exception shall be a maximum of five (5) feet, and shall be no greater than the amount of
elevation necessary to meet BFE plus the amount of voluntary elevation above BFE; and
2. Lawfully established existing structures which currently exceed the height limit of 35 feet in Policy 
101.5.30, may be permitted a height exception of more than five (5) feet, if necessary, to voluntarily 
elevate the structure meet the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE based on the flood zone plus 1 
(one) additional foot above BFE.

For draft Policy 101.5.33 which creates the height exception for a lawfully established existing structure 
which currently exceeds the 35 foot height limit to be repaired, improved or reconstructed to its existing 
height and provides a Flood Protection Height Exception to elevate the structure to meet and/or exceed the 
required FEMA BFE.

Example 1: 5 feet to exceed the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE

49’ 0”

44’ 0”

AE 5 AE 5

Existing
structure
= 44 ft

11’

11’

11’

11’

11’

11’

11’

11’

+5’ above BFE 

+5’ in height 

Existing structure= 44ft

Replaced 44ft structure + 
elevated 5ft above BFE

Height = 49ft
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Example 2: elevated 10ft to meet the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE plus 1 additional foot 
above BFE

AE 15 AE 15

Note, staff has not been able to complete an inventory of structures that exceed the adopted height limit of 
35 feet as there is not enough information in our files to determine the exact grade (either highest natural 
elevation of the ground surface, prior to construction, next to the proposed walls of a structure, or the 
crown or curb of the nearest road directly adjacent to the structure, whichever is higher) for most structures 
built before 1985. As such, we cannot determine the number of structures which may be affected by the 
proposed policy. Below are examples of structures which appear to exceed the adopted height limit:

Moon Bay Condos, mm 104
Built in the 70s
Crown of road might be 13-14’ based on LiDAR,
Building B is 46’ from ground level of 13’ AMSL. 
Building A is 49’6” from ground level.

Harbor 92 Condos, mm 92
Built in the 70s
Crown of road might be about 8’ based on LiDAR
Building is 63’ from ground level

Kawama Tower, mm 102
Built in the 70s
Building is 85’ from ground level of about 7’ AMSL

Existing
structure
= 44 ft

Built below 
BFE

11’
11’

11’

11’

11’

11’

11’

11’

+1’ above BFE 

Existing structure= 44ft

Elevated 44ft structure 10 
ft to meet BFE (AE 15)
plus 1 foot above BFE

Height = 55ft

42’ 0’’

10’

55’ 0’’
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AFFORDABLE HOUSING:
Policy 101.5.34
In order to incentivize the development of affordable and employee/workforce housing, an exception shall 
be provided to the 35 foot height limit in Policy 101.5.30 exclusively for affordable or employee/workforce 
dwelling units that meet the income limits for the very low, low and/or median income categories on 
properties designated as Tier 3. A structure developed as affordable or employee/workforce housing for 
very low, low and/or median income categories may be developed with a maximum height of 44 feet (to 
provide for up to three stories over parking or development over nonresidential floor area).

Height is defined as the vertical distance between grade and the highest part of any structure, including 
mechanical equipment, excluding the exceptions listed in Policy 101.5.30.

very low income = household whose total household income does not exceed 50% of the median 
monthly household income for the county

low income = household whose total household income does not exceed 80% of the median monthly 
household income for the county

median income = means a household whose total household income does not exceed 100% of the 
median monthly household income for the county

For draft Policy 101.5.34 which creates the height exception for affordable housing, the BOCC discussed 
finding ways to incentivize additional development of affordable housing.  The intent of the proposed policy 
is to encourage additional affordable and employee/workforce housing provision by allowing structures
developed as affordable/workforce housing to be built with a maximum height of 44 feet to provide for 
three stories over parking or development over nonresidential floor area.

44’ 0”
40’ 0”

Affordable Housing 
44 ft height limit 

EXAMPLE:
2 ft for roof

3 stories – 10ft each 
and 12ft for parking or 
commercial underneath

40’

44’

10’

10’

10’

12’
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IV. PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

OPTIONS FOR PROPOSED HEIGHT POLICIES FOR REVIEW & DISCUSSION:
Staff has developed the following draft policies for consideration. (Deletions are stricken through and 
additions are underlined.)

Policy 101.45.2630
In order to preserve the existing community character and natural 
environment, Monroe County shall limit the height of structures including 
mechanical equipment and landfills to 35 feet. Height is defined as the vertical 
distance between grade and the highest part of any structure, including 
mechanical equipment, but excluding spires and/or steeples on structures used 
for institutional and/or public uses only; chimneys; radio and/or television 
antennas; flagpoles; solar apparatus; utility poles and/or transmission towers; 
and certain antenna supporting structures with attached antennas and/or 
collocations. Exceptions will be allowed for appurtenances to buildings, 
transmission towers and other similar structures.

Wind turbines may also exceed the 35 foot height limit provided the site and 
the turbines are owned and operated by a public utility, have an Avian 
Protection Plan approved by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
(USFWS) and the turbines comply with relevant State and federal wildlife 
protection laws such as the Endangered Species Act, Migratory Bird Treaty 
Act, Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act, and National Environmental 
Policy Act. Applications proposing wind turbines which exceed 35 feet in 
height within the MIAI overlay shall be transmitted to NASKW for review 
and comment.

In the case of airport districts, there shall be no exceptions to the 35 foot 
height limitation.

Policy 101.5.31
For Ocean Reef, a gated community which is isolated and inaccessible to the 
surrounding community, and has a distinct community character, structures 
may include non-habitable architectural decorative features (such as finials, 
rails, widow’s walk) that exceed the 35 foot height limit in Policy 101.5.30, 
but such features shall not exceed 5 feet above the structure’s roof-line. This 
exception shall not result in a structure or any architectural decorative feature 
with a height that would exceed 40 feet.



File 2015-006 Page 16 of 20

Policy 101.5.32
In order to protect property from flooding and reduce flood insurance costs for 
property owners, a Flood Protection Height Exception shall be provided to the 
35 foot height limit in Policy 101.5.30 as follows:

1. For new structures which are voluntarily elevated to exceed the 
structure’s minimum required FEMA base flood elevation (BFE) based 
on the flood zone, an exception of up to five (5) feet above the 35-foot 
height limit may be permitted.  The amount of the exception shall be a 
maximum of five (5) feet, and shall be no greater than the amount of 
voluntary elevation above BFE; and 

2. For existing structures which do not currently exceed the height limit of 
35 feet in Policy 101.5.30 and are voluntarily elevated to meet and/or
exceed the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE based on the 
flood zone, an exception of up to five (5) feet above the 35-foot height 
limit may be permitted. The amount of the exception shall be a 
maximum of five (5) feet, and shall be no greater than the amount of 
elevation necessary to meet BFE plus the amount of voluntary elevation 
above BFE; and

3. Existing structures which do not currently exceed the height limit of 35 
feet in Policy 101.5.30, may be permitted a height exception of more 
than five (5) feet, if necessary, to voluntarily elevate the structure to 
meet the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE based on the flood 
zone plus 1 (one) additional foot above BFE.

Policy 101.5.33
A lawfully established existing structure which currently exceeds the height
limit of 35 feet in Policy 101.5.30 may be repaired, improved or reconstructed 
to its existing height, provided the structure is limited to the lawfully 
established existing intensity, floor area, density and type of use. A Flood 
Protection Height Exception for a lawfully established existing structure 
exceeding the 35 foot height limit shall be provided as follows:

1. For lawfully established existing structures which currently exceed the 
height limit of 35 feet in Policy 101.5.30 and are voluntarily elevated to 
meet and/or exceed the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE 
based on the flood zone, an exception of up to five (5) feet may be 
permitted. The amount of the exception shall be a maximum of five (5) 
feet, and shall be no greater than the amount of elevation necessary to 
meet BFE plus the amount of voluntary elevation above BFE; and

2. Lawfully established existing structures which currently exceed the 
height limit of 35 feet in Policy 101.5.30, may be permitted a height 



File 2015-006 Page 17 of 20

exception of more than five (5) feet, if necessary, to voluntarily elevate 
the structure meet the structure’s minimum required FEMA BFE based 
on the flood zone plus 1 (one) additional foot above BFE.

Policy 101.5.34
In order to incentivize the development of affordable and employee/workforce 
housing, an exception shall be provided to the 35 foot height limit in Policy 
101.5.30 exclusively for affordable or employee/workforce dwelling units that 
meet the income limits for the very low, low and/or median income categories 
on properties designated as Tier 3. A structure developed as affordable or 
employee/workforce housing for very low, low and/or median income 
categories may be developed with a maximum height of 44 feet (to provide 
for up to three stories over parking or development over nonresidential floor 
area).

Height is defined as the vertical distance between grade and the highest part of 
any structure, including mechanical equipment, excluding the exceptions 
listed in Policy 101.5.30.

V. CONSISTENCY WITH THE MONROE COUNTY YEAR 2010 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, 
THE FLORIDA STATUTES, AND PRINCIPLES FOR GUIDING DEVELOPMENT

A. The proposed amendment is consistent with the following Goals, Objectives and Policies of the 
Monroe County Year 2010 Comprehensive Plan.  Specifically, the amendment furthers: 

Goal 101: Monroe County shall manage future growth to enhance the quality of life, ensure the safety of 
County residents and visitors, and protect valuable natural resources.

Policy 217.1.4
Monroe County shall continue its policy of reviewing the current Building Code and, as appropriate, adopting 
structural standards and site alteration restrictions that meet or exceed the minimum FEMA requirements. The 
Building Code shall be reviewed and revised at least every five years. The recommendations of the applicable 
interagency hazard mitigation report shall be considered in revisions to the Code.

Policy 217.1.5
Monroe County shall continue to participate in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) Community 
Rating System (CRS) to the maximum extent possible and shall seek to improve its current CRS Class 9 
rating. 

Policy 217.1.6
Monroe County shall continue to enforce federal, state and local setback and elevation requirements to 
promote the protection and safety of life and property. Revisions to the existing setback requirements 
contained in the Land Development Regulations shall be considered as a means of reducing property damage 
caused by storms. 
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Objective 601.3
By January 4, 1998, Monroe County shall increase implementation efforts to eliminate substandard housing 
and to preserve, conserve and enhance the existing housing stock, including historic structures and sites. 

Policy 601.3.2
The County Code Enforcement Office and Building Department will enforce building code regulations and 
County ordinances governing the structural condition of the housing stock, to ensure the provision of safe, 
decent and sanitary housing and stabilization of residential neighborhoods. 

B. The amendment is consistent with the Principles for Guiding Development for the Florida Keys 
Area, Section 380.0552(7), Florida Statute.

For the purposes of reviewing consistency of the adopted plan or any amendments to that plan with the 
principles for guiding development and any amendments to the principles, the principles shall be construed as 
a whole and no specific provision shall be construed or applied in isolation from the other provisions. 

(a) Strengthening local government capabilities for managing land use and development so that local 
government is able to achieve these objectives without continuing the area of critical state concern 
designation.

(b) Protecting shoreline and marine resources, including mangroves, coral reef formations, seagrass beds, 
wetlands, fish and wildlife, and their habitat.

(c) Protecting upland resources, tropical biological communities, freshwater wetlands, native tropical 
vegetation (for example, hardwood hammocks and pinelands), dune ridges and beaches, wildlife, and 
their habitat.

(d) Ensuring the maximum well-being of the Florida Keys and its citizens through sound economic 
development.

(e) Limiting the adverse impacts of development on the quality of water throughout the Florida Keys.
(f) Enhancing natural scenic resources, promoting the aesthetic benefits of the natural environment, and 

ensuring that development is compatible with the unique historic character of the Florida Keys.
(g) Protecting the historical heritage of the Florida Keys.
(h) Protecting the value, efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and amortized life of existing and proposed major 

public investments, including:

1. The Florida Keys Aqueduct and water supply facilities;
2. Sewage collection, treatment, and disposal facilities;
3. Solid waste treatment, collection, and disposal facilities;
4. Key West Naval Air Station and other military facilities;
5. Transportation facilities;
6. Federal parks, wildlife refuges, and marine sanctuaries;
7. State parks, recreation facilities, aquatic preserves, and other publicly owned properties;
8. City electric service and the Florida Keys Electric Co-op; and
9. Other utilities, as appropriate.

(i) Protecting and improving water quality by providing for the construction, operation, maintenance, and 
replacement of stormwater management facilities; central sewage collection; treatment and disposal 
facilities; and the installation and proper operation and maintenance of onsite sewage treatment and 
disposal systems.

(j) Ensuring the improvement of nearshore water quality by requiring the construction and operation of 
wastewater management facilities that meet the requirements of ss. 381.0065(4)(l) and 403.086(10), as 
applicable, and by directing growth to areas served by central wastewater treatment facilities through 
permit allocation systems.

(k) Limiting the adverse impacts of public investments on the environmental resources of the Florida Keys.
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(l) Making available adequate affordable housing for all sectors of the population of the Florida Keys.
(m) Providing adequate alternatives for the protection of public safety and welfare in the event of a natural or 

manmade disaster and for a post disaster reconstruction plan.
(n) Protecting the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the Florida Keys and maintaining the 

Florida Keys as a unique Florida resource.

Pursuant to Section 380.0552(7) Florida Statutes, the proposed amendment is consistent with the Principles 
for Guiding Development as a whole and is not inconsistent with any Principle.  

C. The proposed amendment is consistent with the Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statute (F.S.). 
Specifically, the amendment furthers:

Section 163.3161(4), F.S. – It is the intent of this act that local governments have the ability to preserve and 
enhance present advantages; encourage the most appropriate use of land, water, and resources, consistent with 
the public interest; overcome present handicaps; and deal effectively with future problems that may result 
from the use and development of land within their jurisdictions. Through the process of comprehensive 
planning, it is intended that units of local government can preserve, promote, protect, and improve the public 
health, safety, comfort, good order, appearance, convenience, law enforcement and fire prevention, and 
general welfare; facilitate the adequate and efficient provision of transportation, water, sewerage, schools, 
parks, recreational facilities, housing, and other requirements and services; and conserve, develop, utilize, and 
protect natural resources within their jurisdictions

163.3177(1), F.S. - The comprehensive plan shall provide the principles, guidelines, standards, and 
strategies for the orderly and balanced future economic, social, physical, environmental, and fiscal 
development of the area that reflects community commitments to implement the plan and its 
elements. These principles and strategies shall guide future decisions in a consistent manner and 
shall contain programs and activities to ensure comprehensive plans are implemented. The sections 
of the comprehensive plan containing the principles and strategies, generally provided as goals, 
objectives, and policies, shall describe how the local government’s programs, activities, and land 
development regulations will be initiated, modified, or continued to implement the comprehensive 
plan in a consistent manner. It is not the intent of this part to require the inclusion of implementing 
regulations in the comprehensive plan but rather to require identification of those programs, 
activities, and land development regulations that will be part of the strategy for implementing the 
comprehensive plan and the principles that describe how the programs, activities, and land 
development regulations will be carried out. The plan shall establish meaningful and predictable 
standards for the use and development of land and provide meaningful guidelines for the content of 
more detailed land development and use regulations.

VI. PROCESS

Comprehensive Plan amendments may be proposed by the Board of County Commissioners, the 
Planning Commission, the Director of Planning, or the owner or other person having a contractual 
interest in property to be affected by a proposed amendment.  The Director of Planning shall review and 
process applications as they are received and pass them onto the Development Review Committee and 
the Planning Commission. 

The Planning Commission shall hold at least one public hearing.  The Planning Commission shall 
review the application, the reports and recommendations of the Department of Planning & 
Environmental Resources and the Development Review Committee and the testimony given at the 
public hearing.  The Planning Commission shall submit its recommendations and findings to the Board 
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of County Commissioners (BOCC).  The BOCC holds a public hearing to consider the transmittal of the 
proposed comprehensive plan amendment, and considers the staff report, staff recommendation, and the 
testimony given at the public hearing.  The BOCC may or may not recommend transmittal to the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO).  The amendment is transmitted to DEO, which then 
reviews the proposal and issues an Objections, Recommendations and Comments (ORC) Report.  Upon 
receipt of the ORC report, the County has 180 days to adopt the amendments, adopt the amendments 
with changes or not adopt the amendment.

VII. STAFF RECOMMENDATION

VIII.EXHIBITS

1. Transcription of the BOCC height discussion, from the October 7, 2014 public hearing
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, March 24, 2015 

MEETING MINUTES 

The Monroe County Development Review Committee conducted a meeting on Tuesday,      
March 24 , 2015, beginning at 1:02 p.m. at the Marathon Government Center, Media & 
Conference Room (1st floor, rear hallway), 2798 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL by Gail Creech 
 
DRC MEMBERS 
Townsley Schwab, Senior Director of Planning and Environmental Resources  Present  
Mayte Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning and Environmental Resources  Present 
Mike Roberts, Sr. Administrator, Environmental Resources     Present 
 
STAFF 
Steve Williams, Assistant County Attorney       Present 
Emily Schemper, Principal Planner        Present 
Matt Coyle, Senior Planner         Present 
Gail Creech, Planning Commission Coordinator      Present 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
Mr. Schwab stated Item 2 will be heard first because the applicant for Item 1 is delayed. 
  
MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 
Mr. Schwab approved the minutes of the February 24, 2015, DRC meeting as is. 

 
MEETING 

 
New Items: 
 
2.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICY 
101.4.26 TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT FOR WIND TURBINES 
OWNED AND OPERATED BY A PUBLIC UTILITY; CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO 
ADDRESS NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN 
THE OCEAN REEF COMMUNITY; CREATING POLICIES 101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO 
PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT 
PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; AND 
CREATING POLICY 101.5.34 TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT 
EXCLUSIVELY FOR AFFORDABLE OR EMPLOYEE/WORKFORCE DWELLING UNITS 
THAT MEET THE INCOME LIMITS FOR THE VERY LOW, LOW AND/OR MEDIAN 

creech-gail
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INCOME CATEGORIES ON PROPERTIES DESIGNATED AS TIER 3; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE 
COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-006) 
 
(1:03 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria stated that Items 2 and 3 will be held as a workshop discussion 
versus a staff report with comments.  Both items are from the comp plan update and were 
proposed within the 2030 comp plan.  The BOCC has asked staff to remove the policies as they 
were in the comp plan and process them separately so that there is public understanding and 
public input through the process.  This item will be brought back two or three times to ensure 
revisions can be made with public input. 
 
Ms. Santamaria first addressed Policy 101.4.26.  Ms. Santamaria explained that the current 
height definition is the vertical distance between grade and the highest part of any structure and it 
is measured from either grade or the crown of the nearest road.  Multiple height exceptions have 
been proposed in order to address a variety of issues.  The first one is the wind turbine for 
facilities owned and operated by a public utility.  An avian protection plan would be required.   
The height exception would be for those wind turbines that facilitate green technologies and 
alternative energy sources.  Ms. Santamaria informed Deb Curlee there are no applications for 
wind turbines currently.  
 
Alicia Putney commented that her personal experience has been that wind turbines are not able 
to generate enough current to be deemed useful unless the sustainable winds were above 20-25 
miles an hour.  Consequently, wind is more questionable than solar energy at this point.  Ms. 
Curlee is not in favor of wind turbines because of their aesthetics.  Ms. Santamaria will draft a 
version of the policy as the BOCC has proposed it next to a version that includes the public’s 
input.  Bill Eardley asked that staff obtain an analysis of FKEC’s two wind turbines located on 
Cudjoe Key before proceeding with this policy. 
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policy 101.5.31.  Ms. Santamaria explained that this policy is 
specific to Ocean Reef.  In permitting for that community staff has had to deal with architectural 
features just above the 35-foot height limit.   Staff has recommended the architectural features 
could exceed the 35-foot height limit by five feet, not to exceed 40 feet, and can contain no 
habitable space up there. 
 
Joel Reed was present on behalf of Ocean Reef Community Association and Ocean Reef Club.  
Mr. Reed stated even though Policy 101.5.31 is intended to address non-habitable architectural 
decorative features, it is only one and the least significant of three provisions that Ocean Reef 
has requested.  Mr. Reed explained that Ocean Reef has its own architectural review committee 
that projects go through as well.  One of the longer term issues facing Ocean Reef Club is that 
they still own a number of buildings and condominiums that currently exceed the 35-foot height 
restriction.  These are aging buildings coming to the end of their useful life.  There is concern if 
they are ever destroyed they would not be able to build back to their current heights.  Mr. Reed 
agrees with being proactive by building above the FEMA flood heights.  One policy request from 
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Ocean Reef is for the ability to build back on a story-by-story approach rather than to the pre-
existing height.  Mr. Reed feels allowing this way of rebuilding with an increase in the slab-to-
slab measurement to 11 feet would encourage owners to remodel their buildings rather than 
tearing them down.  Another issue important to Ocean Reef is the Cultural Center building.  
Because the flyover space in this building is limited, the ability to have productions in this 
building is limited also.  Mr. Reed suggested that a height of 65 feet would accommodate that 
flyover space.  Mr. Reed emphasized that the proposed story-by-story rebuilding process is being 
requested for Ocean Reef only, which is an isolated and gated community, not visible from the 
roadway.  Ms. Santamaria asked that Ocean Reef provide information of the cultural center, such 
as a map depiction and its existing height information.  Mr. Reed agreed to provide that 
information, as well as a list of inventoried buildings at Ocean Reef including their existing 
heights. 
 
Ms. Curlee asked for an estimate of the height of a building with an 11-foot slab-to-slab 
allowance plus the flood elevation.  Mr. Reed replied that it depends on the flood zone and the 
average existing grade or crown of road of each site.  Ms. Putney proposed Ocean Reef go 
through a variance procedure for each of the specific buildings because of all the variables 
associated with each building.  Mr. Reed agreed that consideration needs to be given for each 
building individually and stressed that losing a floor would not be an option in rebuilding.  Mr. 
Reed further explained that some communities have minimum ceiling heights so that a more 
adaptable building into the future is built. 
 
Ms. Putney asked if Ocean Reef has its own community master plan containing its own design 
criteria.  Mr. Reed responded that there are architectural design guidelines for Ocean Reef that 
are followed currently and a process is being gone through to update and create a new master 
plan for Ocean Reef.  Ms. Santamaria clarified that it is for Ocean Reef’s own development 
internally, but a Livable CommuniKeys plan or even an overlay district can be proposed.  Ms. 
Putney voiced concern that this policy would open the door for other gated communities 
throughout the Keys to increase their height restriction.  Ms. Santamaria noted that the reason the 
BOCC was even considering this policy is because Ocean Reef is not only gated, but it is 
isolated and separate from the rest of the Keys.  Bill Hunter, present on behalf of Sugarloaf 
Property Owners Association (SPOA), will be taking this request by Ocean Reef back to SPOA 
members for their input.  SPOA recognizes that Ocean Reef is isolated and very different from 
the rest of the Keys.  Mr. Hunter commented that the BOCC has said in the past they do not want 
to treat Ocean Reef differently than the rest of the County.  SPOA is neutral on this policy as 
long as this does not affect the rest of the County.   
 
Mr. Reed explained that there is language that allows Ocean Reef to go through a letter of 
understanding process without going through a conditional use process.  Mr. Reed feels perhaps 
some stronger language would help address the concerns being voiced.  Ms. Putney again 
suggested Ocean Reef have their own Livable CommuniKeys plan which is protected by the 
comp plan.  Mr. Reed pointed out that Ocean Reef has stricter regulations than the rest of the 
County has, such as setbacks.  Ms. Putney suggested adding language referring to gated 
communities over a certain size.  Ms. Curlee believes, regardless of Ocean Reef being isolated 
and gated, the public will expect the same consideration that Ocean Reef receives.  Ms. Putney 
agreed.  Ms. Putney asked to underscore that the BOCC does not want to have special rules for 
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Ocean Reef.  Mr. Reed added that he believes only one Commissioner has expressed that 
sentiment.  Ms. Santamaria stated the BOCC will make the decision of what they choose to adopt 
and/or transmit to the State and will ultimately make the decision of which communities, which 
policies and where they will apply to.   
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policies 101.5.32 and 101.5.33.  Ms. Santamaria explained these 
policies are an attempt to provide existing and new structures the ability to redevelop or lift the 
existing structure to come into compliance with their flood zone.  New FEMA maps are expected 
in four years.  The first provision of Policy 101.5.32 is for new structures to voluntarily elevate 
their structures up to five feet above the 35-foot height limit.  It is based on what they choose to 
elevate above flood.  The second provision of the policy is for existing structures to be able to 
meet their base flood zone or to exceed it.  Again, they can go up to five feet above the 35-foot 
height limit, but this is based on the amount they choose to go up.  The third provision is for 
those structures that need to go a little bit higher to meet their flood zone.  The addition of one 
foot of freeboard above the base flood elevation is provided for.  
 
Bill Eardley stated raising an existing structure is impractical due to the cost.  It is simpler to pay 
off the mortgage and cancel the flood insurance.  Mr. Eardley feels there is no need for the 
exception on new construction because the building can be designed to meet the current 
standards.  Ms. Santamaria explained the exception was proposed because the BOCC did not 
want people to lose living space and be squeezed into smaller homes.  FEMA representatives 
have informed staff a grant program may be created to help with the cost of elevating a home.  
Ms. Santamaria pointed out that some existing structures may not be able to be raised due to its 
structural integrity.  Mr. Roberts pointed out that there has been discussion about including 
bonus points or points under the CRS for communities that provide for an opportunity for 
property owners to elevate their base floor one to three feet above base flood elevation on a 
voluntary basis.  Dottie Moses from the Upper Keys Homeowners Federation stated that the CRS 
looks at encouraging people not to build in low-lying areas.  Ms. Santamaria explained that is 
why the inventory of flood zones was done.  Mr. Hunter expressed concern that the County is 
somehow encouraging building in a very low-lying area where roads will eventually no longer be 
maintained by the County.  Ms. Santamaria clarified that Number 1 is applicable when people 
tear down and build a new structure.  Ms. Putney stated that the number of homes built before 
FEMA came in to Monroe County in ’78 built below the base flood would be a small enough 
number that they could be dealt with through some kind of a development review mechanism as 
opposed to a carte blanche rule.  Ms. Schemper noted that this would give property owners the 
allowance to do it rather than being penalized because of their unique circumstance.  Ms. 
Santamaria stated staff will evaluate that.   
 
Ms. Santamaria then described a situation of a property owner in North Florida who built a home 
less than ten years ago at three feet above flood.  The new FEMA maps now show that home 
being three feet below flood.  Ms. Santamaria explained that the new FEMA maps could impact 
a substantial number of people whose flood insurance premiums are going to skyrocket up 
because of this situation.  FEMA is supposed to take sea level rise into account when creating 
their new maps.  Staff is trying to think into the future to try to facilitate people’s ability to 
protect their homes and investments.  Mr. Hunter suggested, because it is unknown what the 
maps will show, introducing the concept and making allowances for the solution in the comp 
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plan and holding off on the details of the actual solution since modifying the LDRs in the LDC is 
an easier process.  Mr. Schemper cautioned the longer addressing this issue is put off, the more 
homes will be built that are going to be affected.  Ms. Moses stated that at an Army Corps 
meeting comments were made that all of the “easy” lots have been built on and what is left will 
require mitigation and other issues.  Ms. Santamaria will try to run an analysis of the flood zone 
of the vacant parcels in the County.   
 
Mr. Hunter clarified that when he suggested splitting the concept in the comp plan and the detail 
in the LDRs, he was not suggesting delaying the LDRs.  Mr. Hunter further stated more public 
outreach would help in educating the public more on climate change and sea level rise.  Mr. 
Roberts clarified for Mr. Hunter that the County does not have policies in place yet regarding 
replacement of infrastructure in areas potentially susceptible to sea level rise, so the County has 
to proceed under existing policies and directives, which obligates the County to maintain the 
roads.  Ms. Santamaria described a situation in St. Augustine where property owners are suing 
the municipality to maintain a road in a low-lying area so that the people would have access to 
their fire service.  Ms. Curlee asked about regulations regarding filling a lot.  Mr. Roberts 
explained that whether fill is allowed depends on the flood zone.  Ms. Putney added that runoff 
from higher lots into the road is creating a problem for the neighbors and in the canals, as well as 
blocking views and creating shade.  Mr. Williams clarified that situation does not create a 
property rights issue.  Ms. Santamaria noted that the variance procedure could create a staggered 
view line in an area.   
 
Ms. Moses stated the Federation has taken the position they do not want the 35-foot height limit 
raised under any circumstance.  The County has managed to get by under that height limit to date 
with new construction.  Mr. Hunter on behalf of SPOA agreed with Ms. Moses’ comments.  Mr. 
Hunter personally believes more education is needed about freeboard and the benefits of 
freeboard.  Ms. Putney on behalf of Last Stand stated existing buildings should have some kind 
of mechanism for special approval, but that the total raised building could not exceed 40 feet and 
the space created under the first floor should be non-habitable.  Secondly, Last Stand is opposed 
to new construction receiving an exception to the 35-foot height limit.  Mr. Williams noted that 
there is a potential map amendment process to appeal to FEMA to make an exception for a lot.  
The expense of that process was discussed. 
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policy 101.5.33.  Ms. Santamaria explained that this policy 
addresses existing structures that currently exceed the height limit, such as a three or four-story 
condo.  By redeveloping to upgrade the building, coming into compliance with the flood zone 
may result in loss of a story of that condo.  That could potentially result in 20 people on the top 
floor no longer having the ability to rebuild their home.  Ms. Putney questioned why it is 
perceived to affect the top story as opposed to the first story.  Ms. Santamaria stated half of the 
people would lose their home regardless of which story it is.  This policy provides for allowing 
five feet above their existing height.  Ms. Putney stated Last Stand supports this policy provided 
that the footprint of the structure is not changed.  Ms. Santamaria clarified for Ms. Curlee there is 
no cap on the height.  Staff does not have a clear inventory of those structures this policy would 
encompass, but estimates only a handful.  Mr. Reed asked that those who do support this policy 
consider giving some additional slab-to-slab height when rebuilding.  Ms. Putney replied Last 
Stand supports the grandfathering of nonconforming height to certain buildings in Monroe 
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County when redevelopment is involuntary provided the new building height does not exceed 
that of the old building.  As such, compliance with FEMA along with any additional voluntary 
clearance above base flood elevation must be equal to or less than the height of the old 
nonconforming building.  Mr. Hunter stated SPOA agrees as long as the redevelopment is 
involuntary, such as because of fire or flood.  Ms. Santamaria asked if the public in attendance 
considers the new FEMA maps deeming a structure below base flood involuntary.   
 
Mr. Reed does not like the “involuntary” language because it is a very tricky threshold to meet.  
Ms. Santamaria noted the BOCC has tried to direct staff to focus on redevelopment versus trying 
to facilitate a lot of new development.  Mr. Reed clarified that while there is no magic slab-to-
slab number, floor to ceiling heights should be created that are adaptable and can continue to be 
remodeled throughout future years.  Ms. Curlee expressed concern that what is “involuntary” to 
one person may open the door to let somebody else take advantage of this policy.  Ms. 
Santamaria clarified for Ms. Curlee that in almost all situations exceptions to the height limit will 
not allow people to add a story.  In some situations that would be possible.  Ms. Putney believes 
that language should be included to limit in what situations it would be allowed.  Mr. Hunter 
suggested more detail of the buildings in Ocean Reef be gathered to realize the effect this could 
have on the County.  Mr. Reed clarified that his comments regarding slab-to-slab increases were 
specific to the Ocean Reef policy, but feels it might be worth considering for all of 
unincorporated Monroe County.  Ms. Moses is concerned about taking people’s property rights 
away from them.  Mr. Hunter then commented that the “historical designation” language should 
be eliminated. 
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policy 101.5.34.  Ms. Santamaria explained this came out of the 
session of the BOCC at the October meeting to address a different height maximum for very low, 
low and median income affordable employee and work force housing on properties designated 
Tier III.  This was to facilitate having nonresidential development on the first story and allowing 
a couple stories of affordable housing on top.  Mr. Hunter stated SPOA is opposed to this 
amendment.  SPOA believes that the County has the benefit of seeing what the cities have done 
to address this issue before they make a decision on solutions.  Another issue for SPOA is using 
height as a solution to affordable housing in the County where there is more land than the 
County has ROGO allocations for.  Ms. Moses stated the Federation is opposed to raising the 
affordable housing limit.  Key Largo does not have an affordable housing issue.  There are 
affordable housing projects in the Upper Keys district already and some of the way those 
projects are being managed are not the way their deed restrictions have been written.   
 
Ms. Moses pointed out there is no definition for “workforce housing” in the code.  Ms. 
Santamaria replied the Affordable Housing Committee will be addressing that soon.  The BOCC 
hired the FSU Consensus Center to provide a report on the County’s affordable housing issue.  
Ms. Schemper added that the LDC uses the term “affordable housing” or “employee housing,” 
which are defined terms.  “Work force housing” is a more general term.  Mr. Reed argued that 
there is a demand and a need still in the Upper Keys for affordable housing.  Mr. Reed then 
stated it is a severe challenge to find appropriate land of a certain size to accommodate 
affordable housing.  Mr. Eardley is concerned this amendment would open the door for all kinds 
of other development.  Mr. Eardley agrees there are ways to address work force housing without 
going higher, such as making the units smaller.  Ms. Curlee added when talking about truly 
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affordable housing that would be rentals.  Ms. Putney believes this issue is complex and the 
height exception for affordable housing should be dealt with within the arena of the affordable 
housing discussion separate from what is being done today.  Ms. Santamaria clarified this 
amendment would provide the opportunity to build more units, but it also will raise those units 
above base flood.   
 
Ms. Santamaria thanked the public for their comments and stated these comments will be 
included in the staff report and will be back before the DRC again for more comments. 
 
1.Playa Largo Resort, 97450 Overseas Highway, Key Largo, mile marker 97.5:  A public 
meeting concerning a request for an Amendment to a Major Conditional Use Permit.  The 
requested approval is required for the development of a proposed 177-unit hotel and associated 
accessory uses.  The subject property is legally described as Tracts 4B and 5B, Amended Plat of 
Mandalay (Plat Book 2, Page 25), Key Largo, and also a tract of submerged land in the Bay of 
Florida fronting said Tract 5B (TIIF Deed No. 22416), Monroe County, Florida, having real 
estate number 00555010.000000. 
(File 2015-031) 
 
(2:32 p.m.) Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this applicant 
currently has an approved major conditional use permit from 2007 and it has had several 
deviations and time extensions over time.  It is still active.  The most recent deviation has 
approved the site plan for 162 transient units and one commercial apartment, which was 
previously on the site.  The applicant has been issued a number of building permits.  This 
amendment to the major conditional use permit is to add an additional 15 transient units into the 
hotel, the building of which has already been permitted, and that would bring them up to their 
max number net density.  It does not change any footprint on the site plan.  All of the required 
criteria are in compliance.  The only issue that is still outstanding is the traffic and access.  The 
applicant had supplied a Level 2 traffic study with this application, and because of the threshold 
of what is being proposed a Level 3 traffic study is needed.  This may also impact the 
requirement for a right-turn deceleration lane leading into the property.  Ms. Schemper 
recommended approval with conditions.  Those conditions were outlined. 
 
Ms. Santamaria commented that the Planning Commissioners will likely want to see the traffic 
studies so they can take that data into account in their decision-making and make sure that it is 
compliant.  Mr. Roberts asked that Number 7 of the recommended actions be reworded to 
specify the number of allowed docks.  Mr. Roberts will supply that number to Ms. Schemper. 
 
Jorge Cepeda, present on behalf of the applicant, stated he was familiar with the conditions 
contained in the original approval.  Mr. Cepeda asked that Condition 8, the transportation shuttle 
for guests and employees, be considered in the traffic study because that has less of an impact on 
traffic.  Mr. Cepeda asked that the second portion of the language about adequacy of public 
facilities on Page 6 of the report remain part of the recommended action.  Mr. Cepeda clarified 
that no trees will be cut for the mulch exercise path, but there may be some underbrush that may 
need to be accommodated.  Mr. Roberts specified that “clearing” is the removal of any native 
vegetation regardless of the size.  Mr. Roberts asked the applicant to inform staff if the applicant 
is planning on clearing or removing additional vegetation that has not been previously accounted 
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for in the site plan.  Ms. Schemper will look again at the deviation to see exactly how it is 
worded and get back to the applicant regarding the clearing. 
 
Ms. Santamaria asked for public comment.  Ms. Moses asked whether the proposed commercial 
apartment is bayfront.  Ms. Schemper explained it was a previously existing unit, so the 
residential use and density is protected.  Mr. Cepeda stated the apartment is in the same location 
as the prior developer’s site plan.  Ms. Moses then pointed out the site plan shows two entrances.  
Ms. Schemper explained one is an emergency access drive requested by the fire department.  Ms. 
Moses then noted that the front buffer that faces US-1 looks to contain lead tree.  Mr. Cepeda 
replied that the landscaping will be done in the final stage.  The main entrance is the original 
American Outdoor entrance and at the end stage the exotics will be removed and landscaping 
will be done to complete that buffer.  Ms. Moses commented that there are a lot of non-native 
species on the vegetation list.  Mr. Roberts explained that the required vegetation is 100 percent 
native vegetation, but anything planted above the minimum requirement can be anything the 
developer wants.  The developer is overplanting the required landscaping significantly.  Ms. 
Schemper clarified for Ms. Moses that the docking facility on the property is a hotel accessory 
dock, not a marina. 
 
3.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
POLICIES 101.5.8 AND 101.13.5 WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND 
POLICIES 207.1.2 WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL MANAGEMENT 
ELEMENT TO FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFFSHORE ISLANDS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING 
AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 
MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-007) 
 
(2:49 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria stated this item also comes from the comp plan update project.  The 
BOCC asked staff to remove these policies that were included in the comp plan and process them 
separately since it was a new topic and received a lot of attention and people wanted to provide 
input on the topic.  These policies relate to the transfer of ROGO exemptions, density rights, as 
well as where the development would be directed to.   
 
Ms. Santamaria addressed Policy 101.5.8.  Ms. Santamaria explained that, again, this item will 
be handled today more like a workshop-type item. 
 
Bart Smith, Esquire, was present on behalf of FEB Corp.  Mr. Smith asked staff to address all of 
the policies together.  Mr. Smith thanked staff for planning multiple workshops to allow these 
policies to be vetted over a period of time where everyone can work together.  Mr. Smith asked 
staff to provide notice to the affected property owners of these meetings so they can actively 
engage in this process.  Mr. Smith asked staff to contemplate the unintended consequences of 
these policies of not allowing the TDRs and TREs to be transferred to offshore islands and 
designating all offshore islands as Tier I.  Mr. Smith believes this negates the tier system, which 
is the primary tool for determining whether a parcel is suitable for development.  These policies 
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put an inordinate burden on the property owners.  These property owners have some 
development right, all residential in nature.  The code only has two ways that residential can be 
built:  Through ROGO allocation or ROGO exemption.  These islands do not have ROGO 
exemptions because they do not have homes on them, so in order to build residential one would 
have to get a ROGO allocation or transfer a ROGO exemption from somewhere else.  These 
policies eliminate the ability to transfer.  A property is left with requiring a ROGO allocation, but 
the property is designated Tier I.  This would be so limiting that the only use left would be bee-
keeping and temporary camping by the owner.  Mr. Smith asked that staff look at how these 
policies would operate as a whole to get a complete picture of how it would operate. 
 
Ms. Santamaria clarified individual property owners were not notified because this is not 
property-specific and not all properties have their issues resolved with ownership.  This is a 
policy that would impact all privately-owned or even publicly-held offshore islands.  Ms. 
Santamaria further clarified that while the policy has direction of discouraging development by 
designating Tier I does not mean it is an automatic Tier I.  That designation would have to go 
through its proper process to apply a designation to a property.  Ms. Santamaria commented that 
this policy is not a huge change regarding the TREs and the TDRs.  This is a proposed change 
based on the discussions from the BOCC of where to direct the remaining allocations or 
exemptions and where is the most appropriate place to direct development. 
 
Julie Dick on behalf of Last Stand and Florida Keys Environmental Fund thanked staff for the 
workshop process and allowing the public the opportunity to participate in this process.  Last 
Stand thinks that the policies generally are consistent with the concepts of the tier overlay system 
for offshore islands.  Last Stand is generally supportive of the changes.  Ms. Dick commented 
that there are some inconsistencies with the acreage on the inventory.  Ms. Santamaria explained 
the Property Appraiser does not have the exact acreage of a property.  A boundary survey is 
required to determine the upland portions of a property.  Ms. Santamaria will look into any 
discrepancy reported to her.  Ms. Dick further stated Last Stand agrees with the sender and 
receiver site criteria.  For evacuation purposes it make sense to discourage additional 
development on offshore islands.  Last Stand recommends removing significant upland habitat as 
a criteria in Policy 206.1.2.  The reasons to protect offshore islands go beyond whether or not 
they are suited to upland habitat, such as containing bird rookeries.  Ms. Santamaria pointed out 
that under Policy 206.1.2 the significant upland habitat is one of the criteria and it is being made 
consistent with the Tier I criteria. 
 
Ms. Putney asked whether there was a determination made that offshore islands were Tier I when 
the County went to the tier system.  Ms. Santamaria explained Policy 102.7.3 stated that 
designating offshore islands as Tier I lands was one method used to discourage developments 
proposed on offshore islands.  The only offshore islands that are not designated Tier I were the 
ones that were missed by accident and undesignated, but this policy does not automatically 
designate them.  They would still have to go through that process.  The provision exists in the 
LDC that any islands without a specific land use designation shall be considered zoned as 
offshore islands.  The approximately ten offshore islands that were missed and not designated 
were discussed. 
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Ms. Santamaria thanked the members of the public for their participation and invited them to 
participate in the workshop-style meetings scheduled in the future. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
The Development Review Committee meeting was adjourned at 3:15 p.m. 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, May 26, 2015 

MEETING MINUTES 

The Monroe County Development Review Committee conducted a meeting on Tuesday, May 

26, 2015, beginning at 1:00 p.m. at the Marathon Government Center, Media & Conference 

Room (1
st
 floor, rear hallway), 2798 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

ROLL CALL by Gail Creech 

 

DRC MEMBERS 

Mayte Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning and Environmental Resources  Present 

Mike Roberts, Sr. Administrator, Environmental Resources     Present 

 

STAFF 

Steve Williams, Assistant County Attorney       Present 

Rey Ortiz, Planning & Biological Plans Examiner Supervisor    Present 

Lori Lehr, Floodplain Administrator        Present 

Tiffany Stankiewicz, Development Administrator      Present 

Matt Coyle, Senior Planner         Present 

Gail Creech, Planning Commission Coordinator      Present 

 

CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 

There were no changes to the agenda. 

  

MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 

Ms. Santamaria approved the minutes of the April 28, 2015, DRC meeting with one correction of 

a section number that will be submitted to Ms. Creech. 

 

MEETING 

 

New Items: 

 

1.99700 Overseas Highway, Key Largo, mile marker 99:  A public meeting concerning a 

request for a major deviation to a major conditional use permit.  The requested approval is 

required for the proposed development to increase the existing walk-in cooler and to increase the 

size of the existing bathrooms which would increase the amount of non-residential floor area on 

the property.  The subject property is legally described as Lazy Lagoon – A revision of Amended 

Plat of Curry’s Corner, Plat Book 2, Page 120 of public records, Monroe County, Section 33, 

Township 63 South, Range 39 East, Key Largo, Monroe County, Florida (legal description in 

metes and bounds is provided in the application/file), having real estate number 

00497540.000000. 
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(File 2015-093) 

 

(1:01 p.m.) Mr. Ortiz presented the staff report.  Mr. Ortiz reported that the applicant is 

requesting a major deviation to a major conditional use application.  The applicant wants to 

expand the bathroom by approximately six square feet, add a modular component to the rear of 

the building for a walk-in cooler and expand an existing cooler that is currently within the 

setbacks on the rear property line.  The only criteria not met is regarding the variance 

requirement that the site is going to need.  Mr. Ortiz recommends approval to the Planning 

Commission with conditions.  Those conditions were outlined.  Ms. Santamaria confirmed that 

the applicant has submitted a variance application. 

 

Hany Haroun, the applicant, emphasized that this renovation is necessary.  Many hours have 

been spent with Wendy’s International and the County to make this work.  The new kitchen 

configuration in the center of the restaurant is a requirement from Wendy’s International, which 

takes away from the cooler/freezer space and the current storage area.  The extension for the 

sides is due to making the bathrooms ADA compliant.  None of this will be visible from the 

front.  The only setback issue is for the cooler/freezer. 

 

Ms. Santamaria asked for public comment. 

 

Dottie Moses, Key Largo resident, does not object to what is being asked for.  Ms. Moses likes 

the proposed landscaping along the highway.  Ms. Moses commented on the poor drainage that 

exists on the property.  Mr. Haroun explained that the main road was built to drain out towards 

Buttonwood Drive and consequently it floods there all the time.  That is on the County right-of-

way.  The County and State agreed to dig out the French drain and fill it with gravel to address 

the flooding problems.  The tides also affect the drainage in this area.  Ms. Santamaria noted 

when building permits are applied for the applicant will have to comply with the stormwater 

requirements.  Mr. Williams suggested that the applicant provide some documentation from 

Wendy’s International to show the hardship imposed on the applicant for purposes of the 

variance.  Mr. Ortiz asked the applicant to provide an updated site plan. 

 

2.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICY 

101.4.26 TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT FOR WIND TURBINES 

OWNED AND OPERATED BY A PUBLIC UTILITY; CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO 

ADDRESS NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN 

THE OCEAN REEF COMMUNITY; AND CREATING POLICIES 101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO 

PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT 

PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 

PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING 

AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 

MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

(File 2015-006) 
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(1:12 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria presented the staff report.  Ms. Santamaria reported that this item 

started with the comp plan update.  There were policies to amend the height policies, address the 

wind turbines, affordable housing and the flood protection.  The BOCC asked staff to process 

this as a separate stand-alone amendment.  This was before the DRC in March where a lot of 

comments were received.  The flood protection policy generated concerns about the overall 

height exception.  Staff has proposed a policy that includes the reasons why there would be an 

exception with a max height limit of 40 feet and it would be to elevate property three feet above 

base flood elevation (BFE).  The exception for new buildings is to exceed BFE, not just to meet 

it, up to three feet above BFE.  The exception for lawfully existing buildings is to either meet or 

exceed BFE because there are circumstances, depending on the flood zone, where this exception 

will not allow you to exceed BFE.  If it is exceeded, it is only that amount it is exceeded that one 

gets to go above BFE.  Again, it is capped at 40 feet.  The exception would not be allowed in 

high-risk areas. 

 

Ms. Santamaria introduced Ms. Lehr and asked for an update and information on flood zones. 

 

Ms. Lehr explained that one of her roles is to help the County get into the Community Rating 

System (CRS) program, which would result in some discount in flood insurance.  When property 

owners voluntarily elevate their properties they get a reduced premium on their flood insurance.  

For every foot of elevation, the savings is about a quarter of the premium.  After the cap of three 

feet, the discounts fall off.  The cost to elevate a property is recouped quickly in flood insurance 

savings.  Ms. Lehr believes the future of the Florida Building Code and other legislation is going 

to be moving towards the implementation of some sort of freeboard, some sort of elevation 

requirement above BFE.  Ms. Lehr further explained the County is going through a mapping 

process currently.  It will be 2018 before those new maps come out, but the general feeling of 

those maps is that the elevations in some areas will increase, so the required elevations will 

increase. 

 

Ms. Lehr clarified for Ms. Moses a community has to require a higher regulatory standard above 

what is required on the flood insurance rate amounts to get CRS credit.  Florida in general has 

some of the highest scoring communities in the nation.  Ms. Lehr believes Monroe County is 

doing a lot of things to address the flooding that will be worth CRS credit.  There will be changes 

in the Florida Building Code coming up in the next couple of years to address BFE.  Ms. 

Santamaria explained the CRS does not address the top height, so the BOCC gave staff direction 

to look into elevating the height limit so home owners are not squeezed in from the top, causing 

homes to become smaller and smaller.  Ms. Lehr noted that credits are being given for existing 

buildings being elevated as opposed to rebuilt.  The CRS program is very adamant that 

communities do what is good for their floodplain management and protection of their citizens’ 

investments. 

 

Ron Miller, Planning Commissioner and Key Largo resident, questioned why the County has 

become concerned about someone losing habitable space in their structure, because in URM 

parking spaces were required to be under homes, which takes away from habitable space.  Ms. 

Santamaria clarified this proposal is not zoning-specific.  Mr. Miller feels homeowners should be 

amenable to some give-and-take in the loss of some habitable space.  Mr. Miller believes the 

people interested in more living space and more stories are those who are renting illegally.  Ms. 
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Santamaria clarified that the BOCC has become aware of the new FEMA maps coming out and 

want Monroe County to get into the CRS and help the community better protect their property 

and investments. So they have directed staff to address this issue by allowing people to make that 

financial choice themselves.  The whole intent was to better protect our community. 

 

Bill Hunter, Sugarloaf resident, suggested that a definition of “elevate” be proposed.  Mr. Hunter 

mentioned different scenarios of what could fall under the definition of “elevate.”  Ms. 

Santamaria said that staff will consider and look into those different scenarios.  Ms. Lehr 

clarified if a bottom floor was knocked out and used for parking with penthouses built on top of 

the structure, those structures would still be limited by the height restriction from BFE.  Ms. 

Santamaria noted that Policy 101.5.33 is for lawfully established existing buildings which 

already exceed the 35-foot height limit and a top cap of 40 feet is in place unless the owners go 

to a public hearing before the BOCC.  Mr. Hunter then asked for an explanation of why the 

different numbers of 38 and 40 feet are used.  Ms. Santamaria explained that discounts are given 

for one, two and three feet above BFE.  Since discounts are not given above that, the new 

buildings were capped at 38 feet.  The 40-foot limit was added for existing buildings in case they 

needed to raise their property a little bit higher because they do not meet base flood today.  Ms. 

Lehr clarified that the flood insurance policy associated with a structure would receive a different 

rating because of the elevation of that property.  The discount for CRS is completely different.  

The discount for CRS could be in addition to the different rating on the insurance policy for an 

elevation.  Ms. Santamaria noted that no exception will be given to either new or existing 

structures in AE10 through VE10.  That came from the comments made at prior DRC meetings 

about not facilitating redevelopment or new development in higher-risk areas. 

 

Mr. Hunter stated he agrees with Mr. Miller about the ability of Monroe County citizens to live 

under the 35-foot height limit, but is more sympathetic to the owners of existing homes than to 

new construction.  Mr. Miller is concerned for the properties in such a high AE or VE that they 

would not be able to develop a home that was attractive.  Mr. Miller proposed keeping the 35-

foot height limit in the comp plan and allowing for a variance for those so limited that they 

would not be able to develop something architecturally acceptable to the community.  Ms. 

Santamaria stated it would be difficult to create a variance for architectural or visual issues.  

There is no real hardship in that instance. 

 

Naja Girard, Key West resident, commented that people are more concerned over encouraging 

new development in AE and VE areas as opposed to elevating existing homes in those areas.  

Mr. Miller agrees with limiting infrastructure in flood-prone areas, but feels a minimal-size 

house could be able to punch through the height barrier if the owners could show a hardship 

when asking for a variance.  Ms. Lehr explained that the CRS does not take away points.  The 

CRS program credits activity.  Prohibiting development in high-risk areas is credited under the 

CRS.  The emphasis of the program has always been to build safer, more resilient communities. 

 

Jim Hendrick was present on behalf of Ocean Reef Community Association (ORCA) regarding 

Policy 101.5.31.  Mr. Hendrick stated Ocean Reef is an isolated and gated community with a 

distinct community character.  The planning process in Ocean Reef is very tough.  Mr. Hendrick 

said Ocean Reef would like the extra five feet for architectural features.  The largest concern 

with this policy for Ocean Reef is its cultural center.  The cultural center does not have the head 
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room needed to be able to house events that could potentially be put on at this facility.  Mr. 

Hendrick asked for a height limit unique to the Ocean Reef Cultural Center, which was built and 

paid for by the people of Ocean Reef.  Another concern that ORCA has is that any multi-story 

building in existence on the effective date of this policy be able to replace their existing number 

of stories up to 11 feet slab to slab per story.  The Ocean Reef hotels are currently dated with a 

ceiling height of only eight feet.  Ms. Santamaria noted that at the last meeting Joel Reed 

presented this information on behalf of Ocean Reef Club.  Staff had asked for an inventory of 

existing heights of the various structures throughout Ocean Reef.  Nothing has been received to 

date.  Mr. Hendrick will send the complete list to Ms. Santamaria.  Mr. Hendrick emphasized 

this is being asked to apply to Ocean Reef only, which is isolated and does have a distinct 

community character. 

 

Deb Curlee, resident of the Lower Keys, noted that Ocean Reef is still part of Monroe County.  

Mr. Hendrick replied there is an abundant body of policy already recognizing the unique 

circumstances of Ocean Reef.  Ms. Santamaria asked that Ocean Reef consider proposing an 

Ocean Reef specific overlay to address height issues in Ocean Reef.  Mr. Hendrick replied Ocean 

Reef has a very effective self-governance program within the community.  Ms. Santamaria asked 

that the information regarding the various heights as well as the total heights at Ocean Reef be 

sent in to help staff understand what the request is from Ocean Reef.  Mr. Hendrick then 

explained for Ms. Girard how Ocean Reef is self-governed.   

 

Ms. Moses stated the Federation is opposed to punching through the height limit and they feel 

that the 35-foot height limit has been accommodating and there is still room for elevating the 

floodplain.  Ms. Girard on behalf of Last Stand stated that a majority of the properties should be 

able to elevate the buildings as much as needed and still have adequate living space.  Last Stand 

would like to see this turned into a hardship situation that would have to be triggered to go 

through the height barrier. 

 

Mr. Miller asked what would happen to those properties whose flood zone was changed due to 

the FEMA flood maps.  Ms. Santamaria reminded Mr. Miller that no exceptions being given to 

properties in AE10 or VE10 or higher was a result of members of the community not wanting to 

facilitate development of homes within those flood zones.  The owners of those properties would 

have to work within the rules or not build at all.  Ms. Santamaria then confirmed for Mr. Hunter 

that reconstructed structures in Policy 101.5.33 includes those that are demolished and rebuilt.  

Ms. Santamaria explained that the BOCC resolution that specifies the maximum approved height 

is done on a building-by-building basis.  There is currently no limit to that height because it is 

not known what would be needed to meet base flood.  Ms. Santamaria explained that buildings 

over 35 feet currently could only rebuild to 35 feet if they were wiped out by a hurricane. 

 

Ms. Curlee asked why no caps are placed in Policy 101.5.33.  Ms. Santamaria replied that 

building heights would be different depending on how it was measured.  Ideas were proposed for 

the BOCC to consider when making the decision on how high they can go.  Mr. Hunter 

suggested considering the community’s desire to limit the height.  Ms. Santamaria noted a public 

hearing would require surrounding property owner notices being sent out. 
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Mr. Haroun stated he finds it unreasonable to not allow a condo to be built back up so that no 

owners would lose their living space.  Ms. Santamaria pointed out that is why a flood exception 

is being proposed for those property owners.  Mr. Miller noted that his concern is not whether 

they can build back what they had or not, but his concern is that the potential for more habitable 

space in this county is being increased as a result of seeking relief from sea level rise.  

 

Ms. Santamaria then stated the affordable housing has been struck from this proposal at this 

point in time.  Staff will work with the BOCC and the Affordable Housing Committee further in 

that regard.  The other item in this stand-alone amendment is the wind turbines owned and 

operated by a public utility.  At the last meeting members of the public asked what the results 

were from the Keys Energy demonstration project.  It was concluded that the wind towers have 

been proven to be ineffective.  Ms. Moses proposed striking this item altogether.  Ms. Girard 

stated on behalf of Last Stand they would like to see the whole exception to the wind turbines 

stricken.  If someone comes forward and proposes a great plan in the future, then it can be looked 

at with specific considerations in mind. 

 

Ms. Santamaria stated the plan is to bring this amendment back to the DRC and get more data for 

community-specific amendments.  It will be brought back as two items:  One as a comp plan and 

an LDR for more discussion and more input. 

 

3.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

CREATING A DEFINITION OF OFFSHORE ISLAND; AMENDING POLICIES 101.5.8 

AND 101.13.5 WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND POLICY 207.1.2 

WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL MANAGEMENT ELEMENT TO 

FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFFSHORE ISLANDS; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 

PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 

THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE 

COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

(File 2015-007) 

 

(2:38 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria presented the staff report.  Ms. Santamaria reported that this 

amendment has stemmed from the comprehensive plan update process.  There was a lot of 

discussion on where to direct and how to direct development in the future and if it is appropriate 

to go to offshore islands.  The BOCC asked staff to remove this from the general comp plan 

update and process it as a stand-alone amendment.  The definition of “offshore island” has been 

included.  The new provision is that TDRs and TREs would not be allowed to transfer to an 

offshore island.   

 

Ms. Santamaria asked for public comment. 

 

Attorney Nick Batty was present on behalf of FEB Corporation with respect to  

Wisteria Island.  Mr. Batty stated the issues that FEB has with this proposed amendment pertain 

to the receiver sites for TREs have to be within a Tier III designated area and must not be an 

offshore island.  Policy 206.1.2 provides that Monroe County shall discourage the development 



7 
 

of offshore islands which have no prior development and have significant upland habitat by 

discouraging the extension of public facilities and designating the offshore islands as Tier I.  

That makes a scenario where ROGO exemptions cannot be transferred to those islands and at the 

same time bumps them down to a Tier I level for the ROGO allocation program.  Mr. Batty 

pointed out there is no definition proposed for “significant upland habitat.”  Significant upland 

habitat does not necessarily coincide with environmentally sensitive areas.  As a result, areas like 

Wisteria Island, which does not have significant areas of environmentally sensitive habitat, 

would by default be lumped in with a Tier I designation, which is contrary to the intent of the 

code.  Bumping them down to a Tier I in terms of the ROGO allocation system and not allowing 

any transfers of TREs to the area would result in a situation where there would be no beneficial 

uses for the properties.  Mr. Roberts replied that using the blanket and undefined term 

“significant upland habitat” does not account for the differences in the natural features of those 

properties and effectuate the intent of the Tier I and Tier III definitions.  Ms. Santamaria added 

that no changes are being proposed to the Tier III criteria for designating any land.  Mr. Batty 

replied that islands which currently do not have a tier designation and would fit whatever the 

definition is determined to be of “significant upland habitat” and have no prior development 

would be pushed into that Tier I category without any other consideration.  Ms. Santamaria 

stated no particular tier designation is being proposed for any offshore island.  This is simply 

policy, not property specific.  Ms. Santamaria will review this further and consider proposing a 

definition for “significant upland habitat.”  

 

Ms. Girard, on behalf of Last Stand, stated it makes very little difference what is on the upland, 

whether or not there even is upland, because offshore islands are surrounded by shallow waters 

and environmentally sensitive benthic resources and are important for avian species.  Ms. Girard 

emphasized a survey containing 76 different species of native plants and a report regarding the 

importance of Wisteria Island for the white crown pigeons a couple of hundred feet away from 

Wisteria Island are on file with the County.  Last Stand thinks it is extremely appropriate that 

offshore islands be given Tier I designations and that they not be considered as receiver sites 

because they are inappropriate for development in a county that has a limited number of ROGOs 

and is basically facing build-out.  Ms. Santamaria clarified that this is not a property-specific 

amendment.  Ms. Santamaria further clarified that the tier designations are based on upland 

habitat.  Mr. Roberts clarified for Ms. Girard that native areas that provide corridors or wildlife 

access between other larger native areas are part of the Tier I designation.  Mr. Batty pointed out 

it is important to make sure the intent of the code is being effectuated. 

 

Ms. Santamaria asked for further public comment.  There was none.  Public comment was 

closed. 

 

Ms. Santamaria stated staff will review all the comments made and will look at defining 

“significant upland habitat” and bring this back to the DRC for one more round of public input 

before taking it to the Planning Commission. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

The Development Review Committee meeting was adjourned at 2:55 p.m. 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, August 25, 2015 

MEETING MINUTES 

The Monroe County Development Review Committee conducted a meeting on Tuesday,     
August 25, 2015, beginning at 1:00 p.m. at the Marathon Government Center, Media & 
Conference Room (1st floor, rear hallway), 2798 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL by Gail Creech 
 
DRC MEMBERS 
Mike Roberts, Sr. Administrator, Environmental Resources     Present 
Emily Schemper, Comprehensive Planning Manager     Present 
Kevin Bond, Planning & Development Review Manager     Present 
 
STAFF 
Steve Williams, Assistant County Attorney       Present 
Matt Coyle, Senior Planner         Present 
Devin Rains, Senior Planner         Present 
Thomas Broadrick, Senior Planner        Present 
Gail Creech, Planning Commission Coordinator      Present 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
Mr. Roberts announced Items 5 and 6 will be heard first. 
  
MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 
Mr. Roberts deferred approval of minutes to the next DRC meeting. 
  
 

MEETING 
 
New Items: 
 
5.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO ADDRESS NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL 
DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN THE OCEAN REEF COMMUNITY; AND CREATING 
POLICIES 101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE 
HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE 
FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE 
STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING 

creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 7



DRAFT MINUTES 

2 
 

FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-006) 
 
Mr. Roberts presented the staff report.  Mr. Roberts reported that while working on the comp 
plan update the BOCC directed staff to maintain the existing adopted height and offshore island 
policies and to pull the proposed changes for further review and submit as a separate amendment.  
The proposed text amendment has been reviewed at two prior DRC meetings.  Policy 101.5.30 
adds mechanical equipment to the 35-foot limit while excluding certain structures.  There are no 
exceptions to the height limitation in Airport districts.  Policy 101.5.31 for Ocean Reef, which is 
a gated and isolated community with a distinct community character, includes non-habitable 
architectural decorative features that exceed the 35-foot height limit, but such features shall not 
exceed five feet above the building’s roof line.  There are Land Development Code amendments 
to reflect these policies.  Policy 101.5.32 provides that certain buildings voluntarily elevated to 
meet or exceed the FEMA base flood elevation (BFE) may exceed the 35-foot height limit.  New 
buildings voluntarily elevated to exceed the building’s minimum required BFE may exceed the 
35-foot height limit by three feet.  For lawfully established existing buildings which do not 
exceed 35 feet and are voluntarily retrofitted to meet and/or exceed the building’s minimum 
required BFE, an exception of a maximum of five feet above the 35-foot height limit may be 
permitted. 
 
Bill Hunter, resident of Sugarloaf Key, asked for the rationale for the difference of an extra two 
feet between an existing building and a new building.  Mr. Coyle explained that it is to allow a 
homeowner more room to get into compliance and go up.  Mr. Hunter then asked for clarification 
on the definition of “retrofit.”  Mr. Roberts stated that retrofitting means making changes to an 
existing building to protect it from flooding or other hazards.  Demolition and reconstruction of a 
new structure would not fit within that definition. 
 
Dottie Moses, on behalf of the Federation of Homeowners Association, stated that the Federation 
consistently maintains its opposition to raising the height limit.  Ms. Moses asked who is 
requesting the height increase.  Mr. Roberts replied that this amendment was staff-initiated at the 
direction of the BOCC.  Ms. Moses believes that the recent change in the code that allows 
setbacks being used for parking in URM zones will result in another floor of bedrooms being 
added under this amendment, which will increase density.  The hurricane evacuation issue is 
always a concern in the community, also.  Ms. Moses then asked where the exception provided 
for properties located in the AE 10 or VE 10 or greater FEMA flood zones originated.  Ms. 
Schemper will look into that for Ms. Moses.  Ms. Schemper added that this item will be brought 
back to the DRC one more time. 
 
Joel Reid, on behalf of Ocean Reef Club and Ocean Reef Community Association, commented 
that these two associations have asked for height changes to address their community concerns.  
Mr. Reid expressed disappointment that some items Ocean Reef has been asking for have not 
been included in the staff report.  Mr. Reid then asked for clarification regarding architectural 
elements exceeding 40 feet under Policy 101.5.33.  Ms. Schemper explained that Policy 101.5.33 
applies to lawfully established buildings that are already over 35 feet high.  The intent is if it was 
a pre-existing feature, then the BOCC could approve it, but if it is a proposed architectural 
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feature an exception would not be given if it is over 40 feet.  Mr. Reid stated Ocean Reef would 
like some protection in order for residents to be able to build back their structures without losing 
their views.  Ms. Schemper pointed out that this amendment is to protect what is already in 
existence while also meeting the flood requirements.  The existing intensity or density type of 
use would be protected.  Policy 101.5.33 does not specifically address increasing slab-to-slab 
heights.  That would have to be approved by the BOCC if over 40 feet.  The mechanism of going 
through the approval process to the BOCC has not been thoroughly fleshed out.  That would be 
in the Land Development Code portion of the amendment.  Mr. Reid asked how rebuilding and 
doing modifications to the Ocean Reef Cultural Center and boat storage area would be handled.  
Ms. Schemper responded that the full amount of data in those issues has not been received by 
staff at this point. 
 
6.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
POLICIES 101.5.8 AND 101.13.5 WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND 
POLICIES 207.1.2 WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL MANAGEMENT 
ELEMENT TO FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFFSHORE ISLANDS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING 
AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 
MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-007) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this is another item 
originally contemplated during the comp plan update.  Staff was directed by the BOCC to pull it 
out as a separate text amendment.  This was already reviewed at two DRC meetings and has been 
continued to this meeting to get additional public review, input and discussion.  The proposed 
changes are about where development in terms of TDRs and the transfer of ROGO exemptions 
are directed.  Existing Policy 101.5.8 allows for the transfer of units based on certain criteria.  
The new policy expands the criteria and has additional standards to utilize the tier system.  The 
sender site must be located in Tier I, II, or III-A, or any tier designation if it is within the military 
installation impact overlay.  The receiver site must have a future land use category ability and 
zoning district that allows the use, must meet the adopted density standards, include all 
infrastructure, be located within Tier III and may not be within a V zone or a CBRS unit.  The 
comprehensive plan specifies specific habitat types and the certain zoning districts that were 
allowed on sender site TDRs.  The offshore island zoning category is specifically identified as an 
eligible sender site.  The new proposed policy utilizes the tier designation to specify the sender 
site because this already accounts for both habitat types and zoning districts that were in the 
existing policy.  The new policy states only parcels designated Tier III can be receiver sites and 
they must have an adopted maximum net density standard, which would be based on their zoning 
category.  Ms. Schemper reviewed Policy 206.1.2, which prohibits development on offshore 
islands, and the definition of significant native upland habitat.  This item will be brought back to 
the DRC one more time. 
 
Julie Dick with Everglades Law Center, present on behalf of Florida Keys Environmental Fund 
and Last Stand, believes Policy 206.1.2 is redundant and is addressed somewhere else in the 
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comp plan.  Ms. Dick suggested eliminating the entire policy because any confusion resulting 
from this policy leaves the door open to misinterpretation.  Ms. Dick supports Policy 101.6.8 in 
making sure that offshore islands are not receiver sites. 
 
Bart Smith, Esquire, commented that generally he appreciates the revisions made to the 
obtaining and transferring of TDRs.  On behalf of FEB Corp. Mr. Smith stated most of the 
receiver site criteria in the staff report seems very logical.  Mr. Smith does not, however,  feel 
that the sixth criteria that blanketly prohibits offshore islands from being receiver sites is logical 
because there is not any data and analysis identifying the reasons why an offshore island cannot 
be a receiver site.  Mr. Smith feels that the definition of “significant native upland habitat” is a 
well-thought-out definition.  Mr. Smith stated everything in the proposed ordinance makes 
logical sense and is conforming except for the blanket prohibition of offshore islands. 
 
Naja Girard, speaking on behalf of Last Stand, addressed Mr. Smith’s comments by responding 
that one thing different about offshore islands is that shallow waters surround the offshore 
islands and include benthic resources that the comp plan directs the County to protect.  
Encouraging development on offshore islands would require the acceptance of all the boating 
traffic that would be created as a result of that development.  Ms. Girard agrees that Policy 
206.1.2 is redundant and changes the normal way offshore islands are designated Tier I, which 
could result in confusion on its interpretation.  Ms. Girard believes this weakens the protection of 
all offshore islands.  Ms. Girard also believes there is not accurate data on what actually exists on 
these islands. 
 
1.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY LAND USE DISTRICT 
(ZONING) MAP FROM INDUSTRIAL (I) AND COMMERCIAL FISHING AREA (CFA) TO 
MIXED USE (MU), FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT APPROXIMATE MILE MARKER 9, 
DESCRIBED AS A PARCEL OF LAND IN SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 67 SOUTH, RANGE 
26 EAST, BIG COPPITT KEY, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE 
NUMBER 00120940.000100, AND FROM INDUSTRIAL (I) TO COMMERCIAL 2 (C2) FOR 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT APPROXIMATE MILE MARKER 9, DESCRIBED AS FOUR 
PARCELS OF LAND IN SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 67 SOUTH, RANGE 26 EAST, 
ROCKLAND KEY, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBERS 
00122080.000000, 00122081.000200, 00122010.000000 AND 00121990.000000, AS 
PROPOSED BY ROCKLAND OPERATIONS, LLC AND ROCKLAND COMMERCIAL 
CENTER, INC.; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND 
PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR 
AMENDMENT TO THE LAND USE DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2012-069) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this item is a zoning 
amendment to accompany a FLUM amendment which has already been transmitted by the 
BOCC to DEO.  Staff has received the objections, recommendations and comments report on the 
FLUM amendment.  DEO’s objection was that it was increasing the potential residential 



DRAFT MINUTES 

5 
 

development and should be revised to allow other residential uses.  The original deadline for 
adopting that FLUM amendment was September 19, but staff has asked for an extension based 
on the applicant’s delay and the new deadline is March 15, 2016.  The current zoning 
amendment would be required to match the FLUM amendment.  The applicant is required to 
revise the total FLUM amendment to include a comp plan policy that would limit any residential 
development on the site to affordable housing only.  This affects only the northernmost L-shaped 
parcel on the map.  The southern parcels are proposed to become commercial with no residential 
density.  Today’s discussion concerns the zoning portion of the amendment.  The net change in 
development for the entire site will actually be a reduction in residential density.  The Big 
Coppitt portion of the site would have an increase in affordable residential, but the proposed 
comp plan policy will limit all residential development to affordable housing on that site.  Staff 
has found that any impact is not anticipated to have an adverse effect on community character.  
Staff has found no adverse effects for traffic circulation.  There is sufficient capacity for the 
public facilities for potential development under this zoning amendment.  Staff has found that the 
proposed amendment is consistent with the Monroe County comprehensive plan and the Land 
Development Code.  The proposed zoning map amendment is necessary to be consistent with the 
proposed FLUM amendment that the BOCC has already recommended and transmitted to the 
State.  Staff recommends approval of the proposed amendment.  This is contingent on the 
adoption of the FLUM amendment. 
 
Deb Curlee, resident of Cudjoe Key, asked what the Navy has to say about this amendment.  Ms. 
Schemper replied that the portion of affordable housing is actually in the noise zone at the 
greatest distance compared to the rest of the property.  Bart Smith, Esquire, agreed and added 
that the requirement to sound-attenuate to the level the Navy requests is specifically written in to 
the site-specific zoning.  
 
2.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
FROM RESIDENTIAL CONSERVATION (RC) TO RECREATION (R) AND 
CONSERVATION (C), FOR PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS A PARCEL OF LAND IN 
SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 59 SOUTH, RANGE 40 EAST, KEY LARGO, MONROE 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND ALSO BEING A PORTION OF TRACT A, HARBOR COURSE 
SOUTH, SECTION ONE, OCEAN REEF PLAT NO. 14 (PLAT BOOK 7, PAGE 9), KEY 
LARGO, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBER 
00573690.003900, AS PROPOSED BY OCEAN REEF CLUB INC.; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE 
COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND FOR AMENDMENT TO THE FUTURE LAND 
USE MAP; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-047) 
3.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY LAND USE DISTRICT 
(ZONING) MAP FROM NATIVE AREA (NA) TO PARKS AND REFUGE (PR) AND 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT (CD), FOR PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS A PARCEL OF 
LAND IN SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 59 SOUTH, RANGE 40 EAST, KEY LARGO, 
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MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND ALSO BEING A PORTION OF TRACT A, HARBOR 
COURSE SOUTH, SECTION ONE, OCEAN REEF PLAT NO. 14 (PLAT BOOK 7, PAGE 9), 
KEY LARGO, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBER 
00573690.003900, AS PROPOSED BY OCEAN REEF CLUB INC.; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENT TO THE LAND USE 
DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-048) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff reports.  Ms. Schemper reported that these two amendments 
are FLUM and zoning amendments that coordinates with one another for a parcel within Ocean 
Reef proposed by Ocean Reef Club.  The site is 11 acres and currently has a FLUM designation 
of Residential Conservation with a zoning category of Native Area.  The property owners would 
like to develop a park on a portion of the site and are requesting to change the FLUM to 9.5 acres 
of Conservation and a little over 1.5 acres of Recreation for the FLUM and, corresponding to 
that, 9.5 acres of Conservation zoning and 1.5 acres of Park and Refuge zoning.  The density and 
intensity change for this amendment would be a decrease in both residential and non-residential 
density and intensity.  There is no adverse impact on community character and no additional 
impact foreseen for any of the public facilities.  Staff has found both proposed amendments 
would be consistent with the comp plan and the Land Development Code and is consistent with 
the principles for guiding development.  These amendments support Ocean Reef’s desire to 
increase some of the park and recreational space within the community based on an increase in 
the number of families with children currently in their community.  If the corresponding FLUM 
amendment is transmitted to the State and adopted, then the zoning plan would be required to 
remain consistent with the FLUM.  Staff is recommending approval of the FLUM amendment 
from Residential Conservation to Conservation and Recreation and staff is recommending 
approval of the zoning amendment from Native Area to Parks and Refuge and Conservation 
district.  The zoning recommendation would be contingent on the approval and effectiveness of 
the proposed FLUM amendment that corresponds with this.   
 
Joel Reid, the representative of the applicant, stated that Ocean Reef Club is always looking to 
enhance the community’s experience and meet their needs for the community members. 
 
Mitch Harvey, resident of Key Largo, asked whether Mr. Roberts had any concern with clearing 
of upland habitat of protected species of 1.71 acres for the sole purpose of providing a park for 
homeowners.  Mr. Roberts replied that the applicant is required to coordinate directly with U.S. 
Fish & Wildlife for the protection of these species.  The County’s clearing requirements would 
fall back to the original development orders for Ocean Reef Club because it is not dictated by the 
tier clearing limits in the code. 
 
 
4.PL OCEAN RESIDENCES, 97801 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY, KEY LARGO, MILE 
MARKER 98:  A PUBLIC MEETING CONCERNING A REQUEST FOR A MINOR 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.  THE REQUESTED APPROVAL IS REQUIRED FOR THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF A PROPOSED 24 ATTACHED DWELLING UNITS DESIGNATED AS 
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AFFORDABLE HOUSING, 28 DETACHED DWELLING UNITS OF MARKET RATE 
HOUSING, AND ASSOCIATED AMENITIES.  THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IS DESCRIBED 
AS PARCELS OF LAND LOCATED IN SECTIONS 5 AND 6, TOWNSHIP 62 SOUTH, 
RANGE 39 EAST, KEY LARGO, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL 
ESTATE NUMBERS 00090810.000000, 00090820.000000, 00090840.000000, 
00090840.000100, AND 00090860.000000. 
(File 2015-049) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this is a request for a 
minor conditional use permit which is required because the applicant is requesting to develop 24 
attached dwelling units.  Within the Urban Residential zoning category that use requires a minor 
conditional use permit.  The development is reviewed by staff as a whole for consistency sake.  
The total proposal is requesting 24 attached dwelling units as affordable housing and 28 detached 
dwelling units as market rate housing.  The site’s current characteristics and zoning were 
described.  The site has ROGO exemptions for 20 permanent dwelling units. 
 
Ms. Schemper then listed the categories where staff has found either compliance is still to be 
determined or the site was found not in compliance.  Compliance with the residential ROGO is 
to be determined because at the time of the building permit is when the applicant applies for their 
ROGO allocations.  An additional eight market rate ROGO allocations and 24 affordable 
housing ROGO allocations would be needed.  Permitted uses is listed as not in compliance 
because the attached residential dwelling units are permitted with the condition that sufficient 
common areas for recreation are provided to serve the number of dwelling units proposed to be 
developed.  Compliance is to be determined on residential density and maximum floor area 
because the site requires 7.6 transferred development rights which are done at the time of the 
building permit.  Compliance is to be determined on required open space because the 
calculations were not comparable of the upland area on the site plan.  Mr. Roberts noted that the 
indicated shoreline setbacks were either incorrect or not clearly depicted on the site plan.   
 
Ms. Schemper continued to report that most of the non-shoreline setbacks are in compliance at 
this point, but the setback lines shown on the site plan are not necessarily the correct lines in 
every situation.  The surface water management will be dealt with for full compliance at the time 
of permit application.  Mr. Roberts noted that there was conflicting information on the site plan 
regarding the depth to ground water.  Ms. Schemper continued to report that there are 
inconsistencies on the site plan regarding the height of the fencing and privacy wall.  The privacy 
wall shown on the site plan separates the site completely between the attached units and the 
detached units, which basically turns the parcel into two separate developments and they would 
each need to meet all of the land development regulations on their own.  Some sort of connection 
is needed between the two.  Compliance for flood plain, energy conservation and potable water 
is to be determined, as well as environmental design criteria and mitigation, at the building 
permit stage.  The required parking is also affected by the separation between the two types of 
units on the site plan.  The total number of parking spaces is sufficient if the site is viewed as a 
whole.  The required bufferyards are not in compliance because the site plan shows some 
incorrect bufferyards.  Mr. Roberts added that the property was rezoned from URM to UR and 
the URM boundary buffers are being shown.   
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Ms. Schemper continued to report that the square footage of the signage proposed has some 
issues and recommended that the signage be done separately as part of the fence permit at the 
time of the building permit.  The access is currently under review by the County’s traffic 
consultant.  The site plan shows the County standards on U.S.1, but also needs to comply with 
FDOT standards.  Compliance is to be determined on inclusionary housing at the time of the 
building permit because when the tenth permanent market rate unit gets its certificate of 
occupancy, a certificate of occupancy is required on at least three of the affordable housing units, 
and a proportional increase continues accordingly throughout the development.  Given all of 
those items, staff still recommends approval.  A list of 22 conditions required are listed in the 
staff report. 
 
Jorge Cepero, present on behalf of the applicant, clarified that there is still one structure, a 
gatehouse, in the front of the property that was not demolished. 
 
Robert Ginter, owner of an adjoining property, is concerned about the fencing and buffers to 
protect the neighborhood.  Ms. Schemper explained that there are quite a few buffers on the site 
plan.  There is an access off of First Street for a portion of the property.  Ms. Schemper will 
make the site plan available to Mr. Ginter at the end of today’s meeting. 
 
Mitch Harvey, resident of Key Largo, is concerned that this is the one time that the public has a 
chance to review this proposal and there are so many items still not deemed to be in compliance.  
Ms. Schemper explained that there is a 30-day notice that goes out that says the Planning 
Director intends to issue the minor conditional use permit, as well as a legal ad.  The Planning 
Director’s decision will not be made until these items are all fulfilled.  The revised proposal will 
be available through the Planning Department. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
The Development Review Committee meeting was adjourned at 2:32 p.m. 
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Note: As of October 2014 there are approximately 56,843 parcels in 
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MEMORANDUM 
MONROE COUNTY PLANNING & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 

 
 
To: Monroe County Development Review Committee 
 Mayté Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning & Environmental Resources 
 
From:  Mayté Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning & Environmental Resources 

Emily Schemper, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
 
Date:  October 16, 2015 
 
Subject: AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
CREATING A DEFINITION OF OFFSHORE ISLAND; AMENDING POLICIES 
101.5.8 AND 101.13.5 WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND 
POLICY 207.1.2 WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL 
MANAGEMENT ELEMENT TO FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
OFFSHORE ISLANDS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL 
TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF 
STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. (File 
2015-007) 

 
Meeting: October 27, 2015 - continued from March 24, 2015, May 26, 2015 & August 25, 2015 
 

 
I. REQUEST 

 
The Monroe County Planning & Environmental Resources Department is proposing an 
amendment to revise the policies related to the development of offshore islands in regards to 
the use of transfer of development rights (TDRs) and transfer of ROGO exemptions (TREs). 
 

II. BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 

The County has been working on the Comprehensive Plan update and has held numerous 
public hearings on the proposed amendments.  Most recently, the Board of County 
Commissioners (BOCC) held special public meetings on March 21, 2014, April 23, 2014 and 
May 22, 2014, to review proposed amendments to the Comprehensive Plan. A special BOCC 
public hearing was held on July 23, 2014, to consider the transmittal of the proposed 
amendments (the Monroe County 2030 Comprehensive Plan) to the Florida Department of 
Economic Opportunity (DEO) and this hearing was continued to October 7, 2014.  
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The Monroe County Board of County Commissioners held a special meeting on October 7, 
2014, to consider the transmittal of the proposed amendments (the Monroe County 2030 
Comprehensive Plan) to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) and the 
hearing was continued to December 10, 2014, to discuss the following: 

• Policies 101.5.31 and 101.5.32: BOCC directed staff to work on height policies for 
addressing the replacement of existing buildings which exceed the 35ft height limit, 
architectural features, flood protection purposes and affordable housing. Staff to 
present drafts during the regular December BOCC meeting. 

• BOCC directed staff to work on an inventory/data of privately-owned offshore islands. 
Staff to present draft during the regular December BOCC meeting. 

 
During the regular December 10, 2014 BOCC meeting, a public hearing was held to discuss 
proposed height and offshore island policies and to consider the transmittal of the proposed 
amendments (the Monroe County 2030 Comprehensive Plan) to the DEO.  The BOCC directed 
staff to maintain the existing adopted height and offshore island policies and to extract the 
proposed changes to the offshore island policies and process it as a separate amendment.  A 
special BOCC transmittal hearing was set for January 14, 2015 for the proposed the Monroe 
County 2030 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The Monroe County Board of County Commissioners, at a special meeting on January 14, 
2015, unanimously passed a motion to direct staff to impose a temporary suspension upon 
certain development applications of Offshore Islands due to pending legislation (updates to the 
Comprehensive Plan). 
 
During the regular January 21, 2015 BOCC meeting, the Monroe County Board of County 
Commissioners adopted Resolution No. 022-2015 directing the Monroe County Planning and 
Environmental Resources Department to process an Ordinance to defer the approval of 
applications for the transfer of development rights to offshore islands, transfer of ROGO 
exemptions to offshore islands, tier amendments for offshore islands, map amendments for 
offshore islands to increase potential density or intensity and text amendments to increase 
development potential (density/intensity). 
 
DRC: At its regularly scheduled meeting on March 24, 2015, the Monroe County Development 
Review Committee reviewed the proposed text amendment and held a workshop format 
meeting to allow for extensive public review and comment. The information provided in the 
staff report and comments from the public were discussed at the meeting.  The text amendment 
was continued to a future DRC meeting to allow for additional public review, input and 
discussion early in the process. Minutes from the March 24, 2015 DRC are attached as Exhibit 
1. 
 
DRC: At its regularly scheduled meeting on May 26, 2015, the Monroe County Development 
Review Committee reviewed the proposed text amendment and held a workshop format 
meeting to allow for extensive public review and comment. The information provided in the 
staff report and comments from the public were discussed at the meeting.  The text amendment 
was continued to a future DRC meeting to allow for additional public review, input and 
discussion early in the process. Minutes from the May 26, 2015 DRC are attached as Exhibit 2. 
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DRC: At its regularly scheduled meeting on August 25, 2015, the Monroe County Development 
Review Committee reviewed the proposed text amendment and held a workshop format meeting 
to allow for extensive public review and comment. The information provided in the staff report 
and comments from the public were discussed at the meeting.  The text amendment was 
continued to a future DRC meeting to allow for additional public review, input and discussion 
early in the process. Minutes from the August 25, 2015 DRC are attached as Exhibit 3. 
 

 
III. ANALYSIS OF PROPOSED AMENDMENT 
 
The proposed changes relate to where development, in terms of the transfer of development rights 
(density) and transfer of ROGO exemptions (lawfully-established unit) are directed. 
 
Transfer of ROGO exemptions or TREs: existing Policy 101.5.8 allowed for the transfer of units, 
based on the following criteria: occurs within the same ROGO sub-area, provided the units are 
lawfully existing and can be accounted for in the County’s hurricane evacuation model. In addition, 
the receiver site shall be located within a Tier III area outside a designated Special Protection Area 
and for a receiver site on Big Pine Key and No Name Key, the sending site shall also be located on 
one of those two islands. 
 
The new proposed policy expands the criteria to provide additional standards and utilize the Tier 
System: 

Sender Site must be located in a Tier I, II, or III-A designated area; or any tier designation 
within the County’s Military Installation Area of Impact (MIAI) Overlay. 
 
Receiver Site criteria:  

• The Future Land Use category and Land Use (Zoning) District must allow the 
requested use; 

• Must meet the adopted density standards; 
• Includes all infrastructure (potable water, adequate wastewater treatment and disposal 

wastewater meeting adopted LOS, paved roads, etc.); 
• Located within a Tier III designated area; and 
• Structures are not located in a velocity (V) zone or within a CBRS unit. 

 
Transfer of development rights or TDRs: 
 
The existing Comprehensive Plan Policy 101.13.4 (TDR) specifies habitat types (hammock, 
wetlands, etc.) and certain zoning districts that are allowable sender sites for TDRs. The Offshore 
Island (OS) zoning category is specifically identified as an eligible sender site (note, this does not 
mean the general/glossary term of offshore island: an area of land, surrounded by water, which is not 
directly or indirectly connected to U.S. 1 by a bridge, road or causeway - it is the zoning category).  
 
The new proposed Policy 101.13.3 (TDR) utilizes Tier designation to specify allowable sender sites 
because it reflects both the habitat types and several of the zoning districts utilized in existing Policy 
101.13.4. 
 
Tier designations are based mainly on the environmental characteristics of the land and other items 
such as: Tier 1 category (Policy 205.1.1) includes lands within state/federal acquisition boundaries; 
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known locations of threatened and endangered species; and lands designated as Conservation and 
Residential Conservation on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) (note, the Offshore Island (OS) 
zoning category falls under the Residential Conservation FLUM).  
 
TDRs are utilized by applicants to get enough density to build proposed dwelling units - both 
residential and transient. Specifically, maximum net density is the maximum density allowed with 
the use of TDRs (Policy 101.13.3).  
 
The new proposed Policy 101.13.3 also utilizes Tier designation to specify receiver sites for TDRs. 
Under the new policy, only parcels designated as Tier III – infill areas, may be receiver sites. The 
policy also specifies that receiver sites must have an adopted maximum net density standard.   
 
INVENTORY/DATA OF PRIVATELY-OWNED OFFSHORE ISLANDS: 
 
During the Comprehensive Plan update, the BOCC requested an inventory/data of privately-owned 
offshore islands.  This information is attached as Exhibit 4 (table) and Exhibit 5 (maps). 
 
For these exhibits, staff utilized the previously proposed definition of offshore island which means 
an area of land, surrounded by water, which is not directly or indirectly connected to U.S. 1 by a 
bridge, road or causeway. 
 
Additionally, staff utilized the County’s GIS data to provide Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
designation, Land Use (Zoning) District, Tier designation and approximate upland acres for each 
privately owned offshore island. 
 
Based on the data analyzed, the following offshore islands appear to have residential development 
potential; however, it should be noted that Wisteria Island and Ballast Key do not have a FLUM or 
Tier designation: 
 

Map Name RE Number FLUM 
FLUM 

Residential 
Allocated 
Density 

Approx. 
Residential 

Development 
Potential  

Zoning 
Zoning 

Residential 
Allocated 
Density 

Approx. 
Residential 

Development 
Potential  

Tier 

Estimated 
Upland 
Acres 

Based on 
GIS Data  

Estimated 
Total 
Acres 

Pumpkin 
Key 

 
 

(Map #2) 

00091210-000100 
00091210-000200 
00091210-000600 
00091210-000300 
00091210-000000 
00091210-000700 
00091210-001000 
00091210-001400 
00091210-001200 
00091210-001500 
00091210-000800 
00091210-000500 
00091210-000400 
00091210-001600 
00091210-001100 
00091210-000900 
00091210-001300 

RM 
 

1/lot 
 

17 
 

IS 
 

1/lot 
 17 ORCA 

 
24.18 

 
25.05 
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Map Name RE Number FLUM 
FLUM 

Residential 
Allocated 
Density 

Approx. 
Residential 

Development 
Potential  

Zoning 
Zoning 

Residential 
Allocated 
Density 

Approx. 
Residential 

Development 
Potential  

Tier 

Estimated 
Upland 
Acres 

Based on 
GIS Data  

Estimated 
Total 
Acres 

Toms 
Harbor 
Keys 

 
 

(Map # 10) 
 

00098970-000000 RC 0.25 2.66 OS 0.10 1.07 I 10.65* 49.40* 

Little Palm 
Island 

 
 

(Map # 16 
& 18) 

 

00107880-000000 MC 6.00 25.20 DR 1.00 4.20 I 4.20 4.20 

Wisteria 
Island 

 
 

(Map # 33) 
 

00123950-000000 Undesig- 
nated     OS 0.10 1.87 Undesig- 

nated 18.7 39.03 

Ballast Key 
 
 

(Map # 34) 
 

00124030-000000 Undesig- 
nated     OS 0.10 1.31 Undesig- 

nated 13.1 14.28 

*survey data 
 

 
 
 
IV. PROPOSED AMENDMENT  

(Deletions are stricken through and additions are underlined.) 
Note: items shaded in grey were included in the January 14, 2015 Comp Plan transmittal.  

 
Policy 101.56.8 
Monroe County may develop a program, called shall maintain a Transfer of ROGO Exemption 
(TRE),) program, that would allowallows for the transfer off-site of dwelling units, hotel 
rooms, campground/recreational vehicle spaces and/or mobile homes to another site in the 
same ROGO sub-area, provided that they are lawfully existing and can be accounted for in the 
County’s hurricane evacuation model.  Dwelling units may be transferred as follows:  

a. between sites in the Upper Keys ROGO sub-area;  
b. between sites in the Lower Keys ROGO sub-area; 
c. between sites in the Big Pine Key and No Name Key ROGO sub-area; 

i. units from the Big Pine Key and No Name Key ROGO sub-area may also be 
transferred to the Lower Keys ROGO subarea. 

 
No sender units may be transferred to an area where there are inadequate facilities and services.   
In addition, the receiver site shall be located within a Tier III area outside a designated Special 
Protection Area and for a receiver site on Big Pine Key and No Name Key, the sending site 
shall also be located on one of those two islands. 
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Sender Site Criteria: 
1. Contains a documented lawfully-established sender unit recognized by the County; and 
2. Located in a Tier I, II, or III-A designated area; or any tier designation within the 

County’s Military Installation Area of Impact (MIAI) Overlay. 
 

Receiver Site Criteria: 
1. The Future Land Use category and Land Use (Zoning) District must allow the requested 

use; 
2. Must meet the adopted density standards; 
3. Includes all infrastructure (potable water, adequate wastewater treatment and disposal 

wastewater meeting adopted LOS, paved roads, etc.); 
4. Located within a Tier III designated area; 
5. Structures are not located in a velocity (V) zone or within a CBRS unit; and 
6. Is not an offshore island. 

 
Policy 101.13.4 
In conjunction with the evaluation of the existing TDR program pursuant to Policy 101.13.2, 
parcels within the following habitats and land use districts shall be designated as sender sites 
for Transferable Development Rights (TDRs): 

Any parcel within these zoning categories: 
Offshore Island (OS) Sparsely Settled (SS) 
Main land Native (MN) Parks and Refuge (PR) 
Native (NA) Conservation (C) 

Habitat of the following types which lie within any zoning category: 
Freshwater wetlands 
Saltmarsh/Buttonwood wetlands 
High quality high hammock 
High quality low hammock 
Moderate quality high hammock 
Moderate quality low hammock 
High quality pinelands 
Low quality pinelands 
Beach/berm 
Palm Hammock 
Cactus Hammock 
Disturbed Wetlands 

 
Policy 101.13.53 
In conjunction with the evaluation of the TDR program pursuant to Policy 101.13.2 and no 
later than one year from the date when the County's Geographic Information System is fully 
functional, Monroe County shall map potential TDR sender and receiver sites as specified in 
Policy 101.13.4, and shall map parcels from which development rights have been transferred.  
These maps shall be updated as necessary and made available to Growth Management staff and 
public for use in the development review process. 
Transfer of Development Rights program sender and receiver sites are subject to the following 
transfer conditions:  
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Sender Site Criteria: 
1. Located in a Tier I, II or III-A designated area. 
2. Located in a Tier I, II, or III-A designated area; or any tier designation within the 

County’s Military Installation Area of Impact (MIAI) Overlay. 
 
Receiver Site Criteria:  

1. The Future Land Use category and Land Use (Zoning) District must allow the requested 
use;  
• Liveable CommuniKeys Community Centers shall be encouraged as receiving areas 
for transfer of development rights. 

2. Must have an adopted maximum net density standards;  
3. Includes all infrastructure (potable water, adequate wastewater treatment and disposal 

wastewater meeting adopted LOS, paved roads, etc.) 
4. Located within a Tier III designated area;  
5. Is not located within a designated CBRS unit; and 
7. Is not an offshore island 
 

Policy 207206.1.2  
Development shall be prohibited on offshore islands (including spoil islands) which have been 
documented as an established bird rookery, based on resource agency best available data or 
survey. as identified on the current Protected Animal Species Map. [9J-5.012(3)(c)1; 9J-
5.013(2)(c)5 and 6] Monroe County shall discourage the development of offshore islands 
(including spoil islands) which have no prior development and have significant native upland 
habitat by discouraging the extension of public facilities and designating the offshore islands as 
Tier I. 
As used in this policy, significant native upland habitat means that the native upland habitat 
constitutes the majority of the available upland area of the offshore island. 

 
 Glossary:  

Native Upland Vegetation/Habitat (also Upland Native Vegetation/Habitat) means native plant 
species, either new growth or mature, occurring within native upland plant communities 
including pinelands, cactus hammocks, palm hammocks or tropical hardwood hammocks.  
 
Offshore Island means an area of land, surrounded by water, which is not directly or indirectly 
connected to U.S. 1 by a bridge, road or causeway. 
 
Upland means the area of a site landward of mean high water, excluding submerged lands and 
tidally inundated mangroves.  
 
Upland Native Vegetation/Habitat (see Native Upland Vegetation/Habitat) 
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V. CONSISTENCY WITH THE MONROE COUNTY YEAR 2010 COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN, THE FLORIDA STATUTES, AND PRINCIPLES FOR GUIDING 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

A. The proposed amendment is consistent with the following Goals, Objectives and Policies of 
the Monroe County Year 2010 Comprehensive Plan.  Specifically, the amendment 
furthers:  
 
Goal 101: Monroe County shall manage future growth to enhance the quality of life, ensure the safety 
of County residents and visitors, and protect valuable natural resources. 
Objective 101.11 
Monroe County shall implement measures to direct future growth away from environmentally sensitive 
land and towards established development areas served by existing public facilities. 
 
Policy 102.7.2 
By January 4, 1997, Monroe County shall adopt Land Development Regulations which will further 
restrict the activities permitted on offshore islands. These shall include the following: 

1. development shall be prohibited on offshore islands (including spoil islands) which have been 
documented as an established bird rookery or nesting area (See Conservation and Coastal 
Management Policy 207.1.3.); 

2. campgrounds and marinas shall not be permitted on offshore islands; 
3. new mining pits shall be prohibited on offshore islands; 
4. permitted uses by-right on islands (which are not bird rookeries) shall include detached residential 

dwellings, camping (for the personal use of the owner of the property on a temporary basis), 
beekeeping, accessory uses, and home occupations (subject to a special use permit requiring a 
public hearing); 

5. temporary primitive camping by the owner, in which no land clearing or other alteration of the 
island occurs, shall be the only use of an offshore island which may occur without necessity of a 
permit; 

6. the use of any motorized vehicles including, but not limited to, trucks, carts, buses, motorcycles, 
all-terrain vehicles and golf carts shall be prohibited on existing undeveloped offshore islands; 

7. planting with native vegetation shall be encouraged whenever possible on spoil islands; and 
8. public facilities and services shall not be extended to offshore islands 

 
 
Policy 102.7.3 
Monroe County shall discourage developments proposed on offshore islands by methods including, but 
not limited to, designated offshore islands as Tier I Lands 
 
Policy 207.1.2 
Development shall be prohibited on offshore islands (including spoil islands) which have been 
documented as an established bird rookery, as identified on the current Protected Animal Species Map. 
 
Policy 207.9.1 
By January 4, 1998, the Monroe County Biologist, in cooperation with DNR, FGFWFC, FWS, and the 
National Audubon Society Research Department shall update the list of offshore island bird rookeries 
where development shall be prohibited. Until the list is updated, the offshore islands which are 
established bird rookeries shall be defined as any offshore island designated as a known habitat for a 
nesting bird on the latest update of the Protected Animal Species Map.  
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GOAL 209 
Monroe County shall discourage private land uses on its mainland, offshore islands and undeveloped 
coastal barriers, and shall protect existing conservation lands from adverse impacts associated with 
private land uses on adjoining lands. 
 
Policy 215.2.3 
No public expenditures shall be made for new or expanded facilities in areas designated as units of the 
Coastal Barrier Resources System, saltmarsh and buttonwood wetlands, or offshore islands not currently 
accessible by road, with the exception of expenditures for conservation and parklands consistent with 
natural resource protection, and expenditures necessary for public health and safety. 
 
Policy 217.4.2 
No public expenditures shall be made for new or expanded facilities in areas designated as units of the 
Coastal Barrier Resources System, undisturbed saltmarsh and buttonwood wetlands, or offshore islands 
not currently accessible by road, with the exception of expenditures for conservation and parklands 
consistent with natural resource protection, and expenditures necessary for public health and safety. 
 
Policy 1401.2.2 
No public expenditures shall be made for new or expanded facilities in areas designated as units of the 
Coastal Barrier Resources System, undisturbed saltmarsh and buttonwood wetlands, or offshore islands 
not currently accessible by road, with the exception of expenditures for conservation and parklands 
consistent with natural resource protection, and expenditures necessary for public health and safety. 
 
 

B. The amendment is consistent with the Principles for Guiding Development for the Florida 
Keys Area, Section 380.0552(7), Florida Statute.  

 
For the purposes of reviewing consistency of the adopted plan or any amendments to that plan with the 
principles for guiding development and any amendments to the principles, the principles shall be 
construed as a whole and no specific provision shall be construed or applied in isolation from the other 
provisions.  
 
(a) Strengthening local government capabilities for managing land use and development so that local 

government is able to achieve these objectives without continuing the area of critical state concern 
designation. 

(b) Protecting shoreline and marine resources, including mangroves, coral reef formations, seagrass 
beds, wetlands, fish and wildlife, and their habitat. 

(c) Protecting upland resources, tropical biological communities, freshwater wetlands, native tropical 
vegetation (for example, hardwood hammocks and pinelands), dune ridges and beaches, wildlife, 
and their habitat. 

(d) Ensuring the maximum well-being of the Florida Keys and its citizens through sound economic 
development. 

(e) Limiting the adverse impacts of development on the quality of water throughout the Florida Keys. 
(f) Enhancing natural scenic resources, promoting the aesthetic benefits of the natural environment, and 

ensuring that development is compatible with the unique historic character of the Florida Keys. 
(g) Protecting the historical heritage of the Florida Keys. 
(h) Protecting the value, efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and amortized life of existing and proposed 

major public investments, including: 
 

1. The Florida Keys Aqueduct and water supply facilities; 
2. Sewage collection, treatment, and disposal facilities; 
3. Solid waste treatment, collection, and disposal facilities; 
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4. Key West Naval Air Station and other military facilities; 
5. Transportation facilities; 
6. Federal parks, wildlife refuges, and marine sanctuaries; 
7. State parks, recreation facilities, aquatic preserves, and other publicly owned properties; 
8. City electric service and the Florida Keys Electric Co-op; and 
9. Other utilities, as appropriate. 

 
(i) Protecting and improving water quality by providing for the construction, operation, maintenance, 

and replacement of stormwater management facilities; central sewage collection; treatment and 
disposal facilities; and the installation and proper operation and maintenance of onsite sewage 
treatment and disposal systems. 

(j) Ensuring the improvement of nearshore water quality by requiring the construction and operation of 
wastewater management facilities that meet the requirements of ss. 381.0065(4)(l) and 403.086(10), 
as applicable, and by directing growth to areas served by central wastewater treatment facilities 
through permit allocation systems. 

(k) Limiting the adverse impacts of public investments on the environmental resources of the Florida 
Keys. 

(l) Making available adequate affordable housing for all sectors of the population of the Florida Keys. 
(m) Providing adequate alternatives for the protection of public safety and welfare in the event of a 

natural or manmade disaster and for a post disaster reconstruction plan. 
(n) Protecting the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the Florida Keys and maintaining 

the Florida Keys as a unique Florida resource. 
 
Pursuant to Section 380.0552(7) Florida Statutes, the proposed amendment is consistent with the 
Principles for Guiding Development as a whole and is not inconsistent with any Principle.   

 
C. The proposed amendment is consistent with the Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statute 

(F.S.). Specifically, the amendment furthers: 
 
Section 163.3161(4), F.S. – It is the intent of this act that local governments have the ability to preserve 
and enhance present advantages; encourage the most appropriate use of land, water, and resources, 
consistent with the public interest; overcome present handicaps; and deal effectively with future 
problems that may result from the use and development of land within their jurisdictions. Through the 
process of comprehensive planning, it is intended that units of local government can preserve, promote, 
protect, and improve the public health, safety, comfort, good order, appearance, convenience, law 
enforcement and fire prevention, and general welfare; facilitate the adequate and efficient provision of 
transportation, water, sewerage, schools, parks, recreational facilities, housing, and other requirements 
and services; and conserve, develop, utilize, and protect natural resources within their jurisdictions 

 
Section 163.3177(1), F.S. – The comprehensive plan shall provide the principles, guidelines, standards, 
and strategies for the orderly and balanced future economic, social, physical, environmental, and fiscal 
development of the area that reflects community commitments to implement the plan and its elements. 
These principles and strategies shall guide future decisions in a consistent manner and shall contain 
programs and activities to ensure comprehensive plans are implemented. The sections of the 
comprehensive plan containing the principles and strategies, generally provided as goals, objectives, and 
policies, shall describe how the local government’s programs, activities, and land development 
regulations will be initiated, modified, or continued to implement the comprehensive plan in a consistent 
manner. It is not the intent of this part to require the inclusion of implementing regulations in the 
comprehensive plan but rather to require identification of those programs, activities, and land 
development regulations that will be part of the strategy for implementing the comprehensive plan and 
the principles that describe how the programs, activities, and land development regulations will be 
carried out. The plan shall establish meaningful and predictable standards for the use and development 
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of land and provide meaningful guidelines for the content of more detailed land development and use 
regulations. 

 
VI. PROCESS 

 
Comprehensive Plan amendments may be proposed by the Board of County Commissioners, the 
Planning Commission, the Director of Planning, or the owner or other person having a contractual 
interest in property to be affected by a proposed amendment.  The Director of Planning shall 
review and process applications as they are received and pass them onto the Development Review 
Committee and the Planning Commission.  
 
The Planning Commission shall hold at least one public hearing.  The Planning Commission shall 
review the application, the reports and recommendations of the Department of Planning & 
Environmental Resources and the Development Review Committee and the testimony given at the 
public hearing.  The Planning Commission shall submit its recommendations and findings to the 
Board of County Commissioners (BOCC).  The BOCC holds a public hearing to consider the 
transmittal of the proposed comprehensive plan amendment, and considers the staff report, staff 
recommendation, and the testimony given at the public hearing.  The BOCC may or may not 
recommend transmittal to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO).  The 
amendment is transmitted to DEO, which then reviews the proposal and issues an Objections, 
Recommendations and Comments (ORC) Report.  Upon receipt of the ORC report, the County has 
180 days to adopt the amendments, adopt the amendments with changes or not adopt the 
amendment. 

 
VII. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends APPROVAL of the proposed amendments. 
 

VIII. EXHIBITS 
 

1. March 24, 2015 DRC Minutes 
2. May 26, 2015 DRC Minutes  
3. August 25, 2015 DRC Minutes  
4. Table of privately owned offshore islands within unincorporated Monroe County. 
5. Location maps of privately owned offshore islands within unincorporated Monroe County.  
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, March 24, 2015 

MEETING MINUTES 

The Monroe County Development Review Committee conducted a meeting on Tuesday,      
March 24 , 2015, beginning at 1:02 p.m. at the Marathon Government Center, Media & 
Conference Room (1st floor, rear hallway), 2798 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL by Gail Creech 
 
DRC MEMBERS 
Townsley Schwab, Senior Director of Planning and Environmental Resources  Present  
Mayte Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning and Environmental Resources  Present 
Mike Roberts, Sr. Administrator, Environmental Resources     Present 
 
STAFF 
Steve Williams, Assistant County Attorney       Present 
Emily Schemper, Principal Planner        Present 
Matt Coyle, Senior Planner         Present 
Gail Creech, Planning Commission Coordinator      Present 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
Mr. Schwab stated Item 2 will be heard first because the applicant for Item 1 is delayed. 
  
MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 
Mr. Schwab approved the minutes of the February 24, 2015, DRC meeting as is. 

 
MEETING 

 
New Items: 
 
2.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICY 
101.4.26 TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT FOR WIND TURBINES 
OWNED AND OPERATED BY A PUBLIC UTILITY; CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO 
ADDRESS NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN 
THE OCEAN REEF COMMUNITY; CREATING POLICIES 101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO 
PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT 
PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; AND 
CREATING POLICY 101.5.34 TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT 
EXCLUSIVELY FOR AFFORDABLE OR EMPLOYEE/WORKFORCE DWELLING UNITS 
THAT MEET THE INCOME LIMITS FOR THE VERY LOW, LOW AND/OR MEDIAN 

creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 1
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INCOME CATEGORIES ON PROPERTIES DESIGNATED AS TIER 3; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE 
COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-006) 
 
(1:03 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria stated that Items 2 and 3 will be held as a workshop discussion 
versus a staff report with comments.  Both items are from the comp plan update and were 
proposed within the 2030 comp plan.  The BOCC has asked staff to remove the policies as they 
were in the comp plan and process them separately so that there is public understanding and 
public input through the process.  This item will be brought back two or three times to ensure 
revisions can be made with public input. 
 
Ms. Santamaria first addressed Policy 101.4.26.  Ms. Santamaria explained that the current 
height definition is the vertical distance between grade and the highest part of any structure and it 
is measured from either grade or the crown of the nearest road.  Multiple height exceptions have 
been proposed in order to address a variety of issues.  The first one is the wind turbine for 
facilities owned and operated by a public utility.  An avian protection plan would be required.   
The height exception would be for those wind turbines that facilitate green technologies and 
alternative energy sources.  Ms. Santamaria informed Deb Curlee there are no applications for 
wind turbines currently.  
 
Alicia Putney commented that her personal experience has been that wind turbines are not able 
to generate enough current to be deemed useful unless the sustainable winds were above 20-25 
miles an hour.  Consequently, wind is more questionable than solar energy at this point.  Ms. 
Curlee is not in favor of wind turbines because of their aesthetics.  Ms. Santamaria will draft a 
version of the policy as the BOCC has proposed it next to a version that includes the public’s 
input.  Bill Eardley asked that staff obtain an analysis of FKEC’s two wind turbines located on 
Cudjoe Key before proceeding with this policy. 
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policy 101.5.31.  Ms. Santamaria explained that this policy is 
specific to Ocean Reef.  In permitting for that community staff has had to deal with architectural 
features just above the 35-foot height limit.   Staff has recommended the architectural features 
could exceed the 35-foot height limit by five feet, not to exceed 40 feet, and can contain no 
habitable space up there. 
 
Joel Reed was present on behalf of Ocean Reef Community Association and Ocean Reef Club.  
Mr. Reed stated even though Policy 101.5.31 is intended to address non-habitable architectural 
decorative features, it is only one and the least significant of three provisions that Ocean Reef 
has requested.  Mr. Reed explained that Ocean Reef has its own architectural review committee 
that projects go through as well.  One of the longer term issues facing Ocean Reef Club is that 
they still own a number of buildings and condominiums that currently exceed the 35-foot height 
restriction.  These are aging buildings coming to the end of their useful life.  There is concern if 
they are ever destroyed they would not be able to build back to their current heights.  Mr. Reed 
agrees with being proactive by building above the FEMA flood heights.  One policy request from 
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Ocean Reef is for the ability to build back on a story-by-story approach rather than to the pre-
existing height.  Mr. Reed feels allowing this way of rebuilding with an increase in the slab-to-
slab measurement to 11 feet would encourage owners to remodel their buildings rather than 
tearing them down.  Another issue important to Ocean Reef is the Cultural Center building.  
Because the flyover space in this building is limited, the ability to have productions in this 
building is limited also.  Mr. Reed suggested that a height of 65 feet would accommodate that 
flyover space.  Mr. Reed emphasized that the proposed story-by-story rebuilding process is being 
requested for Ocean Reef only, which is an isolated and gated community, not visible from the 
roadway.  Ms. Santamaria asked that Ocean Reef provide information of the cultural center, such 
as a map depiction and its existing height information.  Mr. Reed agreed to provide that 
information, as well as a list of inventoried buildings at Ocean Reef including their existing 
heights. 
 
Ms. Curlee asked for an estimate of the height of a building with an 11-foot slab-to-slab 
allowance plus the flood elevation.  Mr. Reed replied that it depends on the flood zone and the 
average existing grade or crown of road of each site.  Ms. Putney proposed Ocean Reef go 
through a variance procedure for each of the specific buildings because of all the variables 
associated with each building.  Mr. Reed agreed that consideration needs to be given for each 
building individually and stressed that losing a floor would not be an option in rebuilding.  Mr. 
Reed further explained that some communities have minimum ceiling heights so that a more 
adaptable building into the future is built. 
 
Ms. Putney asked if Ocean Reef has its own community master plan containing its own design 
criteria.  Mr. Reed responded that there are architectural design guidelines for Ocean Reef that 
are followed currently and a process is being gone through to update and create a new master 
plan for Ocean Reef.  Ms. Santamaria clarified that it is for Ocean Reef’s own development 
internally, but a Livable CommuniKeys plan or even an overlay district can be proposed.  Ms. 
Putney voiced concern that this policy would open the door for other gated communities 
throughout the Keys to increase their height restriction.  Ms. Santamaria noted that the reason the 
BOCC was even considering this policy is because Ocean Reef is not only gated, but it is 
isolated and separate from the rest of the Keys.  Bill Hunter, present on behalf of Sugarloaf 
Property Owners Association (SPOA), will be taking this request by Ocean Reef back to SPOA 
members for their input.  SPOA recognizes that Ocean Reef is isolated and very different from 
the rest of the Keys.  Mr. Hunter commented that the BOCC has said in the past they do not want 
to treat Ocean Reef differently than the rest of the County.  SPOA is neutral on this policy as 
long as this does not affect the rest of the County.   
 
Mr. Reed explained that there is language that allows Ocean Reef to go through a letter of 
understanding process without going through a conditional use process.  Mr. Reed feels perhaps 
some stronger language would help address the concerns being voiced.  Ms. Putney again 
suggested Ocean Reef have their own Livable CommuniKeys plan which is protected by the 
comp plan.  Mr. Reed pointed out that Ocean Reef has stricter regulations than the rest of the 
County has, such as setbacks.  Ms. Putney suggested adding language referring to gated 
communities over a certain size.  Ms. Curlee believes, regardless of Ocean Reef being isolated 
and gated, the public will expect the same consideration that Ocean Reef receives.  Ms. Putney 
agreed.  Ms. Putney asked to underscore that the BOCC does not want to have special rules for 
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Ocean Reef.  Mr. Reed added that he believes only one Commissioner has expressed that 
sentiment.  Ms. Santamaria stated the BOCC will make the decision of what they choose to adopt 
and/or transmit to the State and will ultimately make the decision of which communities, which 
policies and where they will apply to.   
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policies 101.5.32 and 101.5.33.  Ms. Santamaria explained these 
policies are an attempt to provide existing and new structures the ability to redevelop or lift the 
existing structure to come into compliance with their flood zone.  New FEMA maps are expected 
in four years.  The first provision of Policy 101.5.32 is for new structures to voluntarily elevate 
their structures up to five feet above the 35-foot height limit.  It is based on what they choose to 
elevate above flood.  The second provision of the policy is for existing structures to be able to 
meet their base flood zone or to exceed it.  Again, they can go up to five feet above the 35-foot 
height limit, but this is based on the amount they choose to go up.  The third provision is for 
those structures that need to go a little bit higher to meet their flood zone.  The addition of one 
foot of freeboard above the base flood elevation is provided for.  
 
Bill Eardley stated raising an existing structure is impractical due to the cost.  It is simpler to pay 
off the mortgage and cancel the flood insurance.  Mr. Eardley feels there is no need for the 
exception on new construction because the building can be designed to meet the current 
standards.  Ms. Santamaria explained the exception was proposed because the BOCC did not 
want people to lose living space and be squeezed into smaller homes.  FEMA representatives 
have informed staff a grant program may be created to help with the cost of elevating a home.  
Ms. Santamaria pointed out that some existing structures may not be able to be raised due to its 
structural integrity.  Mr. Roberts pointed out that there has been discussion about including 
bonus points or points under the CRS for communities that provide for an opportunity for 
property owners to elevate their base floor one to three feet above base flood elevation on a 
voluntary basis.  Dottie Moses from the Upper Keys Homeowners Federation stated that the CRS 
looks at encouraging people not to build in low-lying areas.  Ms. Santamaria explained that is 
why the inventory of flood zones was done.  Mr. Hunter expressed concern that the County is 
somehow encouraging building in a very low-lying area where roads will eventually no longer be 
maintained by the County.  Ms. Santamaria clarified that Number 1 is applicable when people 
tear down and build a new structure.  Ms. Putney stated that the number of homes built before 
FEMA came in to Monroe County in ’78 built below the base flood would be a small enough 
number that they could be dealt with through some kind of a development review mechanism as 
opposed to a carte blanche rule.  Ms. Schemper noted that this would give property owners the 
allowance to do it rather than being penalized because of their unique circumstance.  Ms. 
Santamaria stated staff will evaluate that.   
 
Ms. Santamaria then described a situation of a property owner in North Florida who built a home 
less than ten years ago at three feet above flood.  The new FEMA maps now show that home 
being three feet below flood.  Ms. Santamaria explained that the new FEMA maps could impact 
a substantial number of people whose flood insurance premiums are going to skyrocket up 
because of this situation.  FEMA is supposed to take sea level rise into account when creating 
their new maps.  Staff is trying to think into the future to try to facilitate people’s ability to 
protect their homes and investments.  Mr. Hunter suggested, because it is unknown what the 
maps will show, introducing the concept and making allowances for the solution in the comp 
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plan and holding off on the details of the actual solution since modifying the LDRs in the LDC is 
an easier process.  Mr. Schemper cautioned the longer addressing this issue is put off, the more 
homes will be built that are going to be affected.  Ms. Moses stated that at an Army Corps 
meeting comments were made that all of the “easy” lots have been built on and what is left will 
require mitigation and other issues.  Ms. Santamaria will try to run an analysis of the flood zone 
of the vacant parcels in the County.   
 
Mr. Hunter clarified that when he suggested splitting the concept in the comp plan and the detail 
in the LDRs, he was not suggesting delaying the LDRs.  Mr. Hunter further stated more public 
outreach would help in educating the public more on climate change and sea level rise.  Mr. 
Roberts clarified for Mr. Hunter that the County does not have policies in place yet regarding 
replacement of infrastructure in areas potentially susceptible to sea level rise, so the County has 
to proceed under existing policies and directives, which obligates the County to maintain the 
roads.  Ms. Santamaria described a situation in St. Augustine where property owners are suing 
the municipality to maintain a road in a low-lying area so that the people would have access to 
their fire service.  Ms. Curlee asked about regulations regarding filling a lot.  Mr. Roberts 
explained that whether fill is allowed depends on the flood zone.  Ms. Putney added that runoff 
from higher lots into the road is creating a problem for the neighbors and in the canals, as well as 
blocking views and creating shade.  Mr. Williams clarified that situation does not create a 
property rights issue.  Ms. Santamaria noted that the variance procedure could create a staggered 
view line in an area.   
 
Ms. Moses stated the Federation has taken the position they do not want the 35-foot height limit 
raised under any circumstance.  The County has managed to get by under that height limit to date 
with new construction.  Mr. Hunter on behalf of SPOA agreed with Ms. Moses’ comments.  Mr. 
Hunter personally believes more education is needed about freeboard and the benefits of 
freeboard.  Ms. Putney on behalf of Last Stand stated existing buildings should have some kind 
of mechanism for special approval, but that the total raised building could not exceed 40 feet and 
the space created under the first floor should be non-habitable.  Secondly, Last Stand is opposed 
to new construction receiving an exception to the 35-foot height limit.  Mr. Williams noted that 
there is a potential map amendment process to appeal to FEMA to make an exception for a lot.  
The expense of that process was discussed. 
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policy 101.5.33.  Ms. Santamaria explained that this policy 
addresses existing structures that currently exceed the height limit, such as a three or four-story 
condo.  By redeveloping to upgrade the building, coming into compliance with the flood zone 
may result in loss of a story of that condo.  That could potentially result in 20 people on the top 
floor no longer having the ability to rebuild their home.  Ms. Putney questioned why it is 
perceived to affect the top story as opposed to the first story.  Ms. Santamaria stated half of the 
people would lose their home regardless of which story it is.  This policy provides for allowing 
five feet above their existing height.  Ms. Putney stated Last Stand supports this policy provided 
that the footprint of the structure is not changed.  Ms. Santamaria clarified for Ms. Curlee there is 
no cap on the height.  Staff does not have a clear inventory of those structures this policy would 
encompass, but estimates only a handful.  Mr. Reed asked that those who do support this policy 
consider giving some additional slab-to-slab height when rebuilding.  Ms. Putney replied Last 
Stand supports the grandfathering of nonconforming height to certain buildings in Monroe 
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County when redevelopment is involuntary provided the new building height does not exceed 
that of the old building.  As such, compliance with FEMA along with any additional voluntary 
clearance above base flood elevation must be equal to or less than the height of the old 
nonconforming building.  Mr. Hunter stated SPOA agrees as long as the redevelopment is 
involuntary, such as because of fire or flood.  Ms. Santamaria asked if the public in attendance 
considers the new FEMA maps deeming a structure below base flood involuntary.   
 
Mr. Reed does not like the “involuntary” language because it is a very tricky threshold to meet.  
Ms. Santamaria noted the BOCC has tried to direct staff to focus on redevelopment versus trying 
to facilitate a lot of new development.  Mr. Reed clarified that while there is no magic slab-to-
slab number, floor to ceiling heights should be created that are adaptable and can continue to be 
remodeled throughout future years.  Ms. Curlee expressed concern that what is “involuntary” to 
one person may open the door to let somebody else take advantage of this policy.  Ms. 
Santamaria clarified for Ms. Curlee that in almost all situations exceptions to the height limit will 
not allow people to add a story.  In some situations that would be possible.  Ms. Putney believes 
that language should be included to limit in what situations it would be allowed.  Mr. Hunter 
suggested more detail of the buildings in Ocean Reef be gathered to realize the effect this could 
have on the County.  Mr. Reed clarified that his comments regarding slab-to-slab increases were 
specific to the Ocean Reef policy, but feels it might be worth considering for all of 
unincorporated Monroe County.  Ms. Moses is concerned about taking people’s property rights 
away from them.  Mr. Hunter then commented that the “historical designation” language should 
be eliminated. 
 
Ms. Santamaria then addressed Policy 101.5.34.  Ms. Santamaria explained this came out of the 
session of the BOCC at the October meeting to address a different height maximum for very low, 
low and median income affordable employee and work force housing on properties designated 
Tier III.  This was to facilitate having nonresidential development on the first story and allowing 
a couple stories of affordable housing on top.  Mr. Hunter stated SPOA is opposed to this 
amendment.  SPOA believes that the County has the benefit of seeing what the cities have done 
to address this issue before they make a decision on solutions.  Another issue for SPOA is using 
height as a solution to affordable housing in the County where there is more land than the 
County has ROGO allocations for.  Ms. Moses stated the Federation is opposed to raising the 
affordable housing limit.  Key Largo does not have an affordable housing issue.  There are 
affordable housing projects in the Upper Keys district already and some of the way those 
projects are being managed are not the way their deed restrictions have been written.   
 
Ms. Moses pointed out there is no definition for “workforce housing” in the code.  Ms. 
Santamaria replied the Affordable Housing Committee will be addressing that soon.  The BOCC 
hired the FSU Consensus Center to provide a report on the County’s affordable housing issue.  
Ms. Schemper added that the LDC uses the term “affordable housing” or “employee housing,” 
which are defined terms.  “Work force housing” is a more general term.  Mr. Reed argued that 
there is a demand and a need still in the Upper Keys for affordable housing.  Mr. Reed then 
stated it is a severe challenge to find appropriate land of a certain size to accommodate 
affordable housing.  Mr. Eardley is concerned this amendment would open the door for all kinds 
of other development.  Mr. Eardley agrees there are ways to address work force housing without 
going higher, such as making the units smaller.  Ms. Curlee added when talking about truly 
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affordable housing that would be rentals.  Ms. Putney believes this issue is complex and the 
height exception for affordable housing should be dealt with within the arena of the affordable 
housing discussion separate from what is being done today.  Ms. Santamaria clarified this 
amendment would provide the opportunity to build more units, but it also will raise those units 
above base flood.   
 
Ms. Santamaria thanked the public for their comments and stated these comments will be 
included in the staff report and will be back before the DRC again for more comments. 
 
1.Playa Largo Resort, 97450 Overseas Highway, Key Largo, mile marker 97.5:  A public 
meeting concerning a request for an Amendment to a Major Conditional Use Permit.  The 
requested approval is required for the development of a proposed 177-unit hotel and associated 
accessory uses.  The subject property is legally described as Tracts 4B and 5B, Amended Plat of 
Mandalay (Plat Book 2, Page 25), Key Largo, and also a tract of submerged land in the Bay of 
Florida fronting said Tract 5B (TIIF Deed No. 22416), Monroe County, Florida, having real 
estate number 00555010.000000. 
(File 2015-031) 
 
(2:32 p.m.) Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this applicant 
currently has an approved major conditional use permit from 2007 and it has had several 
deviations and time extensions over time.  It is still active.  The most recent deviation has 
approved the site plan for 162 transient units and one commercial apartment, which was 
previously on the site.  The applicant has been issued a number of building permits.  This 
amendment to the major conditional use permit is to add an additional 15 transient units into the 
hotel, the building of which has already been permitted, and that would bring them up to their 
max number net density.  It does not change any footprint on the site plan.  All of the required 
criteria are in compliance.  The only issue that is still outstanding is the traffic and access.  The 
applicant had supplied a Level 2 traffic study with this application, and because of the threshold 
of what is being proposed a Level 3 traffic study is needed.  This may also impact the 
requirement for a right-turn deceleration lane leading into the property.  Ms. Schemper 
recommended approval with conditions.  Those conditions were outlined. 
 
Ms. Santamaria commented that the Planning Commissioners will likely want to see the traffic 
studies so they can take that data into account in their decision-making and make sure that it is 
compliant.  Mr. Roberts asked that Number 7 of the recommended actions be reworded to 
specify the number of allowed docks.  Mr. Roberts will supply that number to Ms. Schemper. 
 
Jorge Cepeda, present on behalf of the applicant, stated he was familiar with the conditions 
contained in the original approval.  Mr. Cepeda asked that Condition 8, the transportation shuttle 
for guests and employees, be considered in the traffic study because that has less of an impact on 
traffic.  Mr. Cepeda asked that the second portion of the language about adequacy of public 
facilities on Page 6 of the report remain part of the recommended action.  Mr. Cepeda clarified 
that no trees will be cut for the mulch exercise path, but there may be some underbrush that may 
need to be accommodated.  Mr. Roberts specified that “clearing” is the removal of any native 
vegetation regardless of the size.  Mr. Roberts asked the applicant to inform staff if the applicant 
is planning on clearing or removing additional vegetation that has not been previously accounted 
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for in the site plan.  Ms. Schemper will look again at the deviation to see exactly how it is 
worded and get back to the applicant regarding the clearing. 
 
Ms. Santamaria asked for public comment.  Ms. Moses asked whether the proposed commercial 
apartment is bayfront.  Ms. Schemper explained it was a previously existing unit, so the 
residential use and density is protected.  Mr. Cepeda stated the apartment is in the same location 
as the prior developer’s site plan.  Ms. Moses then pointed out the site plan shows two entrances.  
Ms. Schemper explained one is an emergency access drive requested by the fire department.  Ms. 
Moses then noted that the front buffer that faces US-1 looks to contain lead tree.  Mr. Cepeda 
replied that the landscaping will be done in the final stage.  The main entrance is the original 
American Outdoor entrance and at the end stage the exotics will be removed and landscaping 
will be done to complete that buffer.  Ms. Moses commented that there are a lot of non-native 
species on the vegetation list.  Mr. Roberts explained that the required vegetation is 100 percent 
native vegetation, but anything planted above the minimum requirement can be anything the 
developer wants.  The developer is overplanting the required landscaping significantly.  Ms. 
Schemper clarified for Ms. Moses that the docking facility on the property is a hotel accessory 
dock, not a marina. 
 
3.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
POLICIES 101.5.8 AND 101.13.5 WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND 
POLICIES 207.1.2 WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL MANAGEMENT 
ELEMENT TO FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFFSHORE ISLANDS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING 
AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 
MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-007) 
 
(2:49 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria stated this item also comes from the comp plan update project.  The 
BOCC asked staff to remove these policies that were included in the comp plan and process them 
separately since it was a new topic and received a lot of attention and people wanted to provide 
input on the topic.  These policies relate to the transfer of ROGO exemptions, density rights, as 
well as where the development would be directed to.   
 
Ms. Santamaria addressed Policy 101.5.8.  Ms. Santamaria explained that, again, this item will 
be handled today more like a workshop-type item. 
 
Bart Smith, Esquire, was present on behalf of FEB Corp.  Mr. Smith asked staff to address all of 
the policies together.  Mr. Smith thanked staff for planning multiple workshops to allow these 
policies to be vetted over a period of time where everyone can work together.  Mr. Smith asked 
staff to provide notice to the affected property owners of these meetings so they can actively 
engage in this process.  Mr. Smith asked staff to contemplate the unintended consequences of 
these policies of not allowing the TDRs and TREs to be transferred to offshore islands and 
designating all offshore islands as Tier I.  Mr. Smith believes this negates the tier system, which 
is the primary tool for determining whether a parcel is suitable for development.  These policies 



9 
 

put an inordinate burden on the property owners.  These property owners have some 
development right, all residential in nature.  The code only has two ways that residential can be 
built:  Through ROGO allocation or ROGO exemption.  These islands do not have ROGO 
exemptions because they do not have homes on them, so in order to build residential one would 
have to get a ROGO allocation or transfer a ROGO exemption from somewhere else.  These 
policies eliminate the ability to transfer.  A property is left with requiring a ROGO allocation, but 
the property is designated Tier I.  This would be so limiting that the only use left would be bee-
keeping and temporary camping by the owner.  Mr. Smith asked that staff look at how these 
policies would operate as a whole to get a complete picture of how it would operate. 
 
Ms. Santamaria clarified individual property owners were not notified because this is not 
property-specific and not all properties have their issues resolved with ownership.  This is a 
policy that would impact all privately-owned or even publicly-held offshore islands.  Ms. 
Santamaria further clarified that while the policy has direction of discouraging development by 
designating Tier I does not mean it is an automatic Tier I.  That designation would have to go 
through its proper process to apply a designation to a property.  Ms. Santamaria commented that 
this policy is not a huge change regarding the TREs and the TDRs.  This is a proposed change 
based on the discussions from the BOCC of where to direct the remaining allocations or 
exemptions and where is the most appropriate place to direct development. 
 
Julie Dick on behalf of Last Stand and Florida Keys Environmental Fund thanked staff for the 
workshop process and allowing the public the opportunity to participate in this process.  Last 
Stand thinks that the policies generally are consistent with the concepts of the tier overlay system 
for offshore islands.  Last Stand is generally supportive of the changes.  Ms. Dick commented 
that there are some inconsistencies with the acreage on the inventory.  Ms. Santamaria explained 
the Property Appraiser does not have the exact acreage of a property.  A boundary survey is 
required to determine the upland portions of a property.  Ms. Santamaria will look into any 
discrepancy reported to her.  Ms. Dick further stated Last Stand agrees with the sender and 
receiver site criteria.  For evacuation purposes it make sense to discourage additional 
development on offshore islands.  Last Stand recommends removing significant upland habitat as 
a criteria in Policy 206.1.2.  The reasons to protect offshore islands go beyond whether or not 
they are suited to upland habitat, such as containing bird rookeries.  Ms. Santamaria pointed out 
that under Policy 206.1.2 the significant upland habitat is one of the criteria and it is being made 
consistent with the Tier I criteria. 
 
Ms. Putney asked whether there was a determination made that offshore islands were Tier I when 
the County went to the tier system.  Ms. Santamaria explained Policy 102.7.3 stated that 
designating offshore islands as Tier I lands was one method used to discourage developments 
proposed on offshore islands.  The only offshore islands that are not designated Tier I were the 
ones that were missed by accident and undesignated, but this policy does not automatically 
designate them.  They would still have to go through that process.  The provision exists in the 
LDC that any islands without a specific land use designation shall be considered zoned as 
offshore islands.  The approximately ten offshore islands that were missed and not designated 
were discussed. 
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Ms. Santamaria thanked the members of the public for their participation and invited them to 
participate in the workshop-style meetings scheduled in the future. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
The Development Review Committee meeting was adjourned at 3:15 p.m. 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, May 26, 2015 

MEETING MINUTES 

The Monroe County Development Review Committee conducted a meeting on Tuesday, May 

26, 2015, beginning at 1:00 p.m. at the Marathon Government Center, Media & Conference 

Room (1
st
 floor, rear hallway), 2798 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

ROLL CALL by Gail Creech 

 

DRC MEMBERS 

Mayte Santamaria, Senior Director of Planning and Environmental Resources  Present 

Mike Roberts, Sr. Administrator, Environmental Resources     Present 

 

STAFF 

Steve Williams, Assistant County Attorney       Present 

Rey Ortiz, Planning & Biological Plans Examiner Supervisor    Present 

Lori Lehr, Floodplain Administrator        Present 

Tiffany Stankiewicz, Development Administrator      Present 

Matt Coyle, Senior Planner         Present 

Gail Creech, Planning Commission Coordinator      Present 

 

CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 

There were no changes to the agenda. 

  

MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 

Ms. Santamaria approved the minutes of the April 28, 2015, DRC meeting with one correction of 

a section number that will be submitted to Ms. Creech. 

 

MEETING 

 

New Items: 

 

1.99700 Overseas Highway, Key Largo, mile marker 99:  A public meeting concerning a 

request for a major deviation to a major conditional use permit.  The requested approval is 

required for the proposed development to increase the existing walk-in cooler and to increase the 

size of the existing bathrooms which would increase the amount of non-residential floor area on 

the property.  The subject property is legally described as Lazy Lagoon – A revision of Amended 

Plat of Curry’s Corner, Plat Book 2, Page 120 of public records, Monroe County, Section 33, 

Township 63 South, Range 39 East, Key Largo, Monroe County, Florida (legal description in 

metes and bounds is provided in the application/file), having real estate number 

00497540.000000. 

creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 2
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(File 2015-093) 

 

(1:01 p.m.) Mr. Ortiz presented the staff report.  Mr. Ortiz reported that the applicant is 

requesting a major deviation to a major conditional use application.  The applicant wants to 

expand the bathroom by approximately six square feet, add a modular component to the rear of 

the building for a walk-in cooler and expand an existing cooler that is currently within the 

setbacks on the rear property line.  The only criteria not met is regarding the variance 

requirement that the site is going to need.  Mr. Ortiz recommends approval to the Planning 

Commission with conditions.  Those conditions were outlined.  Ms. Santamaria confirmed that 

the applicant has submitted a variance application. 

 

Hany Haroun, the applicant, emphasized that this renovation is necessary.  Many hours have 

been spent with Wendy’s International and the County to make this work.  The new kitchen 

configuration in the center of the restaurant is a requirement from Wendy’s International, which 

takes away from the cooler/freezer space and the current storage area.  The extension for the 

sides is due to making the bathrooms ADA compliant.  None of this will be visible from the 

front.  The only setback issue is for the cooler/freezer. 

 

Ms. Santamaria asked for public comment. 

 

Dottie Moses, Key Largo resident, does not object to what is being asked for.  Ms. Moses likes 

the proposed landscaping along the highway.  Ms. Moses commented on the poor drainage that 

exists on the property.  Mr. Haroun explained that the main road was built to drain out towards 

Buttonwood Drive and consequently it floods there all the time.  That is on the County right-of-

way.  The County and State agreed to dig out the French drain and fill it with gravel to address 

the flooding problems.  The tides also affect the drainage in this area.  Ms. Santamaria noted 

when building permits are applied for the applicant will have to comply with the stormwater 

requirements.  Mr. Williams suggested that the applicant provide some documentation from 

Wendy’s International to show the hardship imposed on the applicant for purposes of the 

variance.  Mr. Ortiz asked the applicant to provide an updated site plan. 

 

2.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN POLICY 

101.4.26 TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT FOR WIND TURBINES 

OWNED AND OPERATED BY A PUBLIC UTILITY; CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO 

ADDRESS NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN 

THE OCEAN REEF COMMUNITY; AND CREATING POLICIES 101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO 

PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT 

PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 

PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING 

AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 

MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

(File 2015-006) 
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(1:12 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria presented the staff report.  Ms. Santamaria reported that this item 

started with the comp plan update.  There were policies to amend the height policies, address the 

wind turbines, affordable housing and the flood protection.  The BOCC asked staff to process 

this as a separate stand-alone amendment.  This was before the DRC in March where a lot of 

comments were received.  The flood protection policy generated concerns about the overall 

height exception.  Staff has proposed a policy that includes the reasons why there would be an 

exception with a max height limit of 40 feet and it would be to elevate property three feet above 

base flood elevation (BFE).  The exception for new buildings is to exceed BFE, not just to meet 

it, up to three feet above BFE.  The exception for lawfully existing buildings is to either meet or 

exceed BFE because there are circumstances, depending on the flood zone, where this exception 

will not allow you to exceed BFE.  If it is exceeded, it is only that amount it is exceeded that one 

gets to go above BFE.  Again, it is capped at 40 feet.  The exception would not be allowed in 

high-risk areas. 

 

Ms. Santamaria introduced Ms. Lehr and asked for an update and information on flood zones. 

 

Ms. Lehr explained that one of her roles is to help the County get into the Community Rating 

System (CRS) program, which would result in some discount in flood insurance.  When property 

owners voluntarily elevate their properties they get a reduced premium on their flood insurance.  

For every foot of elevation, the savings is about a quarter of the premium.  After the cap of three 

feet, the discounts fall off.  The cost to elevate a property is recouped quickly in flood insurance 

savings.  Ms. Lehr believes the future of the Florida Building Code and other legislation is going 

to be moving towards the implementation of some sort of freeboard, some sort of elevation 

requirement above BFE.  Ms. Lehr further explained the County is going through a mapping 

process currently.  It will be 2018 before those new maps come out, but the general feeling of 

those maps is that the elevations in some areas will increase, so the required elevations will 

increase. 

 

Ms. Lehr clarified for Ms. Moses a community has to require a higher regulatory standard above 

what is required on the flood insurance rate amounts to get CRS credit.  Florida in general has 

some of the highest scoring communities in the nation.  Ms. Lehr believes Monroe County is 

doing a lot of things to address the flooding that will be worth CRS credit.  There will be changes 

in the Florida Building Code coming up in the next couple of years to address BFE.  Ms. 

Santamaria explained the CRS does not address the top height, so the BOCC gave staff direction 

to look into elevating the height limit so home owners are not squeezed in from the top, causing 

homes to become smaller and smaller.  Ms. Lehr noted that credits are being given for existing 

buildings being elevated as opposed to rebuilt.  The CRS program is very adamant that 

communities do what is good for their floodplain management and protection of their citizens’ 

investments. 

 

Ron Miller, Planning Commissioner and Key Largo resident, questioned why the County has 

become concerned about someone losing habitable space in their structure, because in URM 

parking spaces were required to be under homes, which takes away from habitable space.  Ms. 

Santamaria clarified this proposal is not zoning-specific.  Mr. Miller feels homeowners should be 

amenable to some give-and-take in the loss of some habitable space.  Mr. Miller believes the 

people interested in more living space and more stories are those who are renting illegally.  Ms. 
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Santamaria clarified that the BOCC has become aware of the new FEMA maps coming out and 

want Monroe County to get into the CRS and help the community better protect their property 

and investments. So they have directed staff to address this issue by allowing people to make that 

financial choice themselves.  The whole intent was to better protect our community. 

 

Bill Hunter, Sugarloaf resident, suggested that a definition of “elevate” be proposed.  Mr. Hunter 

mentioned different scenarios of what could fall under the definition of “elevate.”  Ms. 

Santamaria said that staff will consider and look into those different scenarios.  Ms. Lehr 

clarified if a bottom floor was knocked out and used for parking with penthouses built on top of 

the structure, those structures would still be limited by the height restriction from BFE.  Ms. 

Santamaria noted that Policy 101.5.33 is for lawfully established existing buildings which 

already exceed the 35-foot height limit and a top cap of 40 feet is in place unless the owners go 

to a public hearing before the BOCC.  Mr. Hunter then asked for an explanation of why the 

different numbers of 38 and 40 feet are used.  Ms. Santamaria explained that discounts are given 

for one, two and three feet above BFE.  Since discounts are not given above that, the new 

buildings were capped at 38 feet.  The 40-foot limit was added for existing buildings in case they 

needed to raise their property a little bit higher because they do not meet base flood today.  Ms. 

Lehr clarified that the flood insurance policy associated with a structure would receive a different 

rating because of the elevation of that property.  The discount for CRS is completely different.  

The discount for CRS could be in addition to the different rating on the insurance policy for an 

elevation.  Ms. Santamaria noted that no exception will be given to either new or existing 

structures in AE10 through VE10.  That came from the comments made at prior DRC meetings 

about not facilitating redevelopment or new development in higher-risk areas. 

 

Mr. Hunter stated he agrees with Mr. Miller about the ability of Monroe County citizens to live 

under the 35-foot height limit, but is more sympathetic to the owners of existing homes than to 

new construction.  Mr. Miller is concerned for the properties in such a high AE or VE that they 

would not be able to develop a home that was attractive.  Mr. Miller proposed keeping the 35-

foot height limit in the comp plan and allowing for a variance for those so limited that they 

would not be able to develop something architecturally acceptable to the community.  Ms. 

Santamaria stated it would be difficult to create a variance for architectural or visual issues.  

There is no real hardship in that instance. 

 

Naja Girard, Key West resident, commented that people are more concerned over encouraging 

new development in AE and VE areas as opposed to elevating existing homes in those areas.  

Mr. Miller agrees with limiting infrastructure in flood-prone areas, but feels a minimal-size 

house could be able to punch through the height barrier if the owners could show a hardship 

when asking for a variance.  Ms. Lehr explained that the CRS does not take away points.  The 

CRS program credits activity.  Prohibiting development in high-risk areas is credited under the 

CRS.  The emphasis of the program has always been to build safer, more resilient communities. 

 

Jim Hendrick was present on behalf of Ocean Reef Community Association (ORCA) regarding 

Policy 101.5.31.  Mr. Hendrick stated Ocean Reef is an isolated and gated community with a 

distinct community character.  The planning process in Ocean Reef is very tough.  Mr. Hendrick 

said Ocean Reef would like the extra five feet for architectural features.  The largest concern 

with this policy for Ocean Reef is its cultural center.  The cultural center does not have the head 
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room needed to be able to house events that could potentially be put on at this facility.  Mr. 

Hendrick asked for a height limit unique to the Ocean Reef Cultural Center, which was built and 

paid for by the people of Ocean Reef.  Another concern that ORCA has is that any multi-story 

building in existence on the effective date of this policy be able to replace their existing number 

of stories up to 11 feet slab to slab per story.  The Ocean Reef hotels are currently dated with a 

ceiling height of only eight feet.  Ms. Santamaria noted that at the last meeting Joel Reed 

presented this information on behalf of Ocean Reef Club.  Staff had asked for an inventory of 

existing heights of the various structures throughout Ocean Reef.  Nothing has been received to 

date.  Mr. Hendrick will send the complete list to Ms. Santamaria.  Mr. Hendrick emphasized 

this is being asked to apply to Ocean Reef only, which is isolated and does have a distinct 

community character. 

 

Deb Curlee, resident of the Lower Keys, noted that Ocean Reef is still part of Monroe County.  

Mr. Hendrick replied there is an abundant body of policy already recognizing the unique 

circumstances of Ocean Reef.  Ms. Santamaria asked that Ocean Reef consider proposing an 

Ocean Reef specific overlay to address height issues in Ocean Reef.  Mr. Hendrick replied Ocean 

Reef has a very effective self-governance program within the community.  Ms. Santamaria asked 

that the information regarding the various heights as well as the total heights at Ocean Reef be 

sent in to help staff understand what the request is from Ocean Reef.  Mr. Hendrick then 

explained for Ms. Girard how Ocean Reef is self-governed.   

 

Ms. Moses stated the Federation is opposed to punching through the height limit and they feel 

that the 35-foot height limit has been accommodating and there is still room for elevating the 

floodplain.  Ms. Girard on behalf of Last Stand stated that a majority of the properties should be 

able to elevate the buildings as much as needed and still have adequate living space.  Last Stand 

would like to see this turned into a hardship situation that would have to be triggered to go 

through the height barrier. 

 

Mr. Miller asked what would happen to those properties whose flood zone was changed due to 

the FEMA flood maps.  Ms. Santamaria reminded Mr. Miller that no exceptions being given to 

properties in AE10 or VE10 or higher was a result of members of the community not wanting to 

facilitate development of homes within those flood zones.  The owners of those properties would 

have to work within the rules or not build at all.  Ms. Santamaria then confirmed for Mr. Hunter 

that reconstructed structures in Policy 101.5.33 includes those that are demolished and rebuilt.  

Ms. Santamaria explained that the BOCC resolution that specifies the maximum approved height 

is done on a building-by-building basis.  There is currently no limit to that height because it is 

not known what would be needed to meet base flood.  Ms. Santamaria explained that buildings 

over 35 feet currently could only rebuild to 35 feet if they were wiped out by a hurricane. 

 

Ms. Curlee asked why no caps are placed in Policy 101.5.33.  Ms. Santamaria replied that 

building heights would be different depending on how it was measured.  Ideas were proposed for 

the BOCC to consider when making the decision on how high they can go.  Mr. Hunter 

suggested considering the community’s desire to limit the height.  Ms. Santamaria noted a public 

hearing would require surrounding property owner notices being sent out. 
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Mr. Haroun stated he finds it unreasonable to not allow a condo to be built back up so that no 

owners would lose their living space.  Ms. Santamaria pointed out that is why a flood exception 

is being proposed for those property owners.  Mr. Miller noted that his concern is not whether 

they can build back what they had or not, but his concern is that the potential for more habitable 

space in this county is being increased as a result of seeking relief from sea level rise.  

 

Ms. Santamaria then stated the affordable housing has been struck from this proposal at this 

point in time.  Staff will work with the BOCC and the Affordable Housing Committee further in 

that regard.  The other item in this stand-alone amendment is the wind turbines owned and 

operated by a public utility.  At the last meeting members of the public asked what the results 

were from the Keys Energy demonstration project.  It was concluded that the wind towers have 

been proven to be ineffective.  Ms. Moses proposed striking this item altogether.  Ms. Girard 

stated on behalf of Last Stand they would like to see the whole exception to the wind turbines 

stricken.  If someone comes forward and proposes a great plan in the future, then it can be looked 

at with specific considerations in mind. 

 

Ms. Santamaria stated the plan is to bring this amendment back to the DRC and get more data for 

community-specific amendments.  It will be brought back as two items:  One as a comp plan and 

an LDR for more discussion and more input. 

 

3.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

CREATING A DEFINITION OF OFFSHORE ISLAND; AMENDING POLICIES 101.5.8 

AND 101.13.5 WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND POLICY 207.1.2 

WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL MANAGEMENT ELEMENT TO 

FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFFSHORE ISLANDS; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 

PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 

THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE 

COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

(File 2015-007) 

 

(2:38 p.m.) Ms. Santamaria presented the staff report.  Ms. Santamaria reported that this 

amendment has stemmed from the comprehensive plan update process.  There was a lot of 

discussion on where to direct and how to direct development in the future and if it is appropriate 

to go to offshore islands.  The BOCC asked staff to remove this from the general comp plan 

update and process it as a stand-alone amendment.  The definition of “offshore island” has been 

included.  The new provision is that TDRs and TREs would not be allowed to transfer to an 

offshore island.   

 

Ms. Santamaria asked for public comment. 

 

Attorney Nick Batty was present on behalf of FEB Corporation with respect to  

Wisteria Island.  Mr. Batty stated the issues that FEB has with this proposed amendment pertain 

to the receiver sites for TREs have to be within a Tier III designated area and must not be an 

offshore island.  Policy 206.1.2 provides that Monroe County shall discourage the development 
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of offshore islands which have no prior development and have significant upland habitat by 

discouraging the extension of public facilities and designating the offshore islands as Tier I.  

That makes a scenario where ROGO exemptions cannot be transferred to those islands and at the 

same time bumps them down to a Tier I level for the ROGO allocation program.  Mr. Batty 

pointed out there is no definition proposed for “significant upland habitat.”  Significant upland 

habitat does not necessarily coincide with environmentally sensitive areas.  As a result, areas like 

Wisteria Island, which does not have significant areas of environmentally sensitive habitat, 

would by default be lumped in with a Tier I designation, which is contrary to the intent of the 

code.  Bumping them down to a Tier I in terms of the ROGO allocation system and not allowing 

any transfers of TREs to the area would result in a situation where there would be no beneficial 

uses for the properties.  Mr. Roberts replied that using the blanket and undefined term 

“significant upland habitat” does not account for the differences in the natural features of those 

properties and effectuate the intent of the Tier I and Tier III definitions.  Ms. Santamaria added 

that no changes are being proposed to the Tier III criteria for designating any land.  Mr. Batty 

replied that islands which currently do not have a tier designation and would fit whatever the 

definition is determined to be of “significant upland habitat” and have no prior development 

would be pushed into that Tier I category without any other consideration.  Ms. Santamaria 

stated no particular tier designation is being proposed for any offshore island.  This is simply 

policy, not property specific.  Ms. Santamaria will review this further and consider proposing a 

definition for “significant upland habitat.”  

 

Ms. Girard, on behalf of Last Stand, stated it makes very little difference what is on the upland, 

whether or not there even is upland, because offshore islands are surrounded by shallow waters 

and environmentally sensitive benthic resources and are important for avian species.  Ms. Girard 

emphasized a survey containing 76 different species of native plants and a report regarding the 

importance of Wisteria Island for the white crown pigeons a couple of hundred feet away from 

Wisteria Island are on file with the County.  Last Stand thinks it is extremely appropriate that 

offshore islands be given Tier I designations and that they not be considered as receiver sites 

because they are inappropriate for development in a county that has a limited number of ROGOs 

and is basically facing build-out.  Ms. Santamaria clarified that this is not a property-specific 

amendment.  Ms. Santamaria further clarified that the tier designations are based on upland 

habitat.  Mr. Roberts clarified for Ms. Girard that native areas that provide corridors or wildlife 

access between other larger native areas are part of the Tier I designation.  Mr. Batty pointed out 

it is important to make sure the intent of the code is being effectuated. 

 

Ms. Santamaria asked for further public comment.  There was none.  Public comment was 

closed. 

 

Ms. Santamaria stated staff will review all the comments made and will look at defining 

“significant upland habitat” and bring this back to the DRC for one more round of public input 

before taking it to the Planning Commission. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

The Development Review Committee meeting was adjourned at 2:55 p.m. 
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DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, August 25, 2015 

MEETING MINUTES 

The Monroe County Development Review Committee conducted a meeting on Tuesday,     
August 25, 2015, beginning at 1:00 p.m. at the Marathon Government Center, Media & 
Conference Room (1st floor, rear hallway), 2798 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL by Gail Creech 
 
DRC MEMBERS 
Mike Roberts, Sr. Administrator, Environmental Resources     Present 
Emily Schemper, Comprehensive Planning Manager     Present 
Kevin Bond, Planning & Development Review Manager     Present 
 
STAFF 
Steve Williams, Assistant County Attorney       Present 
Matt Coyle, Senior Planner         Present 
Devin Rains, Senior Planner         Present 
Thomas Broadrick, Senior Planner        Present 
Gail Creech, Planning Commission Coordinator      Present 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
Mr. Roberts announced Items 5 and 6 will be heard first. 
  
MINUTES FOR APPROVAL 
Mr. Roberts deferred approval of minutes to the next DRC meeting. 
  
 

MEETING 
 
New Items: 
 
5.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
CREATING POLICY 101.5.31 TO ADDRESS NON-HABITABLE ARCHITECTURAL 
DECORATIVE FEATURES WITHIN THE OCEAN REEF COMMUNITY; AND CREATING 
POLICIES 101.5.32 AND 101.5.33 TO PROVIDE CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS TO THE 
HEIGHT LIMIT IN ORDER TO PROTECT PROPERTY FROM FLOODING AND REDUCE 
FLOOD INSURANCE COSTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE 
STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING 

creech-gail
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FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-006) 
 
Mr. Roberts presented the staff report.  Mr. Roberts reported that while working on the comp 
plan update the BOCC directed staff to maintain the existing adopted height and offshore island 
policies and to pull the proposed changes for further review and submit as a separate amendment.  
The proposed text amendment has been reviewed at two prior DRC meetings.  Policy 101.5.30 
adds mechanical equipment to the 35-foot limit while excluding certain structures.  There are no 
exceptions to the height limitation in Airport districts.  Policy 101.5.31 for Ocean Reef, which is 
a gated and isolated community with a distinct community character, includes non-habitable 
architectural decorative features that exceed the 35-foot height limit, but such features shall not 
exceed five feet above the building’s roof line.  There are Land Development Code amendments 
to reflect these policies.  Policy 101.5.32 provides that certain buildings voluntarily elevated to 
meet or exceed the FEMA base flood elevation (BFE) may exceed the 35-foot height limit.  New 
buildings voluntarily elevated to exceed the building’s minimum required BFE may exceed the 
35-foot height limit by three feet.  For lawfully established existing buildings which do not 
exceed 35 feet and are voluntarily retrofitted to meet and/or exceed the building’s minimum 
required BFE, an exception of a maximum of five feet above the 35-foot height limit may be 
permitted. 
 
Bill Hunter, resident of Sugarloaf Key, asked for the rationale for the difference of an extra two 
feet between an existing building and a new building.  Mr. Coyle explained that it is to allow a 
homeowner more room to get into compliance and go up.  Mr. Hunter then asked for clarification 
on the definition of “retrofit.”  Mr. Roberts stated that retrofitting means making changes to an 
existing building to protect it from flooding or other hazards.  Demolition and reconstruction of a 
new structure would not fit within that definition. 
 
Dottie Moses, on behalf of the Federation of Homeowners Association, stated that the Federation 
consistently maintains its opposition to raising the height limit.  Ms. Moses asked who is 
requesting the height increase.  Mr. Roberts replied that this amendment was staff-initiated at the 
direction of the BOCC.  Ms. Moses believes that the recent change in the code that allows 
setbacks being used for parking in URM zones will result in another floor of bedrooms being 
added under this amendment, which will increase density.  The hurricane evacuation issue is 
always a concern in the community, also.  Ms. Moses then asked where the exception provided 
for properties located in the AE 10 or VE 10 or greater FEMA flood zones originated.  Ms. 
Schemper will look into that for Ms. Moses.  Ms. Schemper added that this item will be brought 
back to the DRC one more time. 
 
Joel Reid, on behalf of Ocean Reef Club and Ocean Reef Community Association, commented 
that these two associations have asked for height changes to address their community concerns.  
Mr. Reid expressed disappointment that some items Ocean Reef has been asking for have not 
been included in the staff report.  Mr. Reid then asked for clarification regarding architectural 
elements exceeding 40 feet under Policy 101.5.33.  Ms. Schemper explained that Policy 101.5.33 
applies to lawfully established buildings that are already over 35 feet high.  The intent is if it was 
a pre-existing feature, then the BOCC could approve it, but if it is a proposed architectural 
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feature an exception would not be given if it is over 40 feet.  Mr. Reid stated Ocean Reef would 
like some protection in order for residents to be able to build back their structures without losing 
their views.  Ms. Schemper pointed out that this amendment is to protect what is already in 
existence while also meeting the flood requirements.  The existing intensity or density type of 
use would be protected.  Policy 101.5.33 does not specifically address increasing slab-to-slab 
heights.  That would have to be approved by the BOCC if over 40 feet.  The mechanism of going 
through the approval process to the BOCC has not been thoroughly fleshed out.  That would be 
in the Land Development Code portion of the amendment.  Mr. Reid asked how rebuilding and 
doing modifications to the Ocean Reef Cultural Center and boat storage area would be handled.  
Ms. Schemper responded that the full amount of data in those issues has not been received by 
staff at this point. 
 
6.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
POLICIES 101.5.8 AND 101.13.5 WITHIN THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT AND 
POLICIES 207.1.2 WITHIN THE CONSERVATION AND COASTAL MANAGEMENT 
ELEMENT TO FURTHER CLARIFY THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFFSHORE ISLANDS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING 
PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING 
AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE 
MONROE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-007) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this is another item 
originally contemplated during the comp plan update.  Staff was directed by the BOCC to pull it 
out as a separate text amendment.  This was already reviewed at two DRC meetings and has been 
continued to this meeting to get additional public review, input and discussion.  The proposed 
changes are about where development in terms of TDRs and the transfer of ROGO exemptions 
are directed.  Existing Policy 101.5.8 allows for the transfer of units based on certain criteria.  
The new policy expands the criteria and has additional standards to utilize the tier system.  The 
sender site must be located in Tier I, II, or III-A, or any tier designation if it is within the military 
installation impact overlay.  The receiver site must have a future land use category ability and 
zoning district that allows the use, must meet the adopted density standards, include all 
infrastructure, be located within Tier III and may not be within a V zone or a CBRS unit.  The 
comprehensive plan specifies specific habitat types and the certain zoning districts that were 
allowed on sender site TDRs.  The offshore island zoning category is specifically identified as an 
eligible sender site.  The new proposed policy utilizes the tier designation to specify the sender 
site because this already accounts for both habitat types and zoning districts that were in the 
existing policy.  The new policy states only parcels designated Tier III can be receiver sites and 
they must have an adopted maximum net density standard, which would be based on their zoning 
category.  Ms. Schemper reviewed Policy 206.1.2, which prohibits development on offshore 
islands, and the definition of significant native upland habitat.  This item will be brought back to 
the DRC one more time. 
 
Julie Dick with Everglades Law Center, present on behalf of Florida Keys Environmental Fund 
and Last Stand, believes Policy 206.1.2 is redundant and is addressed somewhere else in the 
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comp plan.  Ms. Dick suggested eliminating the entire policy because any confusion resulting 
from this policy leaves the door open to misinterpretation.  Ms. Dick supports Policy 101.6.8 in 
making sure that offshore islands are not receiver sites. 
 
Bart Smith, Esquire, commented that generally he appreciates the revisions made to the 
obtaining and transferring of TDRs.  On behalf of FEB Corp. Mr. Smith stated most of the 
receiver site criteria in the staff report seems very logical.  Mr. Smith does not, however,  feel 
that the sixth criteria that blanketly prohibits offshore islands from being receiver sites is logical 
because there is not any data and analysis identifying the reasons why an offshore island cannot 
be a receiver site.  Mr. Smith feels that the definition of “significant native upland habitat” is a 
well-thought-out definition.  Mr. Smith stated everything in the proposed ordinance makes 
logical sense and is conforming except for the blanket prohibition of offshore islands. 
 
Naja Girard, speaking on behalf of Last Stand, addressed Mr. Smith’s comments by responding 
that one thing different about offshore islands is that shallow waters surround the offshore 
islands and include benthic resources that the comp plan directs the County to protect.  
Encouraging development on offshore islands would require the acceptance of all the boating 
traffic that would be created as a result of that development.  Ms. Girard agrees that Policy 
206.1.2 is redundant and changes the normal way offshore islands are designated Tier I, which 
could result in confusion on its interpretation.  Ms. Girard believes this weakens the protection of 
all offshore islands.  Ms. Girard also believes there is not accurate data on what actually exists on 
these islands. 
 
1.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY LAND USE DISTRICT 
(ZONING) MAP FROM INDUSTRIAL (I) AND COMMERCIAL FISHING AREA (CFA) TO 
MIXED USE (MU), FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT APPROXIMATE MILE MARKER 9, 
DESCRIBED AS A PARCEL OF LAND IN SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 67 SOUTH, RANGE 
26 EAST, BIG COPPITT KEY, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE 
NUMBER 00120940.000100, AND FROM INDUSTRIAL (I) TO COMMERCIAL 2 (C2) FOR 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT APPROXIMATE MILE MARKER 9, DESCRIBED AS FOUR 
PARCELS OF LAND IN SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 67 SOUTH, RANGE 26 EAST, 
ROCKLAND KEY, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBERS 
00122080.000000, 00122081.000200, 00122010.000000 AND 00121990.000000, AS 
PROPOSED BY ROCKLAND OPERATIONS, LLC AND ROCKLAND COMMERCIAL 
CENTER, INC.; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND 
PLANNING AGENCY AND THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR 
AMENDMENT TO THE LAND USE DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2012-069) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this item is a zoning 
amendment to accompany a FLUM amendment which has already been transmitted by the 
BOCC to DEO.  Staff has received the objections, recommendations and comments report on the 
FLUM amendment.  DEO’s objection was that it was increasing the potential residential 
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development and should be revised to allow other residential uses.  The original deadline for 
adopting that FLUM amendment was September 19, but staff has asked for an extension based 
on the applicant’s delay and the new deadline is March 15, 2016.  The current zoning 
amendment would be required to match the FLUM amendment.  The applicant is required to 
revise the total FLUM amendment to include a comp plan policy that would limit any residential 
development on the site to affordable housing only.  This affects only the northernmost L-shaped 
parcel on the map.  The southern parcels are proposed to become commercial with no residential 
density.  Today’s discussion concerns the zoning portion of the amendment.  The net change in 
development for the entire site will actually be a reduction in residential density.  The Big 
Coppitt portion of the site would have an increase in affordable residential, but the proposed 
comp plan policy will limit all residential development to affordable housing on that site.  Staff 
has found that any impact is not anticipated to have an adverse effect on community character.  
Staff has found no adverse effects for traffic circulation.  There is sufficient capacity for the 
public facilities for potential development under this zoning amendment.  Staff has found that the 
proposed amendment is consistent with the Monroe County comprehensive plan and the Land 
Development Code.  The proposed zoning map amendment is necessary to be consistent with the 
proposed FLUM amendment that the BOCC has already recommended and transmitted to the 
State.  Staff recommends approval of the proposed amendment.  This is contingent on the 
adoption of the FLUM amendment. 
 
Deb Curlee, resident of Cudjoe Key, asked what the Navy has to say about this amendment.  Ms. 
Schemper replied that the portion of affordable housing is actually in the noise zone at the 
greatest distance compared to the rest of the property.  Bart Smith, Esquire, agreed and added 
that the requirement to sound-attenuate to the level the Navy requests is specifically written in to 
the site-specific zoning.  
 
2.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
FROM RESIDENTIAL CONSERVATION (RC) TO RECREATION (R) AND 
CONSERVATION (C), FOR PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS A PARCEL OF LAND IN 
SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 59 SOUTH, RANGE 40 EAST, KEY LARGO, MONROE 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND ALSO BEING A PORTION OF TRACT A, HARBOR COURSE 
SOUTH, SECTION ONE, OCEAN REEF PLAT NO. 14 (PLAT BOOK 7, PAGE 9), KEY 
LARGO, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBER 
00573690.003900, AS PROPOSED BY OCEAN REEF CLUB INC.; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN THE MONROE 
COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND FOR AMENDMENT TO THE FUTURE LAND 
USE MAP; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-047) 
3.AN ORDINANCE BY THE MONROE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS AMENDING THE MONROE COUNTY LAND USE DISTRICT 
(ZONING) MAP FROM NATIVE AREA (NA) TO PARKS AND REFUGE (PR) AND 
CONSERVATION DISTRICT (CD), FOR PROPERTY DESCRIBED AS A PARCEL OF 
LAND IN SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 59 SOUTH, RANGE 40 EAST, KEY LARGO, 
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MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND ALSO BEING A PORTION OF TRACT A, HARBOR 
COURSE SOUTH, SECTION ONE, OCEAN REEF PLAT NO. 14 (PLAT BOOK 7, PAGE 9), 
KEY LARGO, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBER 
00573690.003900, AS PROPOSED BY OCEAN REEF CLUB INC.; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO THE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY AND 
THE SECRETARY OF STATE; PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENT TO THE LAND USE 
DISTRICT (ZONING) MAP; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
(File 2015-048) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff reports.  Ms. Schemper reported that these two amendments 
are FLUM and zoning amendments that coordinates with one another for a parcel within Ocean 
Reef proposed by Ocean Reef Club.  The site is 11 acres and currently has a FLUM designation 
of Residential Conservation with a zoning category of Native Area.  The property owners would 
like to develop a park on a portion of the site and are requesting to change the FLUM to 9.5 acres 
of Conservation and a little over 1.5 acres of Recreation for the FLUM and, corresponding to 
that, 9.5 acres of Conservation zoning and 1.5 acres of Park and Refuge zoning.  The density and 
intensity change for this amendment would be a decrease in both residential and non-residential 
density and intensity.  There is no adverse impact on community character and no additional 
impact foreseen for any of the public facilities.  Staff has found both proposed amendments 
would be consistent with the comp plan and the Land Development Code and is consistent with 
the principles for guiding development.  These amendments support Ocean Reef’s desire to 
increase some of the park and recreational space within the community based on an increase in 
the number of families with children currently in their community.  If the corresponding FLUM 
amendment is transmitted to the State and adopted, then the zoning plan would be required to 
remain consistent with the FLUM.  Staff is recommending approval of the FLUM amendment 
from Residential Conservation to Conservation and Recreation and staff is recommending 
approval of the zoning amendment from Native Area to Parks and Refuge and Conservation 
district.  The zoning recommendation would be contingent on the approval and effectiveness of 
the proposed FLUM amendment that corresponds with this.   
 
Joel Reid, the representative of the applicant, stated that Ocean Reef Club is always looking to 
enhance the community’s experience and meet their needs for the community members. 
 
Mitch Harvey, resident of Key Largo, asked whether Mr. Roberts had any concern with clearing 
of upland habitat of protected species of 1.71 acres for the sole purpose of providing a park for 
homeowners.  Mr. Roberts replied that the applicant is required to coordinate directly with U.S. 
Fish & Wildlife for the protection of these species.  The County’s clearing requirements would 
fall back to the original development orders for Ocean Reef Club because it is not dictated by the 
tier clearing limits in the code. 
 
 
4.PL OCEAN RESIDENCES, 97801 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY, KEY LARGO, MILE 
MARKER 98:  A PUBLIC MEETING CONCERNING A REQUEST FOR A MINOR 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.  THE REQUESTED APPROVAL IS REQUIRED FOR THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF A PROPOSED 24 ATTACHED DWELLING UNITS DESIGNATED AS 
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AFFORDABLE HOUSING, 28 DETACHED DWELLING UNITS OF MARKET RATE 
HOUSING, AND ASSOCIATED AMENITIES.  THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IS DESCRIBED 
AS PARCELS OF LAND LOCATED IN SECTIONS 5 AND 6, TOWNSHIP 62 SOUTH, 
RANGE 39 EAST, KEY LARGO, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL 
ESTATE NUMBERS 00090810.000000, 00090820.000000, 00090840.000000, 
00090840.000100, AND 00090860.000000. 
(File 2015-049) 
 
Ms. Schemper presented the staff report.  Ms. Schemper reported that this is a request for a 
minor conditional use permit which is required because the applicant is requesting to develop 24 
attached dwelling units.  Within the Urban Residential zoning category that use requires a minor 
conditional use permit.  The development is reviewed by staff as a whole for consistency sake.  
The total proposal is requesting 24 attached dwelling units as affordable housing and 28 detached 
dwelling units as market rate housing.  The site’s current characteristics and zoning were 
described.  The site has ROGO exemptions for 20 permanent dwelling units. 
 
Ms. Schemper then listed the categories where staff has found either compliance is still to be 
determined or the site was found not in compliance.  Compliance with the residential ROGO is 
to be determined because at the time of the building permit is when the applicant applies for their 
ROGO allocations.  An additional eight market rate ROGO allocations and 24 affordable 
housing ROGO allocations would be needed.  Permitted uses is listed as not in compliance 
because the attached residential dwelling units are permitted with the condition that sufficient 
common areas for recreation are provided to serve the number of dwelling units proposed to be 
developed.  Compliance is to be determined on residential density and maximum floor area 
because the site requires 7.6 transferred development rights which are done at the time of the 
building permit.  Compliance is to be determined on required open space because the 
calculations were not comparable of the upland area on the site plan.  Mr. Roberts noted that the 
indicated shoreline setbacks were either incorrect or not clearly depicted on the site plan.   
 
Ms. Schemper continued to report that most of the non-shoreline setbacks are in compliance at 
this point, but the setback lines shown on the site plan are not necessarily the correct lines in 
every situation.  The surface water management will be dealt with for full compliance at the time 
of permit application.  Mr. Roberts noted that there was conflicting information on the site plan 
regarding the depth to ground water.  Ms. Schemper continued to report that there are 
inconsistencies on the site plan regarding the height of the fencing and privacy wall.  The privacy 
wall shown on the site plan separates the site completely between the attached units and the 
detached units, which basically turns the parcel into two separate developments and they would 
each need to meet all of the land development regulations on their own.  Some sort of connection 
is needed between the two.  Compliance for flood plain, energy conservation and potable water 
is to be determined, as well as environmental design criteria and mitigation, at the building 
permit stage.  The required parking is also affected by the separation between the two types of 
units on the site plan.  The total number of parking spaces is sufficient if the site is viewed as a 
whole.  The required bufferyards are not in compliance because the site plan shows some 
incorrect bufferyards.  Mr. Roberts added that the property was rezoned from URM to UR and 
the URM boundary buffers are being shown.   
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Ms. Schemper continued to report that the square footage of the signage proposed has some 
issues and recommended that the signage be done separately as part of the fence permit at the 
time of the building permit.  The access is currently under review by the County’s traffic 
consultant.  The site plan shows the County standards on U.S.1, but also needs to comply with 
FDOT standards.  Compliance is to be determined on inclusionary housing at the time of the 
building permit because when the tenth permanent market rate unit gets its certificate of 
occupancy, a certificate of occupancy is required on at least three of the affordable housing units, 
and a proportional increase continues accordingly throughout the development.  Given all of 
those items, staff still recommends approval.  A list of 22 conditions required are listed in the 
staff report. 
 
Jorge Cepero, present on behalf of the applicant, clarified that there is still one structure, a 
gatehouse, in the front of the property that was not demolished. 
 
Robert Ginter, owner of an adjoining property, is concerned about the fencing and buffers to 
protect the neighborhood.  Ms. Schemper explained that there are quite a few buffers on the site 
plan.  There is an access off of First Street for a portion of the property.  Ms. Schemper will 
make the site plan available to Mr. Ginter at the end of today’s meeting. 
 
Mitch Harvey, resident of Key Largo, is concerned that this is the one time that the public has a 
chance to review this proposal and there are so many items still not deemed to be in compliance.  
Ms. Schemper explained that there is a 30-day notice that goes out that says the Planning 
Director intends to issue the minor conditional use permit, as well as a legal ad.  The Planning 
Director’s decision will not be made until these items are all fulfilled.  The revised proposal will 
be available through the Planning Department. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
The Development Review Committee meeting was adjourned at 2:32 p.m. 



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Palo Alto Keys 1 00573440-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.80
Palo Alto Keys 1 00091370-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 15.66
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573490-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.70
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573470-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.77
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573610-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.34
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573410-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.41
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573540-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573400-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.30
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573210-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573260-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.36
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.35
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573310-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.06
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Palo Alto Keys 1 00091470-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 8.28
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573450-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.94
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.28
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573350-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.56
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573360-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.32
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573290-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.41
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573250-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.55
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573570-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573190-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573560-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573430-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.70
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573580-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.54
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573530-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.33
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573230-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573500-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.60
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573480-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.77

creech-gail
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 4



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Palo Alto Keys 1 00573320-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.97



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Palo Alto Keys 1 00573460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.79
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573340-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.65
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573270-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573520-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.40
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573150-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.28
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573330-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.79
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573280-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.27
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573220-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573600-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.33
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573620-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.43
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573240-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.33
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573300-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.70
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573380-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Palo Alto Keys 1 00091350-000000 RC 0.25 1.91 OS 0.10 0.77 I 7.65 66.81
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573200-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.11
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573160-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573550-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573370-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Palo Alto Keys 1 00573510-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.42
Palo Alto Keys 1 00091410-000000 Undesignated OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.36
Palo Alto Keys 1 00091360-000000 RC 0.25 0.62 OS 0.10 0.25 I 2.49 19.01
Palo Alto Keys 1 00091300-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 7.57



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Palo Alto Keys 1 00091310-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 10.93

Pumpkin Key 2

00091210-000100
00091210-000200
00091210-000600
00091210-000300
00091210-000000
00091210-000700
00091210-001000
00091210-001400
00091210-001200
00091210-001500
00091210-000800
00091210-000500
00091210-000400
00091210-001600
00091210-001100
00091210-000900
00091210-001300

RM 1/lot 17 IS 1/lot 17 ORCA 24.18 25.05

3 00091240-000000 RM 1.00 0.71 OS 0.10 0.07 Undesignated 0.71 66.62
3 00091230-000000 RM 1.00 0.16 OS 0.10 0.02 Undesignated 0.16 7.19
4 00091630-000000 RM 1.00 4.06 OS 0.10 0.41 I 4.06 0.40
4 00091640-000000 RC 0.25 1.02 OS 0.10 0.41 I 4.06 141.82
5 00083840-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 7.60
5 00083800-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 154.32
5 00083810-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 26.43
5 00083860-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 14.36
6 00091710-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 11.35
6 00091720-000000 MC 6.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 20.65
7 00097090-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 30.18
7 00097110-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 19.32

Spoil Island - MM 73 8 00098100-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 3.43
9 00098940-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 7.90
9 00098950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 6.41

Tavernier Key

Card Sound Road

Main Key

Rattlesnake Key

Cotton and Wilson Keys

Channel Key



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Toms Harbor Keys 10 00098970-000000 RC 0.25 2.66 OS 0.10 1.07 I 10.65 49.40

Molasses Keys 11 00106200-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 6.38
Little Money Key 12 00106140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 1.55

Money Key 12 00106180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 1.10

Rachael Carlson Key 13 00105920-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 1.05

14 00107220-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 2.78

14 00317250-000100 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.77
15 00107950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 6.20
15 00107920-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 4.51
15 00107850-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 5.10
15 00112110-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 10.15
15 00107860-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 23.94
15 00107890-000000 RC 0.25 0.75 OS 0.10 0.30 I 2.99 13.63
16 00107910-000000 RC 0.25 1.08 OS 0.10 0.43 I 4.32 80.79
16 00107900-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 30.17
16 00114330-000000 RC 0.25 0.87 OS 0.10 0.35 I 3.48 15.49
16 00107870-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 22.27
16 00107830-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 4.78

Little Palm Island 16 & 18 00107880-000000 MC 6.00 25.20 DR 1.00 4.20 I 4.20 4.20
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000000 RC 0.25 0.05 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.19 0.29
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002700 RC 0.25 0.10 OS 0.10 0.04 I 0.38 0.90
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002600 RC 0.25 0.04 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.16 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000700 RC 0.25 0.06 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.23 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003100 RC 0.25 0.14 OS 0.10 0.05 I 0.54 0.69
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002400 RC 0.25 0.05 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.19 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001500 RC 0.25 0.05 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.21 0.34

Big Mangrove and Don Quixote 
Keys

Newfound Harbor Keys

Newfound Harbor Keys



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003303 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.76
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000500 RC 0.25 0.03 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.12 0.35
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001300 RC 0.25 0.08 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.31 0.43
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001900 RC 0.25 0.02 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.09 0.15
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001100 RC 0.25 0.08 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.33 0.55
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000300 RC 0.25 0.06 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.25 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001000 RC 0.25 0.07 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.26 0.40
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003300 RC 0.25 0.09 OS 0.10 0.04 I 0.35 0.68
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003306 RC 0.25 0.05 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.19 0.97
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003304 RC 0.25 0.06 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.22 0.46
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003000 RC 0.25 0.09 OS 0.10 0.04 I 0.36 0.90
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000200 RC 0.25 0.07 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.26 0.38
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001800 RC 0.25 0.05 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.19 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000600 RC 0.25 0.06 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.22 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002900 RC 0.25 0.04 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.17 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001400 RC 0.25 0.06 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.23 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002100 RC 0.25 0.04 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.14 0.34
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002701 RC 0.25 0.04 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.14 0.22
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003305 RC 0.25 0.04 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.16 0.36
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003307 RC 0.25 0.05 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.18 0.66
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000900 RC 0.25 0.23 OS 0.10 0.09 I 0.92 18.02
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002500 RC 0.25 0.25 OS 0.10 0.10 I 0.99 1.38
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003401 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.01 7.09
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003400 RC 0.25 0.01 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.03 7.07
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-003402 RC 0.25 0.13 OS 0.10 0.05 I 0.51 7.80
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001700 RC 0.25 0.02 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.08 0.17
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002200 RC 0.25 0.08 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.32 0.94
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002800 RC 0.25 0.15 OS 0.10 0.06 I 0.58 1.55
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-002000 RC 0.25 0.02 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.09 0.18
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-001600 RC 0.25 0.02 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.08 0.18
Cooks Island 15 & 17 00107930-000100 RC 0.25 0.02 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.07 0.18



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228810-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232630-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228010-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232670-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231700-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230430-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229150-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233100-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232260-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227650-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232070-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230290-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232610-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232790-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233780-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.10
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231300-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232010-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230580-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230690-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229280-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232320-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232560-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231360-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234110-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231940-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232380-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232440-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233850-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.30
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229750-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232660-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230100-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231840-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232280-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234080-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234120-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233060-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227120-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.10
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227000-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232080-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229990-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232800-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231660-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230400-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229120-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232210-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230550-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226620-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231760-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226920-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227160-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.06
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228980-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234160-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229600-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230120-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229540-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.30
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233900-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227630-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226660-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227410-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230380-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231410-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234060-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227980-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226850-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231820-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233890-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226880-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231690-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226860-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.34
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231810-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231870-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228500-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228480-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233790-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232430-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232160-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228190-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233770-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229530-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233410-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226730-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226900-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.37
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231520-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228600-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228560-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227260-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.06
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230280-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229550-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233740-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226800-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226790-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232820-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228690-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232530-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231630-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229820-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228650-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231280-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226720-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231680-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227670-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228050-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229100-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231980-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227370-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230190-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232980-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233930-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229030-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232410-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231540-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233080-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231610-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231580-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232540-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226680-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233120-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232220-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230480-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229860-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233870-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227300-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232520-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226930-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229740-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227210-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.10
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227640-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227240-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.05
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232930-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227400-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232500-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228030-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227380-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227250-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.07
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230540-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231830-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227010-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.11
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.09
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228910-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233880-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230000-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232840-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231650-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228550-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231470-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231480-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232910-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234240-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.28
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232030-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227680-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229110-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227320-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231330-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227990-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227350-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230220-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230350-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229870-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228470-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227360-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228090-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231770-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232550-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231930-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226840-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227220-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.03
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230560-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230710-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232370-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231490-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228990-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232620-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231780-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230260-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228530-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226760-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230440-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233860-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231270-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231600-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226700-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228630-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.44
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233830-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229880-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227620-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229610-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226600-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.09
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231750-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230340-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231350-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228490-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230090-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232000-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232870-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232200-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234100-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233760-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228750-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.27
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228880-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232780-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227610-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231260-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231560-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233820-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228610-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.27
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231710-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234070-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231900-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229980-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231800-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227060-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232150-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228900-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230050-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232340-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233190-000000 RC 0.25 0.04 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.14 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227290-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227190-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233050-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.01 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232510-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227270-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.04



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229770-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234270-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.07
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232920-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230330-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232990-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231850-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.44
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230310-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232760-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231400-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226750-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233430-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.26
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.06
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232060-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230570-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234090-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229630-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230720-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228680-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230300-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232810-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.05
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233910-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.11
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232600-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231340-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226980-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229160-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.27
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226830-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229620-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230530-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232740-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226820-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230060-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226940-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.09
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227340-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232310-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231620-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233920-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233730-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228160-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233200-000000 RC 0.25 0.04 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.14 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226690-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227280-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233110-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231670-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232880-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229760-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230070-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231740-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231720-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227110-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.09



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228830-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228660-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230450-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231430-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229010-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230200-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232690-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226990-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226780-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230370-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231310-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231510-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227310-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227230-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.03
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233990-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229560-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226770-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230080-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234150-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231550-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230110-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.09
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233720-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228200-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229270-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232640-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228940-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232470-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234250-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230250-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232860-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232330-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231370-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230360-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232830-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229850-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230210-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232090-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230410-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227330-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231730-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228740-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226710-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233010-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229050-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232490-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231570-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228510-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227090-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231380-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232270-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232240-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.06
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228720-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231790-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226870-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232710-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
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Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 
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Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 
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Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228760-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.63



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226610-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.04
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227600-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233090-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232290-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228890-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226650-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228150-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229670-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228520-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229930-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232400-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230490-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230320-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232450-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229290-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233000-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231880-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232730-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228840-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226740-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228710-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227150-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.06
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232350-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228000-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233840-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228120-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234050-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229640-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234000-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230230-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232580-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227080-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226630-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.03
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230030-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232680-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229890-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232190-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234230-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231500-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229730-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233070-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231290-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232250-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227200-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233810-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231320-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227100-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.09
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232360-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232900-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226640-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.26
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228730-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227070-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229060-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226890-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.49
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228580-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.27
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231440-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233980-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231890-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232890-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232750-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233940-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230470-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226810-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227830-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227750-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227730-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232850-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228220-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227780-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227760-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228300-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228380-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228360-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232050-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.26
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227770-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227480-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227850-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228400-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232700-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.24
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228800-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232300-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234220-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230670-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00234130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232230-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229000-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231530-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232940-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227030-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.10
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230700-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228540-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226670-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233800-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233380-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228620-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.31
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232770-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227660-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231910-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233750-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231920-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232720-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233400-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228570-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.22
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229580-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.27
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232480-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230240-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230270-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228210-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228640-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233030-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227810-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231450-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.30
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228340-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231250-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228320-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.28
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227820-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231640-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228410-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228290-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227430-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227860-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227720-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228330-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227510-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228430-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227470-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232120-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228350-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227440-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227840-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228440-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228310-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227500-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227490-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228370-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227870-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227710-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227700-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228280-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.18



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228450-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.25



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227580-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227450-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227690-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227520-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228820-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231390-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231990-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00230420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228670-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227050-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.16
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232570-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.23
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228700-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.20
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00228790-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.14
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00232650-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.12
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00226910-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.19
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00229570-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.21
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00231860-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.13
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00227740-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.17
Pieces of Eight Key 19 00233130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.15

20 00107630-000000 RC 0.25 1.14 OS 0.10 0.46 I 4.57 6.66
20 00107590-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 13.45
20 00107620-000000 RC 0.25 0.59 OS 0.10 0.24 I 2.36 3.46
20 00114460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 15.88
20 00114420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 11.83

Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000401 RC 0.25 0.41 OS 0.10 0.16 I 1.62 3.36
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000200 RC 0.25 0.40 OS 0.10 0.16 I 1.61 2.66
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107500-000108 RC 0.25 0.50 OS 0.10 0.20 I 1.99 3.94
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107500-000106 RC 0.25 0.38 OS 0.10 0.15 I 1.53 3.52
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114400-000200 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 6.11
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114400-000600 RC 0.25 1.21 OS 0.10 0.48 I 4.82 6.35

Summerland and Howell Keys



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107501-000104 RC 0.25 0.09 OS 0.10 0.04 I 0.35 0.95



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114400-000700 RC 0.25 0.55 OS 0.10 0.22 I 2.19 8.61
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000600 RC 0.25 0.17 OS 0.10 0.07 I 0.68 3.99
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107500-000101 RC 0.25 0.29 OS 0.10 0.12 I 1.15 7.48
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114400-000500 RC 0.25 0.17 OS 0.10 0.07 I 0.66 9.71
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114380-000100 RC 0.25 0.31 OS 0.10 0.13 I 1.25 2.98
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114400-000300 RC 0.25 0.63 OS 0.10 0.25 I 2.53 7.39
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107500-000102 RC 0.25 0.29 OS 0.10 0.11 I 1.14 4.64
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107500-000105 RC 0.25 0.33 OS 0.10 0.13 I 1.31 3.69
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107450-000000 RC 0.25 0.70 OS 0.10 0.28 I 2.80 10.31
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000700 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 7.79
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114390-000100 RC 0.25 0.80 OS 0.10 0.32 I 3.18 7.95
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000900 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 3.66
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114360-000000 RC 0.25 0.41 OS 0.10 0.16 I 1.62 18.98
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000000 RC 0.25 0.06 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.22 4.30
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114800-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 31.40
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114370-000100 RC 0.25 0.82 OS 0.10 0.33 I 3.29 10.56
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000100 RC 0.25 1.68 OS 0.10 0.67 I 6.72 8.25
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114370-000300 RC 0.25 0.33 OS 0.10 0.13 I 1.33 2.77
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107500-000103 RC 0.25 0.23 OS 0.10 0.09 I 0.90 4.05
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114370-000400 RC 0.25 0.15 OS 0.10 0.06 I 0.60 2.89
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114400-000100 RC 0.25 1.37 OS 0.10 0.55 I 5.47 12.10
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107500-000107 RC 0.25 0.50 OS 0.10 0.20 I 1.99 4.28
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114370-000000 RC 0.25 0.08 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.32 2.48
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114370-000200 RC 0.25 0.13 OS 0.10 0.05 I 0.53 2.72
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107460-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 0.92
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00107420-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.04
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000500 RC 0.25 0.08 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.31 8.72
Knock-Em-Down Keys 21 00114410-000400 RC 0.25 0.30 OS 0.10 0.12 I 1.21 3.38

22 00115200-000000 RC 0.25 0.20 OS 0.10 0.08 I 0.79 6.08
22 00115180-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 11.76

Gopher Key 23 00107780-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 7.87
Crab Key



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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24 00107290-000100 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.40
24 00107290-000200 RC 0.25 0.05 OS 0.10 0.02 I 0.18 2.60
24 00107290-000901 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 2.63
24 00107290-000501 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.33
24 00107290-001000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.08
24 00107290-000300 RC 0.25 0.07 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.28 2.49
24 00107290-000000 RC 0.25 0.03 OS 0.10 0.01 I 0.13 1.26
24 00107290-000900 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.27
24 00107290-000800 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.40
24 00107310-000100 RC 0.25 0.28 OS 0.10 0.11 I 1.10 1.39
24 00107310-000100 RC 0.25 0.28 OS 0.10 0.11 I 1.10 1.28
24 00107310-000100 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.11 I 1.10 0.47

Buttonwood Key 25 00116780-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 Undesignated 0.00 0.21
26 00120040-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 8.00
26 00119970-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.50
26 00119920-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 4.85
26 00119960-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 9.28
26 00119950-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 7.54
26 00120020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 11.73
26 00119910-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 2.45
26 00120010-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 5.85

Half Moon Key 27 00117100-000000 RC 0.25 0.08 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.32 8.42
Half Moon Key 27 00117020-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 63.28
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-001300 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 2.95
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000500 RC 0.25 0.08 OS 0.10 0.03 I 0.33 4.21
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-001000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 6.30
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-001200 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 5.42
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000300 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 2.60
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000700 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 4.24
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000701 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 2.92
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000400 RC 0.25 0.10 OS 0.10 0.04 I 0.38 4.66

Saddlebunch Keys

Budd Keys



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.

Map Name
Map 
Page

RE Number FLUM
FLUM Residential 
Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Zoning

Zoning 
Residential 

Allocated Density

Approx. Residential 
Development 

Potential 
Tier

Estimated Upland 
Acres Based on GIS 

Data 

Estimated Total 
Acres

Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000201 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 1.39



NOTE, acreage provided is an estimate.  A property owner may submit a sealed boundary survey which shows mean high water lines in accordance with Florida Statutes and specifically provides the numeric amount of land situated above mean high 
water.
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Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000100 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 2.86
Half Moon Key 27 00117090-000900 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 5.67
Half Moon Key 27 00117080-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 10.43

28 00117140-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 24.37
28 00117150-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 8.85
28 00117170-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 20.18
28 00117190-000000 RC 0.25 0.51 OS 0.10 0.20 I 2.03 129.94
28 00122130-000000 RC 0.25 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 5.23

Mallory Key 29 00116560-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 37.71
30 00116300-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 26.54
30 00116290-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 7.79

Mudd Keys 31 00116500-000000 C 0.00 0.00 OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 16.26
West Harbor Key 32 00116200-000000 Undesignated OS 0.10 0.00 I 0.00 50.17
Wisteria Island 33 00123950-000000 Undesignated OS 0.10 1.87 Undesignated 18.70 39.03

Ballast Key 34 00124030-000000 Undesignated OS 0.10 1.31 Undesignated 13.10 14.28
approximation for 

Ballast Key
Density  or allocated density  means the number of dwelling units or rooms allocated per gross acre of land by the plan.
Gross acre  means the total area of a site excluding submerged lands, tidally inundated mangroves, not to exceed mean high tide, and any publicly dedicated rights-of-way.

Similar Sound

Marvin Keys
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